
Incline Village General Improvement District
Incline Village General Improvement District is a fiscally responsible community partner which provides superior utility services and community-oriented 

recreation programs and facilities with passion for the quality of life and our environment while investing in the Tahoe basin.
893 Southwood Boulevard, Incline Village, Nevada 89451  (775) 832-1100  EMAIL: info@ivgid.org

www.yourtahoeplace.com

The Regular Meeting of the Incline Village General Improvement District (IVGID) Board of Trustees will be held Starting at 4:00 PM 
on January 29, 2025 in the Boardroom, 893 Southwood Boulevard, Incline Village, Nevada.

Public Comment
Public comment is welcomed during Public Comment Periods and is Limited to 3 minutes per person per Public Comment Period. 
Unused time may not be allocated to other speakers. A speaker’s viewpoint will not be restricted; however, reasonable restrictions 
may be imposed upon the time, place, and manner of speech. Irrelevant statements, unduly repetitious statements, and personal attacks 
that would objectively antagonize or incite others are examples of speech that may be reasonably limited. Not to include comments on 
General Business items with scheduled public comment. The Board of Trustees may address matters brought up during public 
comment at the conclusion of the comment period but may not deliberate on any non-agendized item. 

Members of the Public are welcome to provide Public Comment by Telephone at (877) 853-5247 and in the Civic Plus Portal at 
https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/event/549/overview (the Webinar ID will be Posted to the District Website on the Day of the 
Meeting). The Meeting will be Available for viewing at https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/.

 
A. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE*   

  

B. ROLL CALL OF TRUSTEES*   

  

C. INITIAL PUBLIC COMMENTS - Limited to a maximum of three minutes in duration. 
  

  

D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA (for possible action) 
The Board of Trustees may make a motion for a flexible agenda which is defined as taking items on the agenda out of order; combining agenda items with 
other agenda items; removing items from the agenda; moving agenda items to an agenda of another meeting, or voting on items in a block. 
-OR- The Board of Trustees may make a motion to accept and follow the agenda as submitted/posted.  

  

E. REPORTS TO THE BOARD - Reports are intended to inform the Board and/or the public.   
  

  
1. SUBJECT: Verbal Update of the Fiscal Year 2024/2025 Audit (for discussion only, no action). 

(Requesting Staff Member: Director of Finance Jessica O'Connell)

   

F. CONSENT CALENDAR (for possible action)   
  

  
1. SUBJECT: Approval of the IVGID Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes for January 8, 2025 (for 

possible action). (Requesting Staff Member: District Clerk Heidi White) – pages 4 to 122

   

G. GENERAL BUSINESS (for possible action)    
  

  
1. SUBJECT: Review, Discuss and Possibly Approve the Employment Contract with Robert W. Harrison 

to Serve as District General Manager (for possible action). (Requesting Staff Member: Director of 
Human Resources Erin Feore) – pages 123 to 137

NOTICE OF MEETING

Page 1 of 209

mailto:info@ivgid.org
https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/event/549/overview
https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/


Agenda for the Board Meeting of January 29, 2025 - Page 2

Incline Village General Improvement District
Incline Village General Improvement District is a fiscally responsible community partner which provides superior utility services and community-oriented 

recreation programs and facilities with passion for the quality of life and our environment while investing in the Tahoe basin.
893 Southwood Boulevard, Incline Village, Nevada 89451  (775) 832-1100  EMAIL: info@ivgid.org

www.yourtahoeplace.com

NOTICE OF MEETING

Recommendation for Action: The Board of Trustees make a Motion to Approve the Employment 
Agreement with Robert W. Harrison to Serve as District General Manager.

  

  

2. SUBJECT: Review, Discuss and Possibly Approve the Request for Qualifications document for a 
Needs Assessment including Diamond Peak's Snowflake Lodge facility (for possible action). 
(Requesting Staff Member: (Acting General Manager and General Manager of Diamond Peak Ski 
Resort Mike Bandelin) – pages 138 to 152

Recommendation for Action: That the Board of Trustees make a Motion to Approve the Request for 
Qualifications document to perform a Needs Assessment for the Districts Snowflake Lodge Facility 
Replacement Project .

  

  

3. SUBJECT: Open Discussion and Possible Direction on Proceeding with (a) a Request for 
Qualifications for District General Counsel Services and/or (b) Proceed with a Professional Recruitment 
of a District General Counsel (in house) (for possible action). (Requesting Staff Member: Acting 
General Manager Mike Bandelin and Director of Administrative Services Susan Herron) 
– pages 153 to 171

Recommendation for Action: That the Board of Trustees makes a Motion to proceed with a Professional 
Recruitment for an in-house District General Counsel.

  

  

4. SUBJECT: Open Discussion and Possible Direction on the Incline Beach House and Access Projects 
(for possible action). (Requesting Staff Member: Director of Public Works Kate Nelson)
 – pages 172 to  174

  

  

5. SUBJECT: Capital Improvement Project Workshop; for Discussion and Possible Direction (for 
possible action). (Requesting Staff Member: Acting General Manager Mike Bandelin and Director of 
Public Works Kate Nelson) – pages 175 to 204

H. LONG RANGE CALENDAR    
  

  
1. SUBJECT: Discussion and Direction on Long Range Calendar (for possible action).

 – pages 205 to 209
   

I. BOARD OF TRUSTEES UPDATE   

  

J. FINAL PUBLIC COMMENTS - Limited to a maximum of three minutes in duration.  
 

  

K. ADJOURNMENT   
  

Page 2 of 209

mailto:info@ivgid.org


Agenda for the Board Meeting of January 29, 2025 - Page 3

Incline Village General Improvement District
Incline Village General Improvement District is a fiscally responsible community partner which provides superior utility services and community-oriented 

recreation programs and facilities with passion for the quality of life and our environment while investing in the Tahoe basin.
893 Southwood Boulevard, Incline Village, Nevada 89451  (775) 832-1100  EMAIL: info@ivgid.org

www.yourtahoeplace.com

NOTICE OF MEETING

CERTIFICATION OF POSTING OF THIS AGENDA
I hereby certify that on or before 9:00 AM on Friday, January 24, 2025, a copy of this agenda (IVGID Board of Trustees Session of January 29, 2025) was delivered to 
the post office addressed to the people who have requested to receive copies of IVGID’s agendas; copies were e-mailed to those people who have requested; and a copy 
was posted, physically or electronically, at the following locations in accordance with Assembly Bill 213:

1. IVGID Anne Vorderbruggen Building (893 Southwood Boulevard, Incline Village, Nevada; Administrative Offices)
2. IVGID’s website (www.yourtahoeplace.com/ivgid/board-of-trustees/meetings-and-agendas)
3. IIVGID's CivicPlus Portal (https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/)
4. State of Nevada public noticing website (https://notice.nv.gov/)
5. IVGID's Recreation Center (980 Incline Way, Incline Village, Nevada)

Persons may request copies of all agenda Materials by contacting the District Clerk or by visiting the Administrative Offices at the address listed above.
/s/ Heidi H. White 
Heidi H. White 
District Clerk (e-mail: hhw@ivgid.org/phone # 775-832-1268)

IVGID Board of Trustees: Chair Michaela Tonking, Vice-Chair Michelle Jezycki, Treasurer Mick Homan, Secretary Dave Noble, and Trustee Raymond Tulloch
Notes: Items on the agenda may be taken out of order; combined with other items; removed from the agenda; moved to the agenda of another meeting; moved to or 
from the Consent Calendar section; or may be voted on in a block. Items with a specific time designation will not be heard prior to the stated time, but may be heard 
later. Those items followed by an asterisk (*) are items on the agenda upon which the Board of Trustees will take no action. Members of the public who are disabled 
and require special accommodations or assistance at the meeting are requested to call IVGID at 832-1100 at least 24 hours prior to the meeting. IVGID'S agenda 
packets are available at IVGID's website, www.yourtahoeplace.com; go to "Board Meetings and Agendas”.

Page 3 of 209

mailto:info@ivgid.org
https://www.yourtahoeplace.com/ivgid/board-of-trustees/meetings-and-agendas
https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/
https://notice.nv.gov/


   INCLINE VILLAGE  
GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

TRANSCRIPT OF HEARING  
PUBLIC MEETING 

Live and Via Zoom 

Held at the Boardroom  
893 Southwood Boulevard 
Incline Village, Nevada 

Wednesday, January 8, 2025 

Reported by:  Brandi Ann Vianney Smith 
Job Number:   IVGID 60  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 2
A P P E A R A N C E S 

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT 
MICHAELA TONKING, CHAIR 

MICHELLE JEZYCKI, VICE CHAIR 
DAVID NOBLE, SECRETARY 
MICK HOMAN, TREASURER 
RAY TULLOCH, MEMBER 

ALSO PRESENT 
SERGIO RUDIN, LEGAL COUNSEL 
HEIDI WHITE, DISTRICT CLERK 

-o0o-

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 3
I N D E X

PAGE

A. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 4

B. ROLL CALL OF TRUSTEES 4

C. INITIAL PUBLIC COMMENTS 5

D. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 23

E. GENERAL BUSINESS (Part 1)
E 1.  Election of BOT Officers 23

F. REPORTS TO THE BOARD
F 1.  GM's Monthly Status Report 24

G. CONSENT CALENDAR 45
G 1.  Meeting Minutes, 11/27/2024
G 2.  Meeting Minutes, 12/11/2024

H. GENERAL BUSINESS
H 1.  Trustee Appointment to AC 46
H 2.  BOT Liaison Assignments 47
H 3.  GAC, CIC Appointments; Consider

Elimination of Committees 54
H 4.  Long Range Calendar Discussion 60
H 5.  AC Chairman Report 82

I. REDACTIONS FOR PENDING PUBLIC RECORDS
REQUESTS 91

J. BOARD OF TRUSTEES UPDATE 91

K. FINAL PUBLIC COMMENTS 93

L. ADJOURNMENT 96

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

 4
Incline Village, Nevada - 1/8/2025 - 6:00 P.M. 

-o0o-

CHAIR TULLOCH:  It's just turned six
o'clock.  Good evening, everyone.  Welcome to the
regular meeting of the Incline Village General
Improvement District for the 8th of January, 2025.
We'll start with the Pledge of Allegiance.
A. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

(Pledge of Allegiance.)
CHAIR TULLOCH:  Moving on to the roll call

of trustees.
B. ROLL CALL OF TRUSTEES

CHAIR TULLOCH:  Mr. Homan?
TRUSTEE HOMAN:  Here.
CHAIR TULLOCH:  Mr. Noble?
TRUSTEE NOBLE:  Here.
CHAIR TULLOCH:  Ms. Jezycki?
TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  Here.
CHAIR TULLOCH:  Ms. Tonking?
TRUSTEE TONKING:  Here.
CHAIR TULLOCH:  And myself, Trustee

Tulloch, I'm the chair.  We'll move on to initial
public comments.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Item F.1. 

Page 4 of 209



   5
C.  INITIAL PUBLIC COMMENTS   

MS. SILK:  I normally don't come to these
meetings, but I'm here because the circumstances
under which Sara Schmitz is leaving concerns me.  I
don't know her well.  I've seen her speak in public
several times over the years.  But she has had to
call law enforcement and now she sold her house and
she's leaving town.

Now, why is this a problem?  This is a
problem because something has gone wrong in our
community where someone who has served for five
years feels that they need to leave, and I'm really
worried about it.  I'm worried that it is the
beginning of something, a very bad direction that
the Board is going to be taking, and I don't want it
to happen.  That's why I'm speaking up.  

If qualified and talented people feel that
their reputations are on the line and that they are
going to get dragged through the mud because they've
done or said things that other board members don't
agree with or other people -- I don't even mean the
board members because I'm not implicating any of
you, I'm talking about other people in the community
who put her through a lot, according to what she
said.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

   6
I'm worried that talented, qualified

people are not going to want to serve on the Board
like you guys are.  And I have no reason to doubt
that you guys are talented and qualified, I know
that, and I want to keep that good pipeline of
quality people coming through.  

What I don't want to have happen is for
people to be serving on the Board who are so afraid
of being harassed, intimidated, and threatened that
they're not going to want to serve on the Board, and
that's going to be a shame because we have a lot of
talented people in this community who have a lot to
contribute.

So what I'm asking the IVGID Board to do
is to acknowledge that there are -- had been some
things that had happened that should not have
happened.  I know things got contentious with
recall.  I am not questioning recall, whether it
should be done, I realize that there is a -- it's a
procedure, it's legal, it's allowed according to the
bylaws, that's fine.  But there were -- there were
-- there was a crossing of line and the violation of
boundaries such that a board member feels that they
need to sell their house and move out of this very
beautiful community because they no longer feel

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

   7
welcome here.  

I'm not her lawyer, I'm not here to debate
the really fine tuning, I'm just looking at the
bigger picture and telling you that there's a
credibility issue at stake with regard to IVGID and
with regard to the type of community that we all
want to live in.

So what I'm asking the Board to do is to
acknowledge that this has happened, the truth,
whatever the truth is, and make a statement that
this is not acceptable for someone to feel that they
need to leave because of harassment, intimidation,
and threats.  And I hope that whoever was behind all
of that, and I don't know who it is, would make
amends to Sara Schmitz and apologize for what's
happened because I do feel that a boundary has been
crossed.

Thank you.
MR. EPPOLITO:  My name is John Eppolito.  
First, I'd like to congratulate the two

new board members.  Thank you.  Hope -- I'm glad I'm
on this side of the table and not on that side of
the table.  And I've said that before, but since you
guys are new, you might have never heard it.  So
thank you for volunteering.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

   8
I wanted to talk briefly about the Washoe

County public workshops on the Tahoe area plan.  I
went to the first one.  There's two scheduled for
January.  I went to the first one on Monday at the
old library, and it was quite interesting because
there was probably about a dozen of us there, and
the county didn't seem as gung-ho on the TRPA area
plan as TRPA is.  The county sure made it sound like
they just have to do what TRPA tells them to a
certain extent.  

One of the reasons I'm bringing this up
here -- I know it's not directly in your scope,
maybe indirectly -- is because at the meeting, the
county promised -- TRPA was not at the first
meeting, but the county promised they would invite
TRPA to the second meeting because one of the big
concerns that people had and now it's very timely
because of the fires in Southern California, I don't
think we've ever seen a comprehensive fire
evacuation plan, and I tend to, personally, believe
the people that are volunteering and taking their
own time, energy, effort, not making money, not
doing what other people may be telling them to do,
and I don't think it's quite as rosy as people say
as far as us getting out of here.  The last thing I

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 5 of 209



   9
saw was 14 hours to evacuate the basin, and it
doesn't even seem like TRPA cares about that
anymore.

TRPA -- as a real estate broker, TRPA used
to just be a pain in the ass if somebody wanted to
build a deck on their house, and that's what I deal
with in real estate.  I've been doing this 27 years,
the first 17 or so years, I would say, oh, this
basin's never going to be overdeveloped because of
TRPA, but that's changed.  TRPA has lost their way.
Now it's all about, like in Incline, 65-foot
buildings and no -- hundred percent coverage on the
lots, and some of these wouldn't even have parking.  

So it's just very frustrating.  I think
the reason I'm here is I want people to know on
January 14th, at three o'clock, at Raley's is the
next county meeting on the Tahoe area plan update or
update, however you say it, and I am hoping that you
guys will come, will get involved.  I think -- well,
I don't know for sure, but that room is kind of
small so I don't know if it's going to be enough.  

Here's some information from North Tahoe
Preservation Alliance.  There's one for everybody.

CHAIR TULLOCH:  Maybe TRPA will expand the
meeting room as well.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  10
MR. EPPOLITO:  Maybe they'll do that.

They'll raise it up to 65 feet.
MEMBER SWENSON:  Good evening.  I'm Harry

Swenson.  I live on lower Tyner.  
I want to congratulate our new trustees on

their impressive selection as a trustee for Incline
Village and the Crystal Bay community.  I know you
all worked very hard to garner your votes you
received.  I wish you the best of success in these
difficult times for our community.  I want to let
you know I am hoping that you can all work together
for the betterment of our community and encouraging
the many views of our community be heard and
considered.  

Now that you're fully established, I wish
to remind you of your responsibilities as a trustee
under the Nevada Revised Statutes, especially the
all-important statute of open meetings.  This
statute ensures that all policy views and decisions
are made in an open forum for the protection of the
electorate.  

I am disappointed that last month one of
the trustees gathered the media to provide views of
not only herself, but the majority of the new board.
I am assuming that these views that were expressed

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  11
about our new general manager were discussed in a
private meeting, and it is clear violation of Open
Meeting statute.  

I am also concerned about the apparent
violation of the Trustee Code of Conduct regarding
the same interview when she expressed her views and
other board members of their displeasure of the vote
taken regarding the new general manager.  I believe
the code of conduct forbids trustees from commenting
on a vote of the Board once it has been made.  This
does not bode well for the start of your new
positions.  

With the State of Nevada currently looking
into the violations of IVGID's financial
responsibilities, I would hate for your tenure to
begin with the Nevada Attorney General to be looking
into the violations of Nevada's Open Meeting
statutes.  With all the challenges facing our
community, I really don't need -- I really don't
think we need multiple state investigations peering
into our community.  

I wish you the best of luck and hope you
will avail yourselves of the training in both the
Nevada statutes and your trustee policies to avoid
these problems in the future.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  12
MS. MILLER:  Good evening, trustees.

Happy new year, welcome, and I hope we'll have a
very productive year to come.

One of things I wanted to comment on was
the General Manager's report.  In particular, I was
quite pleased to see that one of the reports on an
activity at the Rec Center showed not just a
feel-good type of report, but it gave a breakdown of
the costs of a proposed program, and then it gave
the actual results of that program.  And this is the
kind of -- I worked in government for a number of
years, and this is the kind of thing that when we
prepared a budget we were required to do, to give
the costs of whatever materials were needed, the
employee costs, and then an estimate, at least, of
revenues.  Then those were compared at the year to
what actually happened.  We've never had -- we were
supposed to get a zero-based budget last year, and
that was just -- that was a joke, it never happened.

So I hope that's one of the things that
you'll be able to incorporate into the planning for
this year's budget.  It looked like it might have
been -- and I would hope -- a standard form that
when you're preparing your budget, that this is what
you fill out, maybe on the more global scale, maybe

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 6 of 209



  13
not down to every little program, but at least, you
know, starting with the basics.

The other thing I wanted to mention was I
see that the expansion over at the high school is
very near completion, and I'm aware of an agreement
with the school district to have -- I think it's
called a "joint use agreement," or "shared-use
agreement," where we, for decades, have provided our
facilities for the school district, and I believe
it's at no charge.  I can see some of the new
facilities over at the high school would be very,
very useful as for public recreation programs.  

In particular, they have a new dance
studio.  I assume it has a floor that is capable of
things like tap dancing.  Anyway, I know you know
that's a little thing that I've seen in other
communities.  I think it would be great here.  Not
just tap, how about ballet, jazz, whatever, things
that we can't do now because we don't have a room
that's really adequate.  

The other thing, of course, the kitchen
facility.  We've tried to have cooking classes.  I
know other groups in the community have had cooking
classes, but we don't really have a place for that.
I'm hoping this time our joint use can be bilateral.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  14
Thank you.
MR. KATZ:  Good evening.  Aaron Katz,

Incline Village.  I have several written statements
to be attached to the minutes of the meeting.  

First of all, congratulations to the
three new trustees.  You're each now charged with
being the public's fiduciaries, not just your
favorite members of the public's fiduciaries, all of
us.  And if you're not prepared or willing to
champion all of our interests, you never should have
chosen to run for office.  I'm not suggesting that's
what was taking place, just making a comment.  

I've heard others in our community argue
the new board needs to return to our roots,
according to them, to enforce the responsibilities
of our original charter mandated: water, sewer,
trash, and recreation.  

But our original charter did not so
declare it.  As you know, because I've shared the
evidence with each of you, IVGID was granted the
basic power of public recreation in November of 1965
on a three-to-two vote, four years after IVGID was
created.  

The grant was made based upon Harold
Tiller's representations such as future boards would

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  15
not acquire, operate, finance any recreational
facilities other than public parks and the beaches.
The beaches would be paid for with a bond, not a rec
fee.  We were going to pay one and a quarter million
for the beaches, not 2.1 million we ended up paying.
The bond would be repaid by IVGID's ad valorem
taxes.  Future access to the beach would be
guaranteed to all IVGID property owners.  I
emphasize, not all Incline property owners, all
IVGID property owners.  These representations turned
out to be false.  

In other words, all the recreation we have
today is the product of what we call "fraud and
inducement," right, Mr. Noble?  

The remedy for fraud and the inducement is
rescission.  Thus, rather than preparing and
perpetrating this fraud by issuing $70 million or
more of bonds and paying for them by triple our rec
fee, which I hope doesn't happen, the remedy
becomes: divest.  This is what our forefathers
promised.  It's time for this board to deliver.

Thank you.
MR. MILLER:  Good afternoon.  It's been a

while since I've been present.  I've called in a
number of times over the years.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  16
I just want to say welcome to the new

board members.  I looked into your backgrounds, very
impressive.  I think definitely good additions to
the team and I think it will serve the community
well.  I want to thank Michaela for running again,
thanks for coming back.  It takes a long time to
learn IVGID process, so the investment that you put
in, I appreciate.  I think it will do us a lot of
good.

For my background, I'm currently the
Olympic Valley PSD general manager.  I was the
district engineer at Tahoe City, and previously
engineer and manager here for a few years.  I've
lived here for ten years now, Tahoe basin for about
25.  Just really wanted to come today and say I'm
excited about the future here.  

Moving forward, I think this is a good
team.  We've got a lot to accomplish.  I just think
that you're all going to work together real well,
and I'm positive about the future of IVGID.  

Finally, I just want to say the Incline
Beach House, kind of near and dear to me, I worked
on the early stages of it and it got real close, and
then kind of stopped.  If you have community members
that are going to participate in that project, I'd

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 7 of 209



  17
like to be involved in that.  

Thank you and appreciate you guys running
and being part of the team.

MS. GRIGNON:  Good evening.  My name is
Blanc Grignon.

My understanding is that there was money
set aside for IVGID around 2007 for an ice skating
rink.  And I just wanted to ask what the status was
on that and if that rumor is even true.  I'm also
here to express strong support for the development
of an ice rink in Incline Village.

Our community prides itself on being
active, family-friendly destination for year-round,
outdoor recreation opportunities.  And I believe
that adding an ice rink would fill a critical gap by
offering both locals and visitors a safe, healthy,
and inclusive space for winter activities.  

An ice rink would serve as a hub for all
ages from young children learning to skate to teens
participating in hockey leagues and families seeking
affordable, fun activities during winter months.  It
would also provide opportunities for figure skating
programs, curling, and even seasonal events like
holiday skating nights.  This would greatly enrich
our community's social fabric, creating more

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  18
opportunities to connect, especially during the
winter months when many activities are centered
around higher-impact activities like skiing and
snowboarding.  

Financially, I believe an ice rink could
contribute to our local economy by increasing
tourism during winter, benefiting local businesses,
and creating job opportunities.  Surrounding
communities like Truckee, Tahoe City, and South Lake
Tahoe has had successfully built and maintained ice
rinks that have become essential community assets.
I don't know if any of you have ever been to the
Tahoe City community ice rink, but it's a beautiful
little community.

In addition to recreation, an ice rink
would promote health and wellness, provide a safe
place for exercise and social engagement,
particularly for our youth and seniors, and it would
offer a unique amenity that aligns with our
community's commitment to enhancing quality of life
and attracting families.  

I urge the Board to prioritize the
development of an ice rink as an investment in our
community's future.  

Thank you for your time and consideration.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  19
CHAIR TULLOCH:  Do we have any callers on

the phone?  
MR. BELOTE:  We do.
MR. ABEL:  Good evening, trustees.  My

name is Michael Abel.  
It's just my opinion, the last four years

IVGID has not had a manager capable of managing the
organization.  I welcome Mr. Walrack to his
position, wish him the best, despite the ill will
directed at him by some members of our new board.
IVGID's problems are numerous, and the traditional
IVGID model of throwing money at less-than-stellar
employees does not seem to resolve their issues.
The newly constituted board should give him at least
a year to hire and train new staff members that will
do their jobs properly.  

I would also encourage the trustees and GM
to straighten out the books and computer systems.  

You new trustees and Mr. Walrack have seen
and heard from Mr. Katz on many issues, especially
the lack of competent staff.  You've heard from
Mr. Dobler on the myriad of accounting issues.
Ignore these fellow citizens are your peril.

In an email to the board previously, I
said, "Outsource, outsource, outsource."  Almost all

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  20
public entities outsource golf and restaurant
management.  Maybe keep the ski hill under IVGID as
presently Mike Bandelin does a good job managing our
ski hill.

Our facilities are in sad shape.  An aging
Rec Center, an ill-tended Village Green, ancient
beach restrooms, giant fire hazards on the Mountain
Golf Course, run down Snowflake Lodge, and the
ancient ski lifts.  Outsourcing would get the GM and
the Board the bandwidth and time to fix the neglect
of the last ten years.  Nevertheless, the public
comments by our new board indicate a commitment to
doing the same thing that IVGID has always done.

As you know or should know, the very
definition of insanity is doing the same thing over
and over yet expected different results.  

Thank you, ladies and gentlemen, and have
a good evening.

MS. KNAAK:  Yeah, Yolanda Knaak.  
First of all, I'd like to congratulate the

new board members.  Second, I'd like to respond to
John Eppolito's comments.  

Yes -- well, I will be at the next Washoe
County meeting on the 14th.  And, yes, evacuation
plan has not been updated.  It doesn't include

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 8 of 209



  21
visitors, and it will take at least 14 hours for
Incline to evacuate.

I'd like to thank Kent Walrack for his
excellent report.  And I hope that the Board gives
him a chance.  It seems like he's going to do a
great job, and I appreciate that.  

Thank you so much.
MR. DOBLER:  Cliff Dobler here, 995

Fairway.
As we all know, the '22/'23 audit was

never completed.  Consequently, the auditor, Davis
Farr, issued a disclaimer and no opinion was
provided.  

On September 18th, 2024, the Department of
Taxation informed IVGID that the audit did not meet
the requirements of NRS 354.634(4).  This statute
explicitly requires an annual financial audit
conducted according to generally accepted auditing
standards, including findings of compliance with
statutes and an opinion of the financial statements.
The statute clearly mandates that an audit must be
completed with an opinion expressed to comply.  

At some point, a clerk from the Department
of Taxation emailed IVGID staff claiming the
2022/'23 financial statements didn't require an

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  22
audit's opinion and further action under the
statute.

In my view, the Department of Taxation
lacks authority to override the Nevada Revised
Statue.  The clerk's email was likely an error.  If
not, there should be documentation providing the
department's authority to override statute.

Due to this email, IVGID staff made no
effort to complete the audit or obtain an opinion.
This seems to be a misunderstanding.  IVGID has an
outside attorney, and the NRS audit requirements is
law.  The email implications should have been
investigated.

Tomorrow I will address the subcommittee
of the Committee on Local Government Finance to seek
clarification.  If statutes can be ignored, rules
mean nothing.  

Now, on two other matters.  For 2023/'24,
1,230,000 was transferred from the general fund to
the internal services fund.  The amounts were
recorded as an asset and a liability on each fund.
As such, loans were made and no gifts or refundable
funds -- or non-refundable funds were made.  The
loans required board action under NRS 354.611(a) to
make the loans.  This was not done.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  23
As expected, 1,853,000 of pipeline and air

pressure relief valves installed four years ago have
been abandoned and the capital costs need to be
charged off as expenses.  

That's all I have for tonight.  Good luck
to you all.  You got a lot of work ahead of you.
The financial statements are in worse shape than
people would love you to believe.  

Thank you very much.  Bye.
MR. BELOTE:  That's the last caller in the

queue.
CHAIR TULLOCH:  Let's move on.  The next

order of business, approval of the agenda.
D.  APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

CHAIR TULLOCH:  Any requests for changes
on the agenda?  

No requests.  In that case, moving on to
general business E 1.
E.  GENERAL BUSINESS (Part 1) 

E 1.  Election of Board of Trustees Officers 
CHAIR TULLOCH:  Election of the Board of

Trustees officers for the 2025 term.  Requesting
staff member, District Clerk Heidi White.

Do we have some nominations?
TRUSTEE NOBLE:  I would like to nominate a

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  24
slate of officers.  Michaela as Chair, Michelle as
Vice Chair, Mick as Treasurer, and me as Secretary.

CHAIR TULLOCH:  Thank you.
We have a motion, a proposal, do we have a

second there?
TRUSTEE TONKING:  Second.
CHAIR TULLOCH:  Any other proposals?
In that case, we'll move to a vote.  All

those in favor?
TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  Aye.
TRUSTEE TONKING:  Aye.
TRUSTEE NOBLE:  Aye.
TRUSTEE HOMAN:  Aye.
CHAIR TULLOCH:  I will abstain.  Thank

you.  The motion is carried, four to zero.
Congratulations to the new officers.

Moving on to item F 1.  
F.  REPORTS TO THE BOARD 

F 1.  GM's Monthly Status Report.   
CHAIR TULLOCH:  Requesting staff member,

District General Manager Ken Walrack.
MR. WALRACK:  Thank you.  Congratulations,

Chair Tonking.  That's the first time we got to say
that.  That has a nice ring to it.  

I would also like to welcome our new Board

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 9 of 209



  25
of Trustees, Trustee Homan and Trustee Jezycki.
Welcome and congratulations on your appointment.

I'd also like to recognize a staff member
tonight for all the great work this staff member's
been doing.  I think it's important that we all are
aware of these type of efforts and we can recognize
this person.  So the person I'm going to recognize
is our District Clerk, Heidi White, for the work
that she does to prepare our Board of Trustees
meetings, as the preparation and execution of these
meetings is intense, filled with many requests that
need to be reviewed and approved by the appropriate
parties in the appropriate time frame.  

And you just -- if you walk the halls
around here on that three days before trustees'
meeting, you can see all of the time, commitment,
and effort put into this.  

In addition, all you have to do is look at
what one of these binders that you see up on the
desk up here, on the amount of work that goes into
each individual meeting.  I think we all have one of
these binders that's prepared for these.  Now,
obviously one of our goals as we move forward is to
figure out how we can get more executive summaries
to shrink this a bit.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  26
But just kudos to Heidi and all the work

that she does in supporting IVGID.  Thank you.
(Applause.)
CHAIR TULLOCH:  Thank you, Mr. Walrack.

Go ahead.
MR. WALRACK:  The next update I'd like to

focus on is the breaking news that our financials
for the months of September and October were issued
right before Christmas.  This was a sign of some
progress that we're making in our finance
department.  Even more exciting was the results of
the October 2024 report, which had the a following
results:  

Sources were at 18.8 million, uses were at
16.5 million, net sources/uses was 2.27 million, the
budget for net sources was .252 million at this time
frame.  And the year-to-date budget variance was a
positive 1.9 million.  This is very early in
the year.  We are based on a budget that is
annualized equally over 12 months, so it's very hard
to just draw the conclusion that we're in great
shape, but it's better than being the opposite at
this point in time.  

I also did some research and studied, all
right, how is that compared to last year between the

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  27
September months on how we're doing this year to
last year, and it was considerably better.  So
that's good to see.  That's just a positive
situation as we're sitting here.

I would like to next move to an update on
the 2024 audit.  It was apparent in late December
that we were not going to meet one of our deadlines
in having the required audit information to our full
board by 12/31/2024.  Due this delay, we filed a
second extension with the Department of Taxation
which now extends our submittal until February 14,
2025.

We are coordinating the final work of the
audit with Jennifer Farr and her team.  As of
January 7th, we had the following status of audit
work:  

We had 24 items outstanding after
submitting hundreds of individual items, but we have
24 left.  Over the next six days, we're trying to
average around five or six items to complete each
and every day so by January 13th we'll have
everything to Jennifer Farr that we're required to
have her.

I have the 24 individual items detailed in
the spreadsheet.  I have the assignment, the date

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  28
that it's to be completed.  I take two trips
downstairs every day and get updates on whether
we're checking off on the items are being completed
or not.  

On the first day, we had nine items that
were planned to be completed, and we actually
completed eight of them.  And the ninth one was just
moved to the next day that we're getting done.  

We are making some progress, but it is an
intense situation that we're working under to try to
get this in the needed time frame.  

Once we submit all of our items to
Jennifer and her team, she will need two weeks to
complete the audit which puts us in a tough position
to meet our second extension deadline.  We'll work
as hard as we can to meet the second extension, but
it will be a challenge based on the current
progress.  If we have it to the Board here by
January 29th, then we're going to have a shot at
meeting that second request deadline.  We're pushing
as hard as we can, but we are also going to be
relying on Davis Farr to complete their work in time
as well.  

I just wanted to give everyone a heads-up
with regards to the challenges that we're facing and

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 10 of 209



  29
the way that we are managing this, trying to get
this completed.

In addition to the audit work, the Nevada
Department of Taxation is holding a subcommittee of
the Committee on Local Government Finance for
discussion regarding facts and circumstances related
to the requirements for fiscal watch pursuant to NRS
354.675 regarding IVGID.

We have an update meeting with the
subcommittee tomorrow prior to the Nevada Department
of Taxation meeting.  We've been preparing for that.
We have another meeting earlier in the morning,
putting the finishing touches on our report with the
subcommittee, and we're going to give them our
update.  Then the subcommittee is going to present
it to the Department of Taxation tomorrow afternoon.

I received a call from Kelly Langley, and
she requested that I attend that meeting tomorrow in
Reno to be in the audience during their meeting,
which I'm planning to do.

Moving on, we completed our six training
sessions on the Tyler Munis system during the month
of December.  Our focus was centered around accounts
payable, cash management, general ledger, capital
assets, and budgeting.  The fact that we have that

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  30
new resource on board helping us and has that the
experience in working with Tyler Munis and City
Government has been a tremendous resource for us in
helping our team understand it better and making
progress with regards to being able to fulfill our
responsibilities.  

In human resources, we had an extremely
busy month as we hired an additional 172 total
employees for all our venues, which was mostly
related to Diamond Peak.  This gives us a total of
592 employees at the end of December.  In addition,
we hired our recreation supervisor for the senior's
program, as well as a senior engineer for Public
Works.

In addition, we've been focused on
interviewing for the director of finance position.
We created a panel that includes Trustee Tulloch,
Mike Bandelin, Erin Feore, Abbe Yacoben, who is the
CFO of Washoe County, Susan Herron, and myself.  We
should have our interviews completed by the end of
this week, and we will move to the next phase of
this process beginning next week.

Our IVGID Marketing and Communications
Department published a new pop-up event flyer.  This
is something that's going to be going on at the

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  31
Chateau next Saturday, January 18th, at 6:00 p.m.,
which is a wine and tapas event.  We're featuring
six food stations with wine parings at each food
station that should be a great evening.  Tickets are
going to go fast.  Hopefully we encourage everyone
to contact The Chateau and you can sign up online
for your tickets.  

Just to whet your appetite a little bit, a
couple of my favorites here, one of the stations is
the Wente Morning Fog Chardonnay, paired with a
lobster mac and cheese.  I think that will be
tremendous.  Not to be outdone, a Dow red blend
matched with a grilled beef tenderloin crostini,
horseradish cream, and roasted red pepper.  

We hope that everyone could sign up and
participate in that pop-up event.  If it's a
success, we could see having additional ones in the
future.

Our Parks and Recreation Department have
reported their community is focused on getting fit
for the new year, as we're averaging 350
participants per week in our group fitness classes.
Overall, the Rec Center and gymnasium are averaging
800 to 1,000 participants per week.

Our Public Works Department has the

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  32
following capital improvement project status
updates:  

Planning work for the 2025 construction
work on the effluent pipeline replacement project.  

GMP2 as begun.  
The final painting of the effluent storage

tank will occur in 2025.  
Washoe County approved the grant extension

until October 15, 2026, for our skate park project,
which was nice.

Mike Gove sent me an update with regards
to our website.  We have migrated all live stream
functionality to the Civic Clerk platform for all
community meeting interactions including streaming
videos, meeting documents, packets, and agendas.
With the rollout of the new District website, there
will be further changes which we will communicate at
that time.  

As you go on to click on to watch a video,
you're going to see information, it's going to look
a little different, but all the information is there
and there's some flags up to show you where to click
on the website too to get to where you need to get
for the information that you're looking for.

Chair, that concludes the General

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 11 of 209



  33
Manager's report.

CHAIR TULLOCH:  Thank you, Mr. Walrack.
Very comprehensive report.  

I want to pass across to the Board for
questions.

TRUSTEE HOMAN:  Yeah, not so much
questions as just offers.

On the hearing that is taking place
tomorrow, as the newly elected treasurer, if you
need Board representation on that and anything I can
do to help with that, please let me know.  I can
clear my calendar for tomorrow.

Second thing --
MR. WALRACK:  That's for January 18th,

that's a week from -- this Saturday is the event.
TRUSTEE HOMAN:  No.  The government.
MR. WALRACK:  Oh, the department.  Excuse

me.  I didn't hear you.  I'm still on the lobster
mac and cheese.

TRUSTEE HOMAN:  On that, for tomorrow, if
you need trustee representation, let me know, or if
you need any help preparing for that.

MR. WALRACK:  Okay.
TRUSTEE HOMAN:  I know it's late, but I

can free up my day tomorrow to do that.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  34
Second offer.  On the finance director

interviews, I know prior to a couple days ago it
would have been inappropriate to involve either
Michelle or I as new trustees, but you've got a
couple people here with significant finance
executive leadership and significant HR executive
leadership, it could probably be an asset to you as
you're screening and trying to figure out which is
the best candidate for the District.  I know you
guys are in process, but I know I'd be happy to step
in and help you guys.  And I'm guessing Michelle
would do the same.

MR. WALRACK:  Yes.  Thank you for that.
We're going to be moving to a round two, and so we
will have some opportunities we can work with.

TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  I noticed in reading the
reports of your leadership team that there was no
mention of the indoctrination of you -- the first
100-day plan, we had three months' worth of the meet
and greets.  In this, I did not hear or read any of
the time spent, and there were not any of the senior
reports that specified that they had spent time
helping you with the learning curve of the District.  

I wanted to see how that has been going,
and if you had any comments or feedback on that?

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  35
MR. WALRACK:  Actually, we have been

really having good communication with each of the
different venue managers.  We have our weekly staff
meeting with the leadership team, and that has been
very valuable.  And then as this has been
progressing, I've been establishing one-on-ones with
each of the venues that I have, individually, and so
that's growing in scope and size.  

Every week -- it's funny because I studied
my chart yesterday with regards to the graph that I
put together on where I would be at after six weeks
of actually being on the job.  And when I looked at
where I needed to be, I'm actually spot-on as with
regards to my focus, exactly where I thought I'd be
on that chart.  

It's going well.  
TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  And just for own

understanding, is the GM report normally only
verbal?  It was really helpful to have the other
reports in writing.  Is that something that the
Board has been doing?

CHAIR TONKING:  In the past, the GM has
provided the report, he's spoken the report as a
full, written report.  

If we require other leadership members to

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  36
respond to questions from their sections of the
report, we can call them.

MR. WALRACK:  Yeah.  I think also it's
important to know, like, I addressing the
financials, and the financials are available on the
website and were also published for the book.

TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  Right.  I saw that all
in our binder, but I was just curious if that's
typical practice to not have you report what you
just presented in our books as well so that we can
prepare and understand before the meeting.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  I think, in response to
that, it would be helpful if you just have your own
individual report at the beginning of each meeting
too as part of the packet.

MR. WALRACK:  Okay.
TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  And if I can -- I have

two more questions.  I'll be brief.
In Susan Griffith's, the interim of

Director of Finance, report, she had mentioned that
the cashless changed at Diamond Peak, has been
rolled out, and I'm curious how that's going.  

And then the other question for, I guess
Ms. Griffith or you, GM Walrack, is in the book it
says, "Both accountant and temporary staffing

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 12 of 209



  37
positions, offers were made for those hiring
positions, and they were both declined."  I'm very
curious into understanding why that was.

MR. WALRACK:  First, the cashless system,
I hear is going well, so not had any issues
communicated with regards to that change.  

As far as recruiting process for those
positions, those, in fact, are exactly what
happened.  The challenge of recruiting in this area
is very difficult for a number of reasons.  One of
those positions, I was not going to take no easy, so
I made a second and third attempt the try to get
this person on board because they lived -- this
person lived in Incline Village, and it's just a
natural resource for us and the candidate.  And so,
any case, I did my best, but unfortunately we were
not able to land that candidate.  

TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  So is it to be
understood, then, that the offers were both declined
because of financial reasons or is that the salary
offered?  It just seems strange to me that both of
them were extended and both declined for two
different positions.

MR. WALRACK:  I would say that the second
candidate for the accountant position was more

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  38
complicated than that, than just the money side of
it.  But the other positions, I wasn't as close to
so I would have to dig a little bit deeper to see if
it was just financial or other issues.

TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  I think from an HR
perspective too it's helpful to understand that so
going on into new hires, were prepared.  Thank you.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  I have three questions.  
One is referring to what Trustee Jezyski

was talking about in terms of the positions being
rejected.  Did you, then, move forward with the temp
positions through the county's recruiting firm so
that we can at least get bodies in there, or what is
going on?

MR. WALRACK:  That was our first effort,
to utilize Washoe County temporary service, and they
went through, I think, 15 different potential
candidates, and none of them selected to accept that
position with us.  So they basically have given up
on the county resources.  

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Okay.  And have we let
the county know that that's what's occurred --

MR. WALRACK:  Yes.
TRUSTEE TONKING:  -- because it's part of

NRS?  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  39
MR. WALRACK:  Yes.  
TRUSTEE TONKING:  Great.  
My other question is looking at the letter

for the extension from the Department of Taxation,
it says that we have to see the report -- or that it
has to be filed with the Board to later than January
29th, and then filed with the Department of Taxation
no later than February 28th.  

Are we allowed to make any edits between
then and those two dates?

MR. WALRACK:  The 29th is still a hard
date that was communicated in the last communication
I got from Susan Griffith, and her communication is
that they've changed that February 28th to February
14th.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Okay.  Thank you.
And then my other one is about beach

gates.  I've gotten a few emails over the last week
that the beach gates are closing before dusk and
people have been trying to go to watch the sunset
and things and were unable to.  So just we should
make sure that we are keeping them open until dusk.

MR. WALRACK:  I did see some email
communication on that, and I agree that we need some
clarification there.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  40
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Thank you so much.
TRUSTEE HOMAN:  Sorry.  I just want to go

back and kind of mention during your comments too
about the financial reports for September and
October.

I'm glad you were able to go back and kind
of look at how we were doing compared to last year
because I had no ability to do that.  I found kind
of the review of them to be very difficult because I
know that we -- that we've got a lot of seasonality
in a lot of what we do.  

MR. WALRACK:  That's right.  Well, I share
your pain there because when I went to do that
exercise, there was not an October of '23 published,
only September, so I couldn't do the October to
October but I could do the September to September.

TRUSTEE HOMAN:  One of things that we
should start thinking about and we should start
thinking about this -- it's not a today priority
because getting the audit is done, but before we
head into the budget season, we need to engage with
the Tyler folks to see what kind of flexibility we
got with our report writing.  Ideally, we would like
to -- it would be great if we could do the budget
rather than just spreading it like peanut butter

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 13 of 209



  41
divided by 12 to get some kind of seasonality built
into it so we could really look at an actuals versus
budget.  But it would also, then, be nice if we
would put in a column there for versus the
prior year.  

Without those three pieces of information,
it is very difficult for us to make any sense of it.  

MR. WALRACK:  The answer to your question
is we had our budget meeting yesterday and that
subject matter came up, and the goal this year is to
do it seasonally next year so it makes heads and
tails so we can actually tell what the score of the
game is.

TRUSTEE HOMAN:  That's great.  I would
also see if we could do a versus prior to see how
we're doing, how we're progressing.

CHAIR TULLOCH:  Any other questions?
TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  In terms of the meeting

for tomorrow, you had mentioned that they had asked
you to be in person.  I know Treasurer Homan has
offered to go as well.  Who else from IVGID or the
Board are planning on being there?  I know the last
time there was two -- interim GM Crocker was there,
Trustee Tulloch was there, and --

MR. WALRACK:  Yeah, this meeting --

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  42
TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  -- Sue Griffith was

there.
MR. WALRACK:  -- is structured differently

in that, you know, the last one, we were invited
there to present, and we're not invited to present
but they asked me to be in the audience.

TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  Okay.  I would imagine
that they would want you in the audience to,
perhaps, answer questions; right?

MR. WALRACK:  There may be a question,
yes.  

TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  So should we be better
manned or personned to support you in that?

MR. WALRACK:  Yes.  From the perspective
of anticipating the questions they're going to be
asking with regards, obviously, the audit, the Tyler
Munis system that we're working on and the financial
reporting, the new specialist that we hired, Jessica
Carl, has been doing a fantastic job.  

Once we have our meetings in the morning,
our prep meetings, I may make the decision to bring
her along because her experience and really
expertise on that Tyler Munis system and finance
together and she's bridging that gap for us on how
we're getting better at producing the results, is

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  43
that she could be a real asset for us.  I'm going to
make that decision tomorrow after our morning
meetings.  

But with Mick's offer with regards to
going along to sit in on that meeting -- and anybody
could look at it via Zoom because it's going to be
public -- if Mick would like to join us, absolutely
that would -- 

TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  I would recommend that
you consider, Sue Griffith was there initially as
well, I'm just thinking continuity.

MR. WALRACK:  She's sick right now.  
TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  Okay.  Sorry to hear

that.
TRUSTEE TONKING:  To that point, can we

also make sure, Sergio, are you able to watch by any
chance?  I know it's last minute, but I feel like we
didn't have you last time and things can go awry, as
we know.

MR. RUDIN:  Yeah.  I will be available by
phone for support if there's anything that comes up.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  Thank you.
MR. WALRACK:  That's a nice suggestion,

thank you.
CHAIR TULLOCH:  Any other questions for

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  44
Mr. Walrack?

I think a couple of comments on the budget
numbers.  I strongly agree with Treasurer Homan who
had been -- we'd been asking since the start of this
financial year for a properly-spread-out budget, not
just a peanut butter.  And that's not been a Tyler
issue, that's been staffing input, lack of staff
time on it.

I did notice, I was wondering how we're
going to staff the tennis center April, May, June,
because I see the salaries budget of 159,191, that's
spent 159,025 to the end of October.  I'm on page
93.  We've obviously got an issue there.

Also I noticed, similarly in the beach
funds, salaries and wages running at 704,000 to the
end of October, but 972,000 budget, and obviously
since this budget's been spread out month by month,
that number will be -- that will be another 160,000
on top of that so that's running it, 765,000, out of
a total budget of 972.  Obviously we're going to
have some challenges in both of these areas.

MR. WALRACK:  Yeah.  As you study that,
because of that seasonality, there will be 150 of
those questions.

CHAIR TULLOCH:  Understood.  These are the

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 14 of 209



  45
two obvious ones where it's way -- where we know
we're past our peak season and most of the salary
money has been spent already.

But, yep, it's good to finally see
October.  It's -- do we have a target for
December's?

MR. WALRACK:  I'll get back to you on
that.

CHAIR TULLOCH:  Thank you.
No further questions on the general

manager's report?
Moving on to consent calendar.

G.  CONSENT CALENDAR 
G 1.  Meeting Minutes 11/27/2024 
G 2.  Meeting Minutes 12/22/2024 

CHAIR TULLOCH:  Item G 1, approval of the
IVGID Board of Trustees special meeting minutes for
November 27, 2024, and G 2, approval of the IVGID
Board of Trustees meeting minutes for December 11,
2024.  In both cases, requesting staff member,
District Clerk Heidi white.

Do we have a motion to approve the consent
calendar?

TRUSTEE NOBLE:  I would move to approve
items G 1 and G 2 as provided.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  46
CHAIR TULLOCH:  Do we have a second?
TRUSTEE HOMAN:  Second.
CHAIR TULLOCH:  Okay.  All those in favor?
TRUSTEE NOBLE:  Aye.
TRUSTEE HOMAN:  Aye.
TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  Aye.
TRUSTEE TONKING:  Aye.
CHAIR TULLOCH:  Aye.
Consent calendar passes five to zero.
Moving on to general business.  

H.  GENERAL BUSINESS 
H 1.  Trustee Appointment to AC  

CHAIR TULLOCH:  Item H 1, review, discuss,
and consider one trustee appointment to Audit
Committee to fill a vacated position.  Requesting
staff member, Director of Administrative Services
Susan Herron.

MS. HERRON:  Thank you.  Good evening,
Board.

I would refer you to pages 219.  Our
recommendation is that the Board of Trustees make a
motion to appoint one trustee to fill the vacated
position on the Audit Committee.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  I move -- I would
recommend Mr. Homan for the role on the Audit

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  47
Committee, given his vast experience.

CHAIR TULLOCH:  Do we have a second?
TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  I second that.
CHAIR TULLOCH:  We have a proposal.  All

those in favor?
TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  Aye.
TRUSTEE TONKING:  Aye.
TRUSTEE HOMAN:  Aye.
TRUSTEE NOBLE:  Aye.
CHAIR TULLOCH:  Aye.
Motion's carried five to zero.  

H 2.  BOT Liaison Assignments 
CHAIR TULLOCH:  General business item G 2,

review, discuss, and possibly eliminate and/or
continue Board of Trustees liaison assignments.
Requesting staff member, Director of Administrative
Services Susan Herron.

MS. HERRON:  I would refer you to page 229
of your board packet.  On that item, we've given you
four alternatives as to the options of what you
might want to do.

I'm here to answer any questions.
CHAIR TULLOCH:  Questions from the Board?
TRUSTEE TONKING:  I have one question.  
GM Walrack, were you able to ask staff if

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  48
they found this to be helpful or not?

MR. WALRACK:  I'm sorry.  I was swamped
with a few other issues and was not able, but I'll
get to it for you.

TRUSTEE TONKING:  I'm kind of in favor
removing them unless they are on a need-by-need
basis for things, unless others feel in favor of
keeping them.  I do feel like it's more helpful for
all of us to be on the same page than to talk to
someone.  

I do have two other liaison positions I'm
interested in talking about.  One would be a
liaison, just so it's very clear, with the new Local
Government Finance Committee, and then the other one
would be a community liaison with the county and
some of our partners.  

Those would be my two suggestions.
TRUSTEE HOMAN:  To clarify, how many

liaisons?  We're not talking about the committees,
we're not talking about the board-appointed
committees right now; we're talking about the GM
liaison -- right? -- so that is what --

TRUSTEE TONKING:  What we had done, former
Trustee Schmitz at the time had suggested that we
create liaison positions, and so we had one for the

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 15 of 209



  49
beaches, one doing contracts, one doing pickleball,
one doing Parks and Rec, and one doing construction
projects because at that time those seemed
important, and those were ways to communicate with
the venue leads.  

After doing it for a year, I'm unsure how
helpful it truly and was more thinking of, like,
some outside areas that we may not have with outside
partners, if we need them, but open to everybody's
idea.

CHAIR TULLOCH:  Go ahead, Ms. Jezycki.
TRUSTEE TONKING:  I'm supposed to start

chairing, but you can keep going, Ray.  
CHAIR TULLOCH:  That wasn't my

understanding.  
MR. RUDIN:  Yeah, there's a new chair.
CHAIR TULLOCH:  Musical chairs.  I did ask

about this and I was told that wasn't what happened
in the past, because that's what I thought happened
as well.  Happy to pass it across.

(Trustee Tonking now designated as
Chair Tonking.)
TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  My -- I'm sorry you were

not able to get that info because I really think
that that's important in deciding this.  I think

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  50
it's really key to hear from the people we would be
liaising with to see if it's even needed.  Some may
say yes, some may say no; all of them may say yes,
and all of them may say no.  

I would rather not sit up here and say,
yes, let's do X, Y, and Z without even touching base
with them first.

Having said that, I think what we might
consider is go ahead in making temporary
appointments, and then leaving it up to each of us
to make that contact and learn from them if that is
a helpful service that we can provide, or do we just
let them know that we are here in support across the
board?

MS. HERRON:  We can certainly bring this
item back.  I will speak for at least two of my
colleagues.  I do know that ski was very beneficial
to that venue manager, and I believe that the Parks
and Rec was very beneficial to that manager as well.

I don't know about -- I would suggest that
with Trustee Dent and FlashVote, that contract is
over, so that would not be a consideration.  That's
what I know from two of them.

CHAIR TONKING:  Trustee Noble?
TRUSTEE NOBLE:  What I would suggest,

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  51
then, is that we appoint liaisons for ski and Parks
and Rec as well the other two that you had
recommended this evening, and wait to hear from the
other directors whether or not they think it's
beneficial for those and address that at the next
available meeting.

CHAIR TONKING:  That sounds good.  Is
there any objections to that plan?  

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Just reading the agenda,
can we actually make appointments?  These are
completely new appointments, it doesn't seem to be
part of the recommendation here.  I'd like to
understand what these appointments involve.

CHAIR TONKING:  My one would be to the --
which we can leave it as the treasurer, but my idea
was to appoint to the Local Government on Finance
Committee just to make sure there's an appointment
there, and then the other one was a county liaison,
which we did have prior to last year, we had it
the year before, so I was just bringing that back
in.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Yeah.  I'm just reading
the agenda item and wanted to make sure with Sergio
that we're not --

MR. RUDIN:  Yeah, I mean, the agenda item

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  52
it a little vague in terms of the agenda
description.  And, you know, in terms of the
recommendations that are listed, there's only notice
about golf, parks, rec, public utilities, fleet,
construction projects be just contracts, pickleball,
and ski.  

So to the extent we need to appoint
somebody specifically to be dealing with the
Committee on Local Government Finance, I think the
best practice here would be add an agenda item.  

CHAIR TONKING:  That's totally fine.
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I suggest that

Mr. Walrack speak to the other directors as well,
see what their views are.

CHAIR TONKING:  That would be great.
Should we do ski and Parks and Rec, then, right now?

TRUSTEE NOBLE:  I would like to continue
to be the liaison for ski.

TRUSTEE HOMAN:  I would second that.
CHAIR TONKING:  Let's do Parks and Rec

too.  I'm the current Parks and Rec.  I would be
okay vacating that if someone else would like to
take on that role.

TRUSTEE NOBLE:  I'll take that on as well,
if you want.  If there's another trustee that would

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 16 of 209



  53
like to do that, Michelle, since you were reaching
for the -- I leave it to you.  

TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  I'm happy to help with
the Parks and Rec as the liaison.

CHAIR TONKING:  Do I have a motion?
TRUSTEE NOBLE:  I would move that I be

designated the liaison and Michelle be designated
the liaison for Parks and Rec.

CHAIR TONKING:  Is there a second?
TRUSTEE HOMAN:  Second.
CHAIR TONKING:  Any further conversation?
All those in favor, please say aye.
TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  Aye.
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Aye.
TRUSTEE NOBLE:  Aye.
TRUSTEE HOMAN:  Aye.
CHAIR TONKING:  Aye.
Motion passes 5/0.
TRUSTEE HOMAN:  Can I just clarify on the

government, that was -- that had been the treasurer.
I --

CHAIR TONKING:  The treasurer before, yes,
that's how it had been working, yes.  But we can --

TRUSTEE HOMAN:  So we done need --
CHAIR TONKING:  It's up to the Board.  I

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  54
just think it would be nice to have it going
forward, just depending.  But we can discuss at the
next meeting.  

MR. RUDIN:  And just one piece of
unfinished business on this item.  There were
previous liaisons for Public Works contracts,
pickleball, expressly.  Is the Board intending to
eliminate those prior liaison positions?

CHAIR TONKING:  I think we're going to
hold off on those until the next meeting when
General Manger Walrack was able to talk to those
staff members.

Okay.  That moves us to item G 3.  
H 3.  GAC, CIC Appointments; Consider   

Elimination of Committees  
CHAIR TONKING:  Review, discuss, and

consider appointment to the Golf and Capital
Improvement Investment Committees; consider
elimination of committees.  Requesting staff member,
Director of Administrative Services Susan Herron.
This can be found on page 230 of the board packet.

MS. HERRON:  Referring to page 230, there
are four individual motions, you can make one or
more, and I would turn it back over to the Board.  

I'll be happy to answer any questions.  

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  55
CHAIR TONKING:  Is there any thoughts or

questions from the Board on this topic?
TRUSTEE HOMAN:  I'm not sure if this is

specifically covered in here, but do we have the
authority to disband these as board-appointed
committees and have them changed to GM committees
tonight?

MR. RUDIN:  One of the -- one part of the
agenda description is consider elimination of the
committees.  My suggestion is rather than have the
Board formally create some sort of committee to the
General Manager, which potentially would create some
ambiguities as to whether that committee is subject
to Open Meeting Laws, if the General Manager wants
to go ahead and use his own authority to seek advice
and create advisory committees to the General
Manager, it would be pretty clear that those are not
subject to the Open Meeting Law requirements.

So if you want to give some general
direction to the General Manager that he should
explore that as an opportunity, I think that would
probably be better than having a motion to formally
create them.

TRUSTEE HOMAN:  Where I was going with
that question was -- and these are my own views -- I

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  56
would -- I think doing them as board-appointed
committees is wasteful.  I think subjecting them to
the Open Meeting Law, as to minutes, as to
attorneys, to everything else costly both from a
time/resource perspective and a money perspective.

I do think we can get some incredibly
valuable input from the members of the community to
serve on committees under the direction of the GM,
and I place trust in the community members that have
been selected to serve on those to provide valid
input, I would suggest that we continue to have a
board member appointed as a liaison to those
committees to participate with those committees.  

I just think they can operate much more
efficiently, much more effectively as GM-appointed
committees rather than board-appointed committees.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I'll give a counterview,
having had experienced of these.  I mean, if we look
at the dog park committee where it got hijacked --
basically got hijacked by special interests, there
was very limited transparency, and this is the
biggest problem.

Yes, it's more efficient and it's quicker
to do it, but it's very easy for small, special
interests groups to hijack these, commit the Board

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 17 of 209



  57
to things, and commit the Board to various different
expenditures that the public knows nothing about.  

I fully agree with the improved
efficiency, but I think we need to be transparent to
the public rather than having things happening
behind closed doors.

TRUSTEE HOMAN:  I would just counter that
the committees can't obligate the Board to do
anything.  The Board ultimately takes the
committee's advices and make its own decisions.  And
the Board needs to penetrate the recommendations,
penetrate the work that's been done, but the Board
is responsible.  These committees, whether they are
board- or GM-appointed committees, have no authority
to commit the Board to anything.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  That's correct.  But
it's happened in the past where they have, where
they've started making requests for public lands as
well from the dog park committee.

CHAIR TONKING:  I will push back a little
on that, Trustee Tulloch, and I will say that I feel
like we had Ordinance 7 as a GM committee and that
had meeting minutes set, people could look at if
they liked to, and it worked great, it brought all
these edits.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  58
I do find, even when I sat chairing the

Golf Committee, there is this weird nuance where you
are chairing a committee but then you're also voting
on the same issue after, and that seems like this
weird decision-making-occurring-twice role that I'm
not a huge fan of.  And I also think we are looking
to save as much money as possible in our general
fund and looking at our budget.  

I would agree that it could be a good
idea.  

TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  I think -- I like the
idea, and I think it's a good suggestion.  I also
think that having -- or insuring that there is a
board liaison member to each of those committees
covers our bases.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Yeah, I'm looking for
transparency, if we see comprehensive minutes and
proper minutes coming from these committees.  But if
they degenerate into special interests groups where
people have their own special -- their own little
fiefdom, they want to create their own special
project, they want to create, as we've seen happen
in the past, yeah, that's my concern.  

I want to see full transparency here.
TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  I think that full

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  59
transparency falls back on us -- does it not? -- in
terms of being a responsible steward and liaison on
each of those committees and to our GM.  I think our
bases are covered that way.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  One would certainly hope
so.

CHAIR TONKING:  Great.  Do I have a --
Trustee Noble?

TRUSTEE NOBLE:  I would disagree.  I think
it would be more appropriate to move these under the
umbrella with the GM.

CHAIR TONKING:  Do we have a motion?
TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  I will move that we move

the Golf and Capital Improvement Committees to
advisory committees -- I'm sorry.  

Sergio, are we making a recommendation to
have the GM --

MR. RUDIN:  Yeah, you --
TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  I will move that we

eliminate the Golf and Capital Improvement
Investment Committees.

TRUSTEE NOBLE:  Second.
CHAIR TONKING:  Any more discussion?
All those in favor, please say aye.
TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  Aye.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  60
TRUSTEE NOBLE:  Aye.
TRUSTEE HOMAN:  Aye.
CHAIR TONKING:  Aye.
All those opposed?
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Nay.
CHAIR TONKING:  Motion passes four to one.
That moves us to general item H 4.

H 4.  Long Range Calendar Discussion  
CHAIR TONKING:  Have an open discussion

about the long range calendar such that each trustee
can provide the proposed items for the upcoming
Board of Trustees meeting.  Requesting staff member,
Director of Administrative Services Susan Herron and
General Manger of Diamond Peak Ski Resort Mike
Bandelin.  This can be found on page 231 and 236 of
your board packs.

TRUSTEE HOMAN:  Just one point of
clarification, we previously appointed members to
the other advisory committees that are, essentially,
GM advisory committees.  Do we need to do the same
with those two committees?

CHAIR TONKING:  We need to suggest that
the GM looks into it and we can provide that on long
range and ask for him to provide an update to us on
long range, and if he does decide that he would like

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 18 of 209



  61
to be holding those as GM committees, then we can
discuss what appointments would look like.

TRUSTEE HOMAN:  Okay.
MR. BANDELIN:  Thank you.  As the Chair

said, this item begins on page 231 one of your
packet.  We're here -- there's no motion with this
particular agenda item; this is basically staff
presenting, which begins on page 232 of your packet,
a sample of the long range calendar.  

With the new board seated this evening,
the staff really feels that it's a good time to have
a discussion on how the Board would work or have
suggestions about the long range calendar that which
we plan on keeping on the -- within the Board
packets to be discussed at each meeting.  

We will turn it back to the Board to kind
of give some insight or discussion on the particular
sample that we have provided, again on page 232 of
your packet.

CHAIR TONKING:  Great.  I have one quick
question before we begin that discussion, and then
I'd love you all to offer your ideas.  

For that meeting next week, are you going
to be able to have memos and everything out?  I know
that it got moved to the 16th, but are we going to

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  62
be able to have everything out by Monday for that
meeting?  I just saw there's a handful of things on
there and wanted to confirm.

MS. HERRON:  We know that there was a
special meeting being considered by January 16th,
and we did not know if that meeting would supercede
the 15th meeting, so we are open to moving some of
these items as you would desire.  

CHAIR TONKING:  Okay.  Perfect.
Otherwise, it would be planned to be released on
Friday morning; is that correct?

MR. BANDELIN:  That's correct.  
Again, this is kind of a sample, so if

you -- if I could actually speak to a couple of
those items, we would just move those to either the
22nd or the 29th.  But, again, this is kind of a
sample, so you're -- staff is always going to have
procurement items on there, agreements or contracts
within general business items that we know that we
need to do as staff in front of the Board within
general business or consent.  

I would just kind of maybe take the
discussion to how you would like it laid out.  And
then, again, a sample that we're showing you here
tonight, that we would probably move some of those

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  63
items.  If there's a special meeting, we wouldn't
want that take up a special meeting with general
business or consent items, and none of those are
actually time sensitive.

CHAIR TONKING:  Thank you.  That was
helpful.

I would love to hear people's ideas for
what they would like on long range, and then we can
go from there.

TRUSTEE HOMAN:  I guess my suggestion
would be before we get too far into the weeds on
specific, executional items that we want on the long
term calendar, I'd like to take a step back and have
staff think about what types of things do we need to
address quickly to help you guys operate more
efficiently?  

And my perspective, not being on the Board
all of but a couple hours, the meetings were very
inefficient.  I've got 20 year's of boardroom
experience and my previous employer would have fired
the people that put this out.  And I know it's not
the staff that drove that.

So how do we help you guys operate more
efficiently?  What types of things do we need to
look at in terms of policy that will help you

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  64
operate more efficiently, including these minutes?
I would challenge anybody to say that they've
actually read these before they approve them.  

I would suggest we go to summarized, real
meeting minutes:  This topic was discussed, these
were the conclusions that were reached.

If you want to -- if anybody wants to go
further, there's a live stream that you can go
listen to.

Before we get into the details of what
belongs when, how much time would it take you guys
and would it be beneficial for you guys to give some
thought to:  What's handcuffing you right now and
what can we do from a policy standpoint to unlock
those handcuffs to make this work more efficiently,
to help us actually move forward and get things done
more efficiently?

MS. HERRON:  We would like to put Policy
3.1.0 as a first topic.  We have that ready to go.

If you would like to do it at your special
meeting on January the 16th, that's fine.  If you
would like to -- I'll leave that to you.  We're
ready to go on that.

CHAIR TONKING:  I think it's fine to put
it on that special meeting on the 16th.  And then

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 19 of 209



  65
any other, like, pressing things that need to get
done, you should put those on there too.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Can I ask, where -- I
must have missed the board motion that we had four
meetings in a motion or we had a special meeting for
the 16th.  I saw a request come for availability,
but I don't recall any board motion saying that we
move to four meetings a month.

CHAIR TONKING:  I don't think we've moved
to four meetings a month, Ray.  We're just trying to
fit in a budget workshop in there as well as getting
some stuff done.  We can combine things so that it
doesn't have to be four.  That feedback is ideal to
hear as look through these.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Yeah.  No.  I just got
an invitation to a special meeting on the 16th, and
I don't recall the Board approving that or having
any motion for that.

CHAIR TONKING:  I am under the
understanding that the 15th did not work, and so
they have asked for the 16th availability.  

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  But where did the
decision to go to the 15th come from?  Because our
schedule's the first and third Wednesdays of the
month.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  66
CHAIR TONKING:  I think we talked about

the need for possibly having a board workshop during
that time at the end of last year.  If you don't
want to have a meeting, let's talk about what you
can't accomplish, we can work through that, we have
a long calendar we're looking at right now to
discuss.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I'm not really
interested in casting stones, who can accomplish
what or not.  I'm just asking when this motion came
forward, then suddenly changed where it's suddenly
four meetings a month instead of one and three.

CHAIR TONKING:  Again, Trustee Tulloch, I
think staff was proposing things that need to get
done and it got allotted to four meetings.  We do
not need to have four meetings so we can discuss how
many meetings we would like to have.  

Would you like to suggest how many
meetings you would like to have?

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I'm happy with two.  But
understand the budget workshop, that certainly could
be three, but suddenly sticking four meetings a
month is -- you work as well so you're well aware of
the issue there.

CHAIR TONKING:  I am.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  67
TRUSTEE NOBLE:  I would suggest after we

discuss the long range items that the Chair work
with staff to determine when would be the best time
to hold these meetings.  If it is four in the first
month to just get stuff one, so be it, based on
trustee availability.  If we can get all five,
great; if can't get all five but the business needs
to get done, then we get it done.  That would be my
suggestion.  

Then I have seven items on the long range
I'd like to discuss when it's appropriate.

CHAIR TONKING:  Thank you for that.  I
agree, I won't be -- the 15th and 16th, I will be in
Costa Rica, I will be attending remote, so I
understand.  

I will also work with you, Trustee
Tulloch, to talk about your availability so that you
are not having seven meetings in one month as well.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Thank you.  And I find
it a little bit strange that suddenly now it's,
well, it doesn't matter if we get all the trustees
there, so long as some of us that work, don't have
jobs can make it that.  

That was the inference.  I'm just pointing
that out.  Thank you.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  68
CHAIR TONKING:  I'll work with you to make

sure you can attend the meetings.
Trustee Noble, would you like to

suggest your items for the long range?
TRUSTEE NOBLE:  Item one would be for

January 16th, and that would be to consider the
termination the GM contract with Kent Walrack.  

Then second to that would be a corollary,
depending on how that is resolved, would be to
consider the appointment of Robert Harrison as
general manager, also on the 16th.

I have a third request, and that would
be -- I'm going to bring forward an item with
regards to our beach counsel, Mr. Hicks with
McDonald Carano, as it relates to employee beach
access.  I'd like to revisit that.  As well as there
has been discussion about the safety pier at Burt
Cedar, I would like to see whether or not that's
even allowed under the beach deed.

And then would also like to discuss with
them, we know that the Hyatt is going to be
undergoing construction this summer, and under
Ordinance 7, guests of hotels have access to our
beaches, and so I think it would be appropriate to
discuss with beach counsel how best to accommodate

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 20 of 209



  69
that, not only the guests at the Hyatt, but I
believe it also impacts the Hyatt Residence Club.
I'd like to get a high better understanding -- ask
the Board's permission to reach out to our beach
counsel to look into those topics.  

The fourth one is we had not had a
GM/Director of Golf for six months, and I'm not sure
if that is something that we need to provide
staff -- board direction to staff or if staff can
just go ahead and start that recruitment process.
But given that the golf season is fast approaching,
I think that is a critical position that needs to be
filled.

The fifth item -- and Mick had touched on
this -- was to take up elimination of transcription
of meeting minutes by the court reporter.  That
would actually save us between $25,000 and $35,000
a year.  If we can bring that back in house and have
simple summaries of the Board meetings that comply
with statutory requirements.

The sixth item would be to have an update
on the Beach House and next steps.  

And then the seventh item -- and,
unfortunately, it's very relevant with the fires
that are happening down in Southern California -- we

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  70
have the North Lake Tahoe Fire Protection District
agreement, and I know that counsel and staff had
been working with the Fire District to -- on that
agreement.  I'd like to bring that -- have that be
brought back sooner -- much sooner than later.  I
know there's a cap -- or there has been a historical
cap of up to $200,000, that the District, then, is
leveraged for grants of up a million dollars for
vegetation management and wildfire mitigation, and I
would like to explore whether or not increasing that
contribution by IVGID can help leverage for
additional grants that can accelerate the wildfire
mitigation efforts around the community here that I
would think would have a positive impact on, not
only the insurance costs that everyone is bearing,
but also protect this community even more.  

Those are my seven items.
CHAIR TONKING:  Anyone else have items?
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I'm not trying to

satisfy certain sections of the community.  I'm not
going to add to that.  

I think some of these proposals are
absolutely ridiculous.  I'm not sure how we can
appoint Mr. Harrison when it's -- when the interview
has been carried out by non-board members and

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  71
proposed by non-board members.  I think that's an
absolutely ludicrous suggestion.  I think the whole
interview process would be completed tainted.  I'd
welcome general counsel's views on that as well.

MR. RUDIN:  I'm not sure that comment is
germane to placement of items on the long range
calendar, so I'm not going to comment on those
issues in public.

CHAIR TONKING:  Great.  And we will make
sure before any agenda items are placed on the
calendar that we will -- or for on the agenda that
legal has reviewed them, Trustee Tulloch.  

Do you have any long range items that you
would like to add?  

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  No, I'm good.  I'm not
just trying to undo all the work of previous boards.
I'm trying to the right thing.

CHAIR TONKING:  Okay.  Thank you.
TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  One of things that I've

been very vocal about that I would like to follow up
on is the civility and decorum, somebody had
mentioned Open Meeting Law at beginning of the
meeting.  Yes, we did have our training, and because
of that it was very enlightening, learned that some
things were done incorrectly, and we need to be

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  72
careful not to do them.  

But also that we have the capability and
the responsibility, in my mind, to make sure that
these meetings are mutually respectful and that we
can create a sense of ground rules, if you will,
Sergio, for lack of a better term, and I'd like to
get that started so that we are not creating
opportunities, and it's somewhat linked to the
verbatim transcriptions, some of these things that
I'm reading in memos that are submitted to this
board, I'm very surprise have not had litigious
outcomes, and, not to mention, the $6 per page for
the transcriptions.  

Back to the civility and decorum, I think
we are better, we can do better, and there is room
in the Open Meeting Law to provide some boundaries
for what is acceptable and productive in comments.
I would like to put that -- either have a
conversation with you directly before we bring it to
the Board, but that's very important to me.  That's
one of my items.

The Beach House was already mentioned.  In
addition to the Beach House, I would want to make
sure that we include the bar and the -- I call it a
"clam shell" for the music that we have there.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 21 of 209



  73
Boat parking, I think this would be a

win/win/win for our community.  I'd like to see that
on there.  We own that strip up Ski Way, why not
monetize it and have people pay a monthly fee to get
the trailers and boats off of our streets which the
community has been screaming quite loudly about
every year.  

I would like to see that we revisit the
damaged relationships for funds, donors, grants.  I
think we're missing out on a lot of opportunities.
And in speaking with some people from the county as
well, I think that if we can re-nurture those
relationships, reestablish and nurture them, that we
will be in a much better position to be in the
driver's seat to call some of the shots from the
county, not necessary directly related but
indirectly, like the transportation hub and so
forth.  Rather than things being done to us as a
community, I'd like to make sure that we have those
relationships in place to make sure that we can
access and repair some of those relationships.

With the Hyatt closing, I think I would
like to see staff delve into how we might leverage
our amenities for some of the income opportunities
that the Hyatt is giving up and canceling.  If we

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  74
could -- whether it's weddings or other events, how
can we leverage that for our community's benefit.

And also board operational efficiencies
was on my list.

And the last one is a strategic plan.  I
see it on here, but I would like to raise that more
to the top, if we can.  I think we really need to
set out where we will be navigating and with the
time frames and how we're going to fund these
things, I think that's of utmost importance.  

Those would be some, among some others, of
my list.

CHAIR TONKING:  Thank you.
TRUSTEE HOMAN:  Just to leverage off of

what -- sorry.  Let me go back to my first one.  
Can we put an item on the agenda to talk

about meeting formality?  Because do we have to say
"Trustee, General," can we call people by names?
That would be my first item for making the meetings
more efficient.  

In addition to that, touching on
Michelle's point on the strategy, my observation is
that the facility fee kind of came in at the very
end of the budget discussion in the past, and I
would like to accelerate that because I think the

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  75
strategic plan, and in particular the long-term
capital strategic plan, is a critical part -- it's a
critical thing that we need to address because I
think, frankly, we've done a disservice by looking
more recently at facility on a year-by-year basis.
I think we need a long-term plan for what kind of
capital we need, and we need to set a facility fee
based upon that long-term plan.  

So to the extent that you can work that
into the budget workshops to accelerate that more to
the front end, it's -- I don't think we can do a
current year operating budget without having a
strategic long-term plan.

I'm not sure -- and these aren't
priorities, you put them on when you think you need
them on, but the pricing policy, the versions, I
don't even know where that was at, if it got passed
or not.  If it hasn't, I'd like that to come back --
if it has passed, I'd like it to come back.  If it
hasn't, I'd like to readdress the draft.  In my
mind, it puts handcuffs on the venue managers and
how they should be operating and how they should be
pricing their product to maximize their revenue.  I
think we had a very restrictive view of that.

Related -- I guess kind of related to

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  76
timing, I would like to see us get the golf thing
done before May this year.  I think we did an
incredible disservice to the community and to the
golf staff.  I think we probably missed out on a lot
of business.  I know we lost out on a lot of
business because I talked to the general manager up
there who said we were having to turn away business
because they didn't have rates.  We need to get that
set early, so I'd like to get that sooner this year
than last year.

I think that's it.
MR. BANDELIN:  I think the agenda item

covers the appropriateness of asking counsel of the
statutory requirements for content of meeting
minutes within the packet, so if we get an opinion,
then we could help move this along that the -- that
this is what the trustees were speaking to.

MS. HERRON:  And also I want to let you
know that in 3.1.0, the draft, there is a proposal
about meeting minutes, so we will cover that in
there, as well packet material.  We're kind of
codifying that to action meeting minutes, but we
needed to make that change before we can make that
change.

CHAIR TONKING:  That make sense.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 22 of 209



  77
MR. RUDIN:  There was some discussion

about code of conduct.  Typically, most agencies
will have that in the same sort of policy that
governs their conduct of meetings, so policy 310
would be the appropriate place to raise those issues
such as meeting formality as well.

CHAIR TONKING:  If you would want to work
with what that would look like, that could be added
to 3.1.0.

MS. HERRON:  We do have a code of conduct
that is out on the website that the Board adopted
for itself.

CHAIR TONKING:  Maybe we bring that back.
MS. HERRON:  Bring that back, maybe join

it up with 3.1, and I'd be happy to work with you.
TRUSTEE HOMAN:  One more question on that

3.0.1, will you be looking at the decision authority
component of that as well?  And what I'm getting
at -- again, I'm going for how do we operate more
effectively -- is it time to revisit we have to have
a trustee review every single contract, do we have
to have all those contracts included?  Can we get to
something more simplified that says -- the Board
helps set the operating budget for the year, as long
as you're operating within that budget, why are

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  78
we -- why do we have $2- and $3,000 items on the
agenda?  

I want to get -- my preference, I don't
know about the rest of these board members, but I'd
like to revisit streamlining that process and
allowing staff to do their job, provided it's within
the overall budget guidelines that are set by the
Board, along with a decision authority which kind of
gives -- which the Board grants the GM up to this
amount, as long as it's in the budget, you go ahead
and do it.  Then, I guess, below that there's a GM
delegation that further pushes that down that we
probably don't need to be involved with.

MS. HERRON:  There are some applicable
NRSs that I will work with counsel on making sure
that those are in there.  And then what you just
spoken about, we can actually add that into the
draft, sure.

MR. RUDIN:  Yeah, that is an appropriate
discussion with respect to Board Policy 3.10,
because there is already delegation to the General
Manager.  And Board Policies 21.10 regarding the
purchasing policy for good and services and 2120
regarding Public Works contracts, there's an
inconsistent provision of policy 310 that requires

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  79
all contracts to come to the Board, and that is
really the main language and the reason why staff
are bringing all contracts to the Board.

CHAIR TONKING:  Are there any additional
long range calendar items?  

The only one I have that wasn't mentioned
is in compliance with 15.1.0, I feel like the Audit
Committee would probably like some at-large members,
so that could be, I believe, at the end of February,
beginning of March, I don't remember the exact date
of 15.1.0, so we just have to make sure we're in
compliance, as well as, then, I think the Board
members are up then too.  So whatever 15.1.0 says,
we just want to make sure that we get that noticed
and then can have people on the Audit Committee.

And then the only thing is on the budget
workshop, I think that's a great time to talk, the
pricing, make sure we have the comparisons to prior
year, and then central service allocation as well
included in that workshop.  I'll work with staff on
those ideas.  

Anything else?
MR. BANDELIN:  Just right now with timing

and the staff, our preference is to -- the first
workshop is to include kind of a capital program,

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  80
capital project summary to start with.  And then
meeting with the team yesterday, we wouldn't be able
to bring the -- all the budget assumptions, sources
and uses, and executive summaries for each
department by the last meeting in January.  We will
follow up, but we think we can put together a nice
discussion workshop with the 5-, 10-year capital
program and project to be able to have a nice
discussion and maybe get some insight from the Board
of Trustees.

CHAIR TONKING:  The budget workshop is
only going to be that maybe we talk about -- I know
that, Ray, you work a little late, but talk about
maybe just pushing it to January 29th and start a
little bit earlier and run through that so we're not
having board meetings, as was mentioned.

MS. HERRON:  Just to confirm, we're going
to have a meeting on the 16th, which is a special
meeting.  

And of your seven items, Trustee Noble,
the special meeting, I'm assuming the top two? 

TRUSTEE NOBLE:  (Inaudible response).
MS. HERRON:  Okay.  
And then what we will do is we will take

the next ones and possibly move the rest of these

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 23 of 209



  81
and the budget workshop down to the 29th.  

We will take the 29th's items and we
will -- if they don't fit into the budget workshop,
we will definitely put those in later on.  We will
get to those, those aren't quite as critical.  

And then I just want to kind of clarify
something, your meetings are the second and
fourth -- the second and last Wednesday, that is how
they have historically been, and if you look at the
calendar, that's what we did going forward.  January
was kind of to give a sense of urgency, so I guess
we accomplished our mission.

And then if -- on the 29th, what time did
you want the 16th meeting to start?

TRUSTEE NOBLE:  I believe in the email
that Ms. White sent out, it was three o'clock on the
16th.

MS. HERRON:  Would you like to start your
29th meeting -- because now we're doing away with
the 22nd -- a little earlier?

CHAIR TONKING:  Let's see if Heidi can
reach out to trustees and make sure, knowing that
some are working, when they can get here.  But if we
can start a little earlier, that would be great.

MS. HERRON:  I don't think we have

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  82
anything else.  Thank you.

CHAIR TONKING:  That closes out item H 4.
That brings us to item H 5.  

H 5.  AC Chairman Report 
CHAIR TONKING:  Review and discuss the

Audit Committee chairman report on the 2023
look-back project and the 31 memorandums from Mr.
Cliff Dobler.  Requesting trustee, Audit Committee
chairman Raymond Tulloch.  This can be found on
pages 237 to 238 in your board packets.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  I don't think this needs
too much introduction.  Mr. Homan's very familiar
with this, having been involved before he jumped
ship from the Audit Committee, he was involved in
this.  Mr. Dobler spent a lot of time and effort in
preparing 31 different memos detailing issues that
he identified, researched in connection with
reporting in the prior year ACFRs.  

The prior AC chair, Mr. Nolet, Chris
Nolet, proposed to the Board of Trustees and the
director of finance that a comprehensive look-back
project would be carried out with Mr. Nolet, Mr.
Homan, and Mr. Dobler.

There was a significant amount of work
done officially from mid March through early June,

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  83
2023.  The project was then paused and some of the
work was then passed across from Mr. Navazio to do.
During this period, Mr. Homan left the Audit
Committee and left the team.

There was some reports done, nothing
formally presented -- none of these reports formally
presented to the Audit Committee, so the Audit
Committee's been sitting with this in limbo.  The
real question is whether these -- has the Audit
Committee decided that this should be passed to the
Board?  It's arguable whether this should have gone
to the Board or whether it should have just remained
just part of the Audit Committee independent.  I
don't have any views on that.  

I think the question is there was a lot of
issues raised.  I think there's about 10 million of
incorrect reporting, so just looking for direction
from the Board.  The Audit Committee asked for
direction from the Board what should be done with
this.

TRUSTEE HOMAN:  First a question, because
I've got some -- I've actually learned some things
over the last couple of days, part of which was
generated by an email that was sent to all the Board
and GM from Mr. Dobler.  I was very careful not to

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  84
respond to all because I didn't want to violate Open
Meeting Laws.  I think that exchange had some good
information.  

Is it okay for me to read that exchange?
I think it adds some good context to where we're at
and also maybe some misunderstandings.

MR. RUDIN:  We should also make copies of
that correspondence available as supplemental
meeting material.

TRUSTEE HOMAN:  Yeah.  I am happy to do
that.

So, as I mentioned, Mr. Dobler wrote an
email to the Board copying the Audit Committee, the
General Manager, expressing his frustration and
displeasure with how things were going.  And I wrote
a reply to him.  

First of all, to clarify, there's not 31
memos; there's 28 officially cataloged.  As I went
through that 28 again to refresh myself, there's a
couple of attachments which were prior memos, so
maybe you get up to 31, but there was not 31.

And in addition, in that email, Mr. Dobler
attached a separate document detailing the
10 million or so of additional things that he wanted
to address.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 24 of 209



  85
So I will read, first, my response to him,

and then his reply back, which gave me some new
learnings:  

"Cliff, good timing.  I've actually spent
virtually every free hour of my time over the last
ten days going over both initial memos you, Chris,
and I worked through and your supplemental June 23rd
memo, including a line-by-line review of every item
in the 20-plus pages of exhibits.  

"I've talked with staff and venue managers
about various items; I've also shared portions of my
work with Chris.  I recently provided the accounting
and finance staff with a list of questions that need
to be addressed before finalizing the 2024 ACFR.  

"There are likely some amounts that will
need to be written off, but they are nowhere near
the figures you are throwing around.  As I reviewed
the detail behind the 10 million in your June 23rd
memo and related schedules, the majority of the
amounts included therein are either comprised of,
(1), repeat items from the 29, 28 memos that we
discussed and are in the process of being resolved,
(2), amounts that have been written off either as
part of a large cleanup in 2019 or in subsequent
years, (3), amounts that were capitalized prior to

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  86
2014 and hence largely depreciated, or (4), that
represent valid capital spending, either valid new
assets, replacement of assets or components of
assets that have been fully depreciated.

"At this point, I'm not seeing anything
material enough that would warrant restatement of
previously issued statements in '22 or '23.  Having
said that, my work is still ongoing.

"The plan would be to have a summary for
both the Audit Committee and the Board for the ACFRs
issued.  That summary may not completely close out
every single item, but that plan is to have
adequately reviewed all items that could have a
material impact on the 2024 ACFR."

I'll skip forward here:  
"Like you, I feel strongly that we need to

address the issues and have accurate financials.
And I have repeatedly given you credit for
uncovering some capitalization issues in the past
that led to adjustments to additional reporting.
However, as I get further into the (inaudible) of
your many assertions, I find that many of them lack
merit due to one of two shortcomings.  

"One of those is taking prior
recommendations of Moss Adams out of context.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  87
Accounting rules are often not black and white, and
while Moss Adams may have made recommendations to
District policies, the existing policies employed by
the District were largely acceptable at the time.  

"Further, when IVGID did change from their
existing policies to more closely align with certain
of Moss Adams suggestions, such a change from one
accepted policy to a preferred policy is often
handled perspectively; it does not render historical
accounting as erroneous.  

"You also need to avoid blindly applying
Moss Adams' observations to specific projects.
Regarding major improvements to projects, it's
completely appropriate to look at the nature of the
improvements.  Many major improvement projects do,
in fact, qualify for capitalization.  

"Second, it's completely inappropriate and
reckless to conclude on the appropriateness of
capital versus expense simple based on a two- to
three-word descriptor in a ledger or posting.  One
has to actually consider the nature of the spending
and go deeper than what you find in a typical PRR."

So that just gives you a little bit of
flavor for the work that I've done.  And I've
provided questions to staff to try to get this

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  88
resolved.  

What I found educational was the response
from Mr. Dobler this morning:  

"It was suggested by the Board that Moss
Adams review for capitalization be used as the
guideline in determining potential writeoffs.  I do
not disagree that former policies were in place and
used by IVGID staff.  That, however, was not the
point of the work I was asked to do.

"The work was to determine if Moss Adams'
suggestions were applied, what would potential
writeoff be?"

Well, that is completely inappropriate.
Okay?  If the Board gave Cliff Dobler that
direction, they did the community a disservice, they
did the staff a disservice, they did Mr. Dobler a
disservice because that's not what you do.  

If accounting rules were in place and they
were acceptable going back in history and staff
followed those, that's fine.  You cannot and you
should not look at newly adopted policies and use
those newly adopted policies to go back to 2015 and
beyond and figure out:  What would have been
expensed if we had applied those policies?  

My point being that's a learning to me.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 25 of 209



  89
Now having said, that I've looked at the 10 million,
and I have drafted -- and I have provided staff --
there are some things in that schedule that I had
questions about, and so I have provided a list of,
you know, in addition to the seven items that were
still open on the 28th, I think I provided probably
15 to 20 additional questions to staff to say, hey,
let's look into this item, let's try to resolve
these before we issue the ACFR.  

I think these are isolated, and I'm
hopeful that staff can get at them very quickly.
And, yes, we may -- as get through all this, we may
have some writeoffs.  It may approach an amount that
we conclude that we should adjust the beginning
balances so that we've got a clean start for this
year, but we won't know that.  

And I have purposely not asked staff to
get that done immediately because I want them to get
everything to the auditors first.  The auditors go
off and do that work, and then we can kind of circle
back on these items and figure out, okay, are there
adjustments that we need to make to get these things
resolved.  

That's my summary.
CHAIR TONKING:  Thank you for doing that.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  90
Any follow-up conversation on this?
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Thank you, Mr. Homan.

That's a good summary.  I'm not aware of any Board
direction to Mr. Dobler to that affect.  I'll bet
yourself and Mr. Nolet would know better, having
worked with that.  

That seems slightly strange.  I'm
certainly not aware of any Board direction or any
Audit Committee Direction on that.

CHAIR TONKING:  I think for context, those
had some grown over a series of time and then had
been asked by the Audit Committee, while he was on
it, to then have those investigated, and that's how
we ended up with those memos all in one place.

TRUSTEE HOMAN:  Regardless of whether that
direction came from the Board or whether Mr. Dobler
took that upon himself, it was the wrong approach to
take.  It's impacting how I look through all of
these items.

TRUSTEE TULLOCH:  Understood and no
disagreement from me on that.  I think it's the
policies at the time and to make sure that they were
compliance with GAAP or GASB at the time.

CHAIR TONKING:  Do I have any other
conversation on there?  Otherwise, I have an idea

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  91
for next steps.

I would suggest, then, you -- since you,
Mr. Homan, are also on the Audit Committee, that you
and Trustee Tulloch can work to create -- or not
together, but when you guys are on the Audit
Committee, we can work to have that as an agenda
item to walk through so everyone can get up to date
and then report back to the Board.  

Does everyone think that is a viable plan?  
Great.  That closes out item H 5.

I.  REDACTIONS FOR PENDING PUBLIC RECORDS REQUESTS 

CHAIR TONKING:  Item I, redactions for
pending public records requests, I don't think we
have any.  Do we need to keep that on the agenda?

MR. RUDIN:  I will send an email to the
Board recommending some policy changes to the
District's Public Records Act policy and process,
including whether or not the Board continues to see
redactions as a collective board.

CHAIR TONKING:  Great.  Thank you.  Item
J.
J.  BOARD OF TRUSTEE UPDATES 

CHAIR TONKING:  Does anyone have any
updates?

TRUSTEE NOBLE:  This would be more just an

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  92
update, but a response to one of the public
commenters about the ice skating rink.  

A little over a year ago, the
then-director of parks and rec was working on
bringing an item before the Board to accept a
donation from the Incline Ice Foundation for the ice
rink.  The chair at the time did not allow that to
be presented to the Board.  

It's my understanding that the donors
approached UNR to see if they would be interested,
and it's my understanding that they are continuing
to discuss the possibility of hosting an ice rink at
the lake campus here.  And it's also my
understanding that they are hoping to do that before
the end of the season this year, and if that's not
possible, they are going to work as much as possible
to get it up and running for next season.

Things may have changed since I was last
updated, that was about two weeks ago, but that is
what I am ware of at this point.  If something
changes on that, I will provide another update to
the Board.

CHAIR TONKING:  Any other updates to the
Board?

TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:  I just wanted to

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 26 of 209



  93
acknowledge the Diamond Peak ski team.  I don't know
if it's after being elected and looking at things
through a different lens or I try to be a visitor, I
tried to look at all these different ways, but from
opening day to the chaos of what is the holiday
season up here, the parking looked like it was
running smoothly, the shuttles, the staff were
extraordinarily friendly.  Just watching them
interact, just from afar, it was -- it really made
me proud of our wonderful amenity.  Clearly,
Mr. Bandelin is doing a great job up there, and he's
got a great team that he's sharing that type of
expected culture with, and it was really nice to
see.  

My hats off to the Diamond Peak team for
making us all look good, actually, and giving us a
wonderful, wonderful venue to enjoy.

CHAIR TONKING:  Any other updates?
That closes out item J.  That brings us to

item K.  
K.  FINAL PUBLIC COMMENTS 

CHAIR TONKING:  Do we have any public
comments in the room?  

There are none in the room.  Do we have
any online?

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  94
MR. BELOTE:  We do have two currently in

queue.
MS. KNAAK:  Hi.  Yolanda Knaak.
You know, I am very concerned about David

Noble bringing out the idea of getting rid of our
current GM, and I feel like he's not interested in
giving our new GM a fair shake.  So, anyway, I hope
that whole board makes a decision keep GM Kent
Walrack.  

Thank you very much.
MR. DOBLER:  This is Cliff Dobler.
I'm going to stay away from Noble --

Homan's comments, but here's something I think is
much more important.  I've been pretty actively
involved in IVGID for about seven years, and my
expertise is in development, real estate
development, maintaining assets throughout the
United States of America.  

We don't have the ability to do what needs
to be done with the current staff.  If you take a
look at the last five to seven years, the amount
that was provided for capital projects in the budget
and the amount that was actually spent was around 20
percent.  And even Winquest told me, At the end of
the day, they were not capable of doing more than

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  95
one our two projects a year.

Now, what my concern is is if you look at
what happened at the Rec Center, there's about 40
items that need to be done, and you got some
logistic problems you gotta deal with, especially
the air-conditioning.  And also the thing that I
find remarkable is the DOWL report that we spent
$400,000 on to assess our water and sewer systems,
they came back said, This very next year, we should
spend around $31 million.  

Now, that was given to the Board and put
on the shelf in about three minutes.  Now,
$31 million is $31 million, and within that, there
was probably six our seven projects that they
suggested getting done.

My thought is is why would you have a
consultant to give you some guidelines and then not
even consider them?  When I take a look at the long
range calendar, I see nothing from the engineering
department about getting these projects in line or
bringing it to the Board, here's our plan to get
these projects done.  

It's going to go nowhere.  So unless you
get some quality people like me that can get things
done, you're just going to get backed up more and

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

  96
more and more and more, and we'll be just like the
pipeline, ten years later, costs double, and we're
still working on it.  We need to really take a look
at that engineering department because I don't think
it's set up right at all.  

Thank you very much.  Bye.
MR. BELOTE:  That was the last caller in

the queue, Chair.
CHAIR TONKING:  That ends item K, final

public comments.  
L.  ADJOURNMENT 

CHAIR TONKING:  The Board of Trustees
meeting is ending at 8:01 p.m.

(Meeting ended at 8:01 p.m.)

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 27 of 209



  97
STATE OF NEVADA ) 

)  ss. 
COUNTY OF WASHOE ) 

 
I, BRANDI ANN VIANNEY SMITH, do hereby 

certify: 
That I was present on January 8, 2025, at 

the of the Board of Trustees public meeting, via 
Zoom, and took stenotype notes of the proceedings 
entitled herein, and thereafter transcribed the same 
into typewriting as herein appears. 

That the foregoing transcript is a full, 
true, and correct transcription of my stenotype 
notes of said proceedings consisting of 97 pages, 
inclusive. 

DATED:  At Reno, Nevada, this 13th day of 
January, 2025. 
 

    /s/ Brandi Ann Vianney Smith 
 

 
___________________________ 
BRANDI ANN VIANNEY SMITH 

 

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 28 of 209



 
CHAIR TONKING: [58]
 35/22 50/24 51/7 51/14
 52/11 52/15 52/20 53/5
 53/9 53/11 53/17 53/22
 53/25 54/9 54/16 55/1
 57/20 59/7 59/12 59/23
 60/3 60/6 60/9 60/22
 61/20 62/9 63/5 64/24
 65/9 65/19 66/1 66/13
 66/25 67/12 68/1 70/18
 71/9 71/18 74/13 76/25
 77/7 77/13 79/4 80/11
 81/21 82/2 82/5 89/25
 90/10 90/24 91/12
 91/20 91/23 92/23
 93/18 93/22 96/9 96/12
CHAIR TULLOCH: [35]
 4/5 4/12 4/15 4/17 4/19
 4/21 4/23 9/24 19/1
 23/12 23/15 23/21 24/3
 24/7 24/14 24/20 26/4
 33/2 41/17 43/25 44/25
 45/9 45/16 46/1 46/3
 46/8 46/13 47/2 47/4
 47/10 47/13 47/23
 49/11 49/14 49/17
MEMBER SWENSON:
[1]  10/3
MR. ABEL: [1]  19/4
MR. BANDELIN: [4] 
 61/4 62/12 76/12 79/23
MR. BELOTE: [4]  19/3
 23/10 94/1 96/7
MR. DOBLER: [2]  21/8
 94/11
MR. EPPOLITO: [2] 
 7/19 10/1
MR. KATZ: [1]  14/2
MR. MILLER: [1]  15/23
MR. RUDIN: [11]  43/20
 49/16 51/25 54/4 55/8
 59/18 71/5 77/1 78/19
 84/7 91/15
MR. WALRACK: [27] 
 24/22 26/6 33/14 33/17
 33/23 34/13 35/1 36/3
 36/16 37/4 37/24 38/15
 38/23 39/1 39/11 39/23
 40/12 41/8 41/25 42/3
 42/10 42/14 43/12
 43/23 44/22 45/7 48/2
MS. GRIGNON: [1] 
 17/4
MS. HERRON: [14] 
 46/18 47/18 50/15
 54/22 62/4 64/18 76/18
 77/10 77/14 78/14
 80/17 80/23 81/18
 81/25
MS. KNAAK: [2]  20/19
 94/3
MS. MILLER: [1]  12/1
MS. SILK: [1]  5/2
TRUSTEE HOMAN:
[30]  4/16 24/13 33/6
 33/16 33/20 33/24 40/2
 40/17 41/14 46/2 46/5

 47/8 48/18 52/19 53/10
 53/16 53/19 53/24 55/3
 55/24 57/7 60/2 60/17
 61/3 63/10 74/14 77/16
 83/21 84/10 90/15
TRUSTEE JEZYCKI:
[27]  4/20 24/10 34/16
 35/17 36/7 36/17 37/18
 38/5 41/18 42/1 42/7
 42/12 43/9 43/13 46/6
 47/3 47/6 49/23 53/3
 53/13 58/11 58/25
 59/13 59/19 59/25
 71/19 92/25
TRUSTEE NOBLE:
[19]  4/18 23/25 24/12
 45/24 46/4 47/9 50/25
 52/17 52/24 53/6 53/15
 59/9 59/22 60/1 67/1
 68/5 80/22 81/15 91/25
TRUSTEE TONKING:
[18]  4/22 24/6 24/11
 36/12 38/8 38/21 38/24
 39/2 39/16 43/15 43/22
 46/7 46/24 47/7 47/24
 48/5 48/23 49/12
TRUSTEE TULLOCH:
[21]  40/1 51/9 51/22
 52/12 53/14 56/17
 57/16 58/16 59/5 60/5
 65/3 65/15 65/22 66/8
 66/20 67/19 70/19
 71/15 82/11 90/2 90/20

$
$2 [1]  78/1
$200,000 [1]  70/7
$25,000 [1]  69/17
$3,000 [1]  78/1
$31 [3]  95/10 95/13
 95/13
$31 million [2]  95/10
 95/13
$35,000 [1]  69/17
$400,000 [1]  95/8
$6 [1]  72/12
$70 [1]  15/17

'
'22 [2]  21/10 86/7
'22/'23 [1]  21/10
'23 [4]  21/10 21/25
 40/14 86/7
'23 published [1] 
 40/14
'24 [1]  22/18

-
-o0o [2]  2/14 4/2

.

.252 [1]  26/16

/
/s [1]  97/18

1
1,000 [1]  31/24
1,230,000 [1]  22/19

1,853,000 [1]  23/1
1.9 [1]  26/18
1/8/2025 [1]  4/1
10 [1]  85/18
10 million [3]  83/16
 84/24 89/1
10-year [1]  80/7
100-day [1]  34/19
11 [1]  45/19
11/27/2024 [2]  3/10
 45/14
12 [2]  26/20 41/1
12/11/2024 [1]  3/11
12/22/2024 [1]  45/15
12/31/2024 [1]  27/9
13th [2]  27/21 97/15
14 [3]  9/1 21/1 27/11
14th [3]  9/16 20/24
 39/15
15 [3]  32/9 38/17 89/7
15.1.0 [3]  79/7 79/11
 79/13
150 [1]  44/23
159,025 [1]  44/12
159,191 [1]  44/11
15th [4]  62/7 65/20
 65/23 67/13
16.5 [1]  26/15
160,000 [1]  44/18
16th [13]  61/25 62/5
 64/21 64/25 65/6 65/16
 65/21 67/13 68/6 68/11
 80/18 81/14 81/17
17 [1]  9/8
172 [1]  30/8
18.8 [1]  26/14
18th [3]  21/14 31/1
 33/14
1965 [1]  14/21

2
2.1 [1]  15/5
2.27 [1]  26/15
20 [3]  63/19 89/7 94/23
20-plus [1]  85/9
2007 [1]  17/7
2014 [1]  86/1
2015 [1]  88/22
2019 [1]  85/24
2022/'23 [1]  21/25
2023 [2]  82/6 83/1
2023/'24 [1]  22/18
2024 [12]  3/10 3/11
 21/14 26/12 27/6 27/9
 45/14 45/15 45/18
 45/20 85/14 86/14
2025 [9]  1/18 4/1 4/8
 23/22 27/12 32/3 32/7
 97/6 97/16
2026 [1]  32/9
21.10 [1]  78/22
2120 [1]  78/23
219 [1]  46/20
229 [1]  47/18
22nd [2]  62/16 81/20
23 [2]  3/6 3/7
230 [2]  54/21 54/22
231 [2]  60/15 61/5
232 [2]  61/8 61/18

236 [1]  60/15
237 [1]  82/10
238 [1]  82/10
23rd [2]  85/7 85/18
24 [4]  3/9 27/17 27/19
 27/24
25 [1]  16/15
27 [1]  45/18
27 years [1]  9/7
28 [3]  84/18 84/19
 85/21
28th [3]  39/8 39/14
 89/6
29 [1]  85/21
29th [8]  28/19 39/7
 39/11 62/16 80/14 81/1
 81/13 81/19
29th's [1]  81/2

3
3.0.1, will [1]  77/17
3.1 [1]  77/15
3.1.0 [3]  64/19 76/19
 77/9
3.10 [1]  78/20
31 [5]  82/7 82/16 84/17
 84/21 84/21
310 [2]  77/4 78/25
350 [1]  31/21
354.611 [1]  22/24
354.634 [1]  21/16
354.675 [1]  29/8

4
40 [1]  95/3
45 [1]  3/10
46 [1]  3/12
47 [1]  3/13

5
5/0 [1]  53/18
54 [1]  3/14
592 [1]  30/11

6
60 [2]  1/25 3/14
65 [1]  10/2
65-foot [1]  9/11
6:00 [2]  4/1 31/1

7
704,000 [1]  44/15
765,000 [1]  44/19
7th [1]  27/15

8
800 [1]  31/24
82 [1]  3/15
893 [1]  1/15
8:01 [2]  96/13 96/14
8th [1]  4/8

9
91 [2]  3/16 3/17
93 [2]  3/18 44/13
96 [1]  3/19
97 [1]  97/13
972 [1]  44/20
972,000 [1]  44/16

995 [1]  21/8

A
Aaron [1]  14/2
abandoned [1]  23/3
Abbe [1]  30/18
Abel [1]  19/5
ability [2]  40/8 94/19
able [13]  12/21 30/5
 37/17 40/6 43/16 47/25
 48/3 49/24 54/11 61/24
 62/1 80/2 80/8
about [51]  5/13 5/23
 8/1 8/6 9/2 9/11 11/1
 11/4 13/18 16/14 16/16
 16/20 38/10 39/17 40/4
 40/18 40/19 48/12
 48/19 48/20 48/21
 49/18 50/20 52/4 57/2
 60/10 61/13 63/14 66/1
 66/4 67/17 68/17 71/20
 73/6 74/17 76/20 77/2
 78/4 78/17 80/12 80/13
 83/16 85/11 89/4 92/2
 92/19 94/4 94/15 95/3
 95/12 95/20
absolutely [3]  43/7
 70/23 71/2
abstain [1]  24/14
AC [5]  3/12 3/15 46/12
 82/4 82/19
accelerate [3]  70/12
 74/25 75/10
accept [2]  38/18 92/5
acceptable [4]  7/11
 72/17 87/4 88/19
accepted [2]  21/18
 87/8
access [4]  15/7 68/16
 68/23 73/21
accommodate [1] 
 68/25
accomplish [3]  16/18
 66/5 66/9
accomplished [1] 
 81/12
according [4]  5/24
 6/20 14/15 21/18
accountant [2]  36/25
 37/25
accounting [5]  19/22
 85/12 87/1 87/10 88/18
accounts [1]  29/23
accurate [1]  86/17
ACFR [3]  85/14 86/14
 89/9
ACFRs [2]  82/18 86/10
acknowledge [3]  6/15
 7/9 93/1
acquire [1]  15/1
across [4]  33/4 49/20
 50/13 83/2
Act [1]  91/17
action [3]  22/1 22/24
 76/22
active [1]  17/13
actively [1]  94/14
activities [4]  17/17
 17/21 18/2 18/3

Page 29 of 209



A
activity [1]  12/7
actual [1]  12/10
actually [18]  12/17
 28/6 35/1 35/12 35/13
 41/12 51/10 62/14 63/4
 64/3 64/16 69/17 78/17
 83/22 85/4 87/21 93/16
 94/23
actuals [1]  41/2
ad [1]  15/6
Adams [4]  86/25 87/2
 87/7 88/5
Adams' [2]  87/12 88/10
add [4]  52/10 70/21
 71/14 78/17
added [1]  77/8
adding [1]  17/15
addition [9]  18/15
 25/18 29/3 30/11 30/15
 72/23 74/21 84/22 89/5
additional [7]  30/8
 31/17 70/12 79/4 84/24
 86/20 89/7
additions [1]  16/3
address [6]  22/14 51/5
 63/15 75/3 84/25 86/17
addressed [1]  85/14
addressing [1]  36/4
adds [1]  84/5
adequate [1]  13/20
adequately [1]  86/13
ADJOURNMENT [2] 
 3/19 96/11
adjust [1]  89/14
adjustments [2]  86/20
 89/22
Administrative [4] 
 46/16 47/16 54/20
 60/13
adopted [3]  77/11
 88/21 88/22
advice [1]  55/15
advices [1]  57/10
advisory [4]  55/16
 59/15 60/19 60/20
afar [1]  93/9
affect [1]  90/4
affordable [1]  17/21
afraid [1]  6/8
after [8]  14/22 27/17
 35/11 43/2 49/6 58/4
 67/1 93/2
afternoon [2]  15/23
 29/16
again [8]  16/5 61/18
 62/13 62/16 62/24
 66/13 77/19 84/19
agencies [1]  77/2
agenda [18]  3/6 23/13
 23/14 23/16 51/9 51/23
 51/25 52/1 52/10 55/9
 61/7 71/10 71/11 74/16
 76/12 78/2 91/6 91/14
agendas [1]  32/15
ages [1]  17/19
aging [1]  20/5
ago [4]  23/2 34/2 92/3

 92/19
agree [6]  5/21 39/24
 44/3 57/3 58/9 67/13
agreement [5]  13/5
 13/7 13/8 70/2 70/4
agreements [1]  62/18
ahead [7]  23/6 26/5
 49/11 50/9 55/15 69/10
 78/10
air [2]  23/1 95/6
air-conditioning [1] 
 95/6
align [1]  87/6
aligns [1]  18/19
all [65]  7/6 7/13 9/11
 10/8 10/11 10/18 10/19
 11/18 14/5 14/8 14/10
 15/8 15/9 15/9 15/12
 16/19 17/18 19/25
 20/20 21/10 23/5 23/6
 24/8 25/4 25/5 25/16
 25/18 25/21 26/1 26/24
 28/12 30/9 32/12 32/13
 32/21 36/7 46/3 47/4
 48/9 50/3 50/4 53/12
 57/24 59/24 60/4 61/22
 63/18 67/6 67/7 67/21
 71/16 77/22 79/1 79/3
 80/3 83/24 84/1 84/17
 86/13 89/12 90/14
 90/18 93/4 93/16 96/5
all-important [1]  10/18
ALLEGIANCE [4]  3/3
 4/9 4/10 4/11
Alliance [1]  9/23
allocation [1]  79/19
allotted [1]  66/15
allow [1]  92/7
allowed [3]  6/20 39/9
 68/19
allowing [1]  78/6
Almost [1]  19/25
along [4]  42/22 43/5
 76/16 78/8
already [3]  45/3 72/22
 78/21
also [33]  2/10 11/4
 17/9 17/22 19/17 24/25
 25/3 26/24 28/21 36/3
 36/6 41/3 41/15 43/16
 44/14 58/3 58/6 58/12
 67/16 68/11 68/20 69/2
 70/16 72/2 74/3 76/18
 84/6 84/7 85/11 87/11
 91/3 92/13 95/6
alternatives [1]  47/20
always [2]  20/13 62/17
am [11]  6/18 9/18
 10/11 10/22 10/25 11/4
 65/19 66/25 84/10
 92/20 94/4
ambiguities [1]  55/13
amends [1]  7/15
amenities [1]  73/24
amenity [2]  18/19
 93/10
America [1]  94/18
among [1]  74/11
amount [6]  25/20

 78/10 82/24 89/13
 94/21 94/23
amounts [5]  22/20
 85/15 85/20 85/23
 85/25
ancient [2]  20/6 20/9
Ann [4]  1/24 97/4
 97/18 97/20
annual [1]  21/17
annualized [1]  26/20
another [4]  29/12
 44/18 52/25 92/21
answer [4]  41/8 42/9
 47/22 54/25
anticipating [1]  42/15
any [41]  5/22 15/1
 18/12 19/1 23/15 24/7
 33/22 34/20 34/21
 34/25 37/5 37/16 39/9
 41/7 41/17 43/16 43/25
 47/22 51/8 53/11 54/25
 55/1 59/23 65/1 65/7
 65/18 71/10 71/13 79/4
 83/14 90/1 90/3 90/8
 90/8 90/24 91/14 91/23
 92/23 93/18 93/22
 93/25
anybody [3]  43/5 64/2
 64/7
anymore [1]  9/3
anyone [2]  70/18 91/23
anything [7]  33/10
 43/21 57/9 57/15 79/22
 82/1 86/5
anyway [2]  13/15 94/7
apologize [1]  7/15
apparent [2]  11/4 27/6
appears [1]  97/10
appetite [1]  31/8
Applause [1]  26/3
applicable [1]  78/14
applied [2]  88/11 88/24
applying [1]  87/11
appoint [5]  46/22 51/1
 51/16 52/7 70/24
appointed [8]  48/20
 55/5 56/1 56/12 56/15
 56/16 57/14 60/18
appointment [7]  3/12
 25/2 46/12 46/14 51/17
 54/17 68/10
appointments [7]  3/13
 50/10 51/10 51/11
 51/13 54/14 61/2
appreciate [3]  16/8
 17/2 21/6
approach [2]  89/13
 90/17
approached [1]  92/10
approaching [1]  69/11
appropriate [8]  25/12
 25/13 59/10 67/11
 68/24 77/5 78/19 87/14
appropriateness [2] 
 76/13 87/18
approval [5]  3/6 23/13
 23/14 45/16 45/18
approve [3]  45/22
 45/24 64/3

approved [2]  25/12
 32/8
approving [1]  65/17
April [1]  44/10
are [85]  5/18 5/18 6/2
 6/3 6/4 6/8 6/15 7/24
 8/21 10/20 16/25 18/2
 19/11 19/23 20/5 23/7
 25/5 26/19 27/13 28/3
 28/9 28/21 29/1 31/4
 31/23 34/10 36/5 37/8
 39/9 39/19 39/22 41/22
 43/16 44/25 48/6 50/13
 51/10 52/3 52/14 54/23
 55/17 55/25 57/13 58/3
 58/6 59/4 59/16 60/19
 61/23 61/25 62/7 63/3
 67/18 69/25 70/17
 70/22 71/10 72/4 72/7
 72/10 72/15 77/25 78/7
 78/14 78/16 79/3 79/4
 79/13 81/7 81/23 85/15
 85/16 85/17 85/20
 85/22 87/1 89/3 89/10
 89/21 91/3 91/5 92/11
 92/14 92/16 93/24
area [4]  8/2 8/7 9/17
 37/9
areas [2]  44/21 49/8
aren't [2]  75/14 81/5
arguable [1]  83/11
argue [1]  14/13
around [9]  17/7 18/3
 25/15 27/20 29/23
 70/13 85/17 94/23
 95/10
as [125] 
aside [1]  17/7
ask [6]  17/8 47/25
 49/17 60/24 65/3 69/3
asked [7]  41/19 42/6
 65/21 83/18 88/9 89/17
 90/12
asking [6]  6/14 7/8
 42/16 44/4 66/10 76/13
ass [1]  9/5
assertions [1]  86/22
assess [1]  95/8
asset [3]  22/21 34/7
 43/1
assets [6]  18/11 29/25
 86/3 86/3 86/4 94/17
assignment [1]  27/25
assignments [3]  3/13
 47/12 47/15
assume [1]  13/14
assuming [2]  10/25
 80/21
assumptions [1]  80/3
attached [2]  14/4 84/23
attachments [1]  84/20
attempt [1]  37/12
attend [2]  29/18 68/2
attending [1]  67/14
attorney [2]  11/16
 22/11
attorneys [1]  56/4
attracting [1]  18/21
audience [3]  29/19

 42/6 42/8
audit [34]  21/10 21/15
 21/17 21/21 22/9 22/11
 27/6 27/8 27/14 27/15
 28/14 29/3 40/20 42/16
 46/14 46/23 46/25 79/7
 79/15 82/6 82/8 82/14
 83/3 83/7 83/7 83/9
 83/13 83/18 84/13
 86/10 90/9 90/12 91/3
 91/5
audit's [1]  22/1
auditing [1]  21/18
auditor [1]  21/11
auditors [2]  89/19
 89/19
authority [7]  22/4 22/7
 55/5 55/15 57/14 77/17
 78/8
avail [1]  11/23
availability [4]  65/6
 65/21 67/6 67/17
available [4]  36/5
 43/20 51/6 84/8
average [1]  27/20
averaging [2]  31/21
 31/23
avoid [2]  11/24 87/11
aware [5]  13/5 25/6
 66/23 90/3 90/8
away [3]  76/7 81/19
 94/12
awry [1]  43/18
aye [25]  24/10 24/11
 24/12 24/13 46/4 46/5
 46/6 46/7 46/8 47/6
 47/7 47/8 47/9 47/10
 53/12 53/13 53/14
 53/15 53/16 53/17
 59/24 59/25 60/1 60/2
 60/3

B
back [27]  16/6 40/3
 40/6 45/7 50/16 51/20
 54/24 57/20 59/1 61/16
 63/13 69/18 70/5 72/14
 74/15 75/18 75/19
 77/13 77/14 82/7 82/21
 85/2 88/19 88/22 89/21
 91/8 95/9
backed [1]  95/25
background [1]  16/10
backgrounds [1]  16/2
bad [1]  5/14
balances [1]  89/15
ballet [1]  13/18
Bandelin [4]  20/3
 30/18 60/15 93/11
bandwidth [1]  20/10
bar [1]  72/24
base [1]  50/6
based [7]  12/18 14/24
 26/19 28/17 67/5 75/8
 87/19
bases [2]  58/15 59/4
basic [1]  14/21
basically [3]  38/19
 56/20 61/7

Page 30 of 209



B
basics [1]  13/2
basin [2]  9/1 16/14
basin's [1]  9/9
basis [2]  48/7 75/5
Bay [1]  10/7
be [149] 
beach [14]  15/7 16/22
 20/7 39/17 39/19 44/14
 68/14 68/15 68/19
 68/25 69/4 69/22 72/22
 72/23
beaches [5]  15/2 15/3
 15/5 49/1 68/24
bearing [1]  70/15
beautiful [2]  6/25
 18/13
because [44]  5/3 5/10
 5/19 5/22 6/11 6/25
 7/12 7/16 8/5 8/13 8/16
 8/18 9/9 13/19 14/19
 35/9 37/13 37/20 38/24
 40/8 40/9 40/13 40/20
 42/22 43/6 44/11 44/23
 49/3 49/19 49/24 65/23
 71/23 74/17 74/25 75/3
 76/6 76/8 78/21 81/19
 83/21 84/1 88/17 89/18
 96/4
become [1]  18/11
becomes [1]  15/20
beef [1]  31/13
been [49]  6/15 7/16 9/7
 11/10 12/23 15/23
 15/24 18/12 20/25
 22/12 23/3 25/5 29/11
 30/3 30/15 34/3 34/24
 35/1 35/4 35/5 35/6
 35/21 36/21 39/20
 42/19 44/4 44/4 44/6
 44/7 44/17 45/3 53/20
 53/23 56/10 57/12
 68/17 70/3 70/6 70/25
 71/20 73/6 81/9 82/13
 83/8 85/23 86/4 88/23
 90/12 94/14
before [21]  7/23 25/15
 26/9 36/11 39/19 40/20
 51/20 53/22 61/21
 63/11 64/3 64/10 71/10
 72/19 76/2 76/23 82/13
 85/14 89/9 92/5 92/14
begin [2]  11/16 61/21
beginning [6]  5/14
 30/22 36/14 71/22
 79/10 89/14
begins [2]  61/5 61/8
begun [1]  32/5
behind [3]  7/13 57/6
 85/18
being [17]  6/9 14/7
 17/3 17/12 26/22 28/3
 30/5 35/12 38/10 41/22
 59/2 62/5 63/17 73/18
 85/22 88/25 93/2
believe [10]  8/20 11/8
 13/9 17/14 18/5 23/8
 50/18 69/2 79/9 81/15

belongs [1]  64/11
below [1]  78/11
beneficial [4]  50/17
 50/19 51/5 64/12
benefit [1]  74/2
benefiting [1]  18/7
best [8]  10/9 11/22
 19/9 34/9 37/16 52/10
 67/3 68/25
bet [1]  90/4
better [12]  26/22 27/2
 30/4 42/12 42/25 55/22
 69/3 72/6 72/15 72/15
 73/14 90/5
betterment [1]  10/12
between [3]  26/25 39/9
 69/17
beyond [1]  88/23
big [1]  8/16
bigger [1]  7/4
biggest [1]  56/22
bilateral [1]  13/25
binder [1]  36/8
binders [2]  25/19
 25/22
bit [6]  25/25 31/8 38/3
 67/20 80/15 87/23
black [1]  87/1
Blanc [1]  17/5
blend [1]  31/12
blindly [1]  87/11
board [130] 
Board's [1]  69/4
board-appointed [4] 
 48/20 55/5 56/1 56/16
boardroom [2]  1/14
 63/19
boards [2]  14/25 71/16
Boat [1]  73/1
boats [1]  73/5
bode [1]  11/11
bodies [1]  38/13
bond [2]  15/3 15/6
bonds [1]  15/18
book [2]  36/6 36/24
books [2]  19/18 36/10
BOT [3]  3/7 3/13 47/12
both [12]  11/23 17/16
 36/25 37/2 37/19 37/21
 37/22 44/21 45/20 56/4
 85/6 86/10
Boulevard [1]  1/15
boundaries [2]  6/23
 72/16
boundary [1]  7/16
Brandi [4]  1/24 97/4
 97/18 97/20
breakdown [1]  12/8
breaking [1]  26/7
bridging [1]  42/24
brief [1]  36/18
briefly [1]  8/1
bring [9]  42/21 50/15
 68/13 69/18 70/4 72/19
 77/13 77/14 80/3
bringing [6]  8/11 51/20
 79/3 92/5 94/5 95/21
brings [2]  82/3 93/19
broker [1]  9/4

brought [2]  57/24 70/5
budget [32]  12/13
 12/18 12/22 12/24
 26/16 26/17 26/19
 40/21 40/24 41/3 41/9
 44/2 44/5 44/11 44/16
 44/20 58/8 65/11 66/21
 74/24 75/10 75/12
 77/24 77/25 78/7 78/10
 79/16 80/3 80/11 81/1
 81/3 94/22
budget's [1]  44/17
budgeting [1]  29/25
build [1]  9/6
buildings [1]  9/12
built [2]  18/10 41/1
Burt [1]  68/17
business [16]  3/7 3/12
 23/13 23/18 23/19
 46/10 46/11 47/13 54/5
 62/19 62/21 63/3 67/7
 76/5 76/6 76/7
businesses [1]  18/7
busy [1]  30/8
butter [2]  40/25 44/6
Bye [2]  23/9 96/6
bylaws [1]  6/21

C
calendar [18]  3/10 3/14
 33/12 45/12 45/13
 45/23 46/9 60/8 60/10
 61/9 61/13 63/13 66/6
 71/7 71/11 79/5 81/10
 95/19
California [2]  8/18
 69/25
call [10]  3/4 4/12 4/14
 5/7 15/13 29/17 36/2
 72/24 73/15 74/18
called [2]  13/7 15/24
caller [2]  23/10 96/7
callers [1]  19/1
came [5]  41/10 66/10
 74/23 90/16 95/9
campus [1]  92/13
can [78]  10/11 13/10
 13/25 22/16 25/6 25/16
 25/24 28/16 28/21 31/6
 33/10 33/11 33/25
 34/15 36/2 36/10 36/17
 38/13 41/12 43/15
 43/18 49/13 50/12
 50/15 51/10 51/15
 53/19 53/23 54/2 54/21
 54/23 56/6 56/14 60/11
 60/15 60/23 61/1 63/8
 64/8 64/14 65/3 65/12
 66/5 66/9 66/16 67/6
 67/23 68/2 69/9 69/18
 70/11 70/12 70/23 72/5
 72/15 73/12 73/20 74/2
 74/7 74/16 74/18 75/9
 75/11 76/23 77/22
 78/17 79/15 80/6 81/21
 81/23 81/24 82/9 89/11
 89/20 91/4 91/6 91/7
 95/24
can't [4]  13/19 57/8

 66/5 67/7
canceling [1]  73/25
candidate [4]  34/9
 37/15 37/17 37/25
candidates [1]  38/18
cannot [1]  88/20
cap [2]  70/6 70/7
capability [1]  72/2
capable [3]  13/14 19/7
 94/25
capital [14]  23/3 29/24
 32/1 54/17 59/14 59/20
 75/2 75/7 79/25 80/1
 80/7 86/2 87/19 94/22
capitalization [3] 
 86/19 87/16 88/5
capitalized [1]  85/25
Carano [1]  68/15
careful [2]  72/1 83/25
cares [1]  9/2
Carl [1]  42/19
carried [4]  24/15 47/11
 70/25 82/22
case [3]  23/17 24/8
 37/16
cases [1]  45/20
cash [1]  29/24
cashless [2]  36/21
 37/4
casting [1]  66/9
cataloged [1]  84/18
Cedar [1]  68/18
center [5]  12/7 20/6
 31/23 44/10 95/3
centered [2]  18/2
 29/23
central [1]  79/19
certain [3]  8/10 70/20
 87/6
certainly [4]  50/15 59/5
 66/21 90/8
certify [1]  97/5
CFO [1]  30/19
chair [14]  2/4 2/5 4/24
 24/1 24/2 24/23 32/25
 49/16 49/22 61/4 67/2
 82/19 92/7 96/8
chairing [3]  49/13 58/1
 58/3
chairman [4]  3/15 82/4
 82/6 82/9
chairs [1]  49/17
challenge [3]  28/17
 37/9 64/2
challenges [3]  11/18
 28/25 44/21
champion [1]  14/10
chance [2]  21/5 43/17
change [5]  37/6 76/23
 76/24 87/5 87/7
changed [6]  9/10 36/21
 39/14 55/6 66/11 92/18
changes [4]  23/15
 32/17 91/16 92/21
chaos [1]  93/5
Chardonnay [1]  31/10
charge [1]  13/10
charged [2]  14/6 23/4
chart [2]  35/10 35/15

charter [2]  14/16 14/18
Chateau [2]  31/1 31/6
checking [1]  28/3
cheese [2]  31/11 33/19
children [1]  17/19
chosen [1]  14/11
Chris [3]  82/19 85/6
 85/12
Christmas [1]  26/9
CIC [2]  3/13 54/14
circle [1]  89/20
circumstances [2]  5/3
 29/6
citizens [1]  19/23
City [4]  16/12 18/9
 18/13 30/2
Civic [1]  32/13
civility [2]  71/21 72/14
claiming [1]  21/24
clam [1]  72/25
clarification [3]  22/16
 39/25 60/18
clarify [4]  48/18 53/19
 81/6 84/17
classes [3]  13/22
 13/24 31/22
clean [1]  89/15
cleanup [1]  85/24
clear [4]  11/2 33/12
 48/13 55/17
clearly [2]  21/21 93/10
clerk [6]  2/12 21/23
 23/23 25/8 32/13 45/21
clerk's [1]  22/5
click [2]  32/19 32/22
Cliff [5]  21/8 82/8 85/4
 88/14 94/11
close [3]  16/23 38/2
 86/11
closed [1]  57/6
closely [1]  87/6
closes [3]  82/2 91/10
 93/19
closing [2]  39/19 73/22
Club [1]  69/2
code [4]  11/5 11/9 77/2
 77/10
codifying [1]  76/22
colleagues [1]  50/17
collective [1]  91/19
column [1]  41/4
combine [1]  65/12
come [9]  5/2 9/19 12/3
 16/15 65/6 65/23 75/18
 75/19 79/1
comes [1]  43/21
coming [3]  6/6 16/6
 58/18
comment [4]  12/4
 14/12 71/5 71/7
commenters [1]  92/2
commenting [1]  11/9
comments [14]  3/5
 3/18 4/25 5/1 20/12
 20/22 34/25 40/3 44/2
 72/17 93/21 93/23
 94/13 96/10
commit [3]  56/25 57/1
 57/15

Page 31 of 209



C
commitment [3]  18/20
 20/12 25/16
committee [31]  22/15
 29/5 46/15 46/23 47/1
 48/14 51/17 52/9 55/11
 55/13 56/19 57/19
 57/22 58/2 58/3 79/8
 79/15 82/6 82/8 82/14
 83/4 83/7 83/10 83/13
 83/18 84/13 86/10 90/9
 90/12 91/3 91/6
committee's [2]  57/10
 83/8
committees [29]  3/14
 48/19 48/21 54/15
 54/18 54/19 55/6 55/6
 55/10 55/16 56/2 56/8
 56/13 56/13 56/16
 56/16 57/8 57/13 57/14
 58/14 58/18 59/3 59/14
 59/15 59/21 60/19
 60/20 60/21 61/1
communicate [2] 
 32/17 49/4
communicated [2] 
 37/6 39/12
communication [4] 
 35/2 39/12 39/13 39/24
Communications [1] 
 30/23
communities [2]  13/17
 18/9
community [32]  5/11
 5/23 6/12 6/25 7/6 10/7
 10/10 10/12 10/13
 11/19 11/21 13/23
 14/13 16/4 16/24 17/12
 18/11 18/13 18/14
 31/20 32/14 48/15 56/7
 56/9 70/13 70/16 70/20
 73/2 73/6 73/19 76/3
 88/15
community's [4]  17/25
 18/20 18/24 74/2
compared [3]  12/16
 26/25 40/7
comparisons [1]  79/18
competent [1]  19/21
complete [4]  22/9
 27/20 28/14 28/22
completed [10]  21/11
 21/22 28/1 28/3 28/6
 28/7 29/2 29/21 30/20
 71/3
completely [5]  51/11
 86/11 87/14 87/17
 88/13
completion [1]  13/5
compliance [4]  21/19
 79/7 79/12 90/23
complicated [1]  38/1
comply [2]  21/22 69/19
component [1]  77/18
components [1]  86/3
comprehensive [4] 
 8/19 33/3 58/17 82/21
comprehensive
minutes [1]  58/17

comprised [1]  85/20
computer [1]  19/18
concern [2]  58/23 95/2
concerned [2]  11/4
 94/4
concerns [2]  5/4 8/17
conclude [2]  87/18
 89/14
concludes [1]  32/25
conclusion [1]  26/21
conclusions [1]  64/6
conditioning [1]  95/6
conduct [5]  11/5 11/9
 77/2 77/4 77/10
conducted [1]  21/18
confirm [2]  62/3 80/17
congratulate [3]  7/20
 10/5 20/20
congratulations [4] 
 14/5 24/16 24/22 25/2
connect [1]  18/1
connection [1]  82/17
consent [7]  3/10 45/12
 45/13 45/22 46/9 62/21
 63/3
Consequently [1] 
 21/11
consider [12]  3/13
 43/10 46/14 50/9 54/14
 54/17 54/18 55/9 68/6
 68/10 87/21 95/18
considerably [1]  27/2
consideration [2] 
 18/25 50/22
considered [2]  10/14
 62/5
consisting [1]  97/13
constituted [1]  19/14
construction [4]  32/3
 49/2 52/5 68/22
consultant [1]  95/17
contact [2]  31/6 50/11
content [1]  76/14
contentious [1]  6/17
context [3]  84/5 86/25
 90/10
continue [3]  47/15
 52/17 56/11
continues [1]  91/18
continuing [1]  92/11
continuity [1]  43/11
contract [3]  50/21 68/7
 77/21
contracts [8]  49/1 52/5
 54/6 62/18 77/22 78/24
 79/1 79/3
contribute [2]  6/13
 18/6
contribution [1]  70/11
conversation [4]  53/11
 72/19 90/1 90/25
cooking [2]  13/22
 13/23
coordinating [1]  27/13
copies [1]  84/7
copying [1]  84/13
corollary [1]  68/8
correct [4]  57/16 62/11
 62/12 97/12

correspondence [1] 
 84/8
Costa [1]  67/14
costly [1]  56/4
costs [6]  12/9 12/14
 12/15 23/3 70/15 96/2
could [19]  18/5 31/15
 31/17 34/7 40/16 40/24
 41/2 41/15 43/1 43/6
 57/23 58/9 62/14 66/21
 74/1 76/16 77/8 79/9
 86/13
couldn't [1]  40/15
counsel [7]  2/11 68/14
 68/25 69/5 70/2 76/13
 78/15
counsel's [1]  71/4
counter [1]  57/7
counterview [1]  56/17
county [17]  8/2 8/7 8/8
 8/14 8/15 9/17 20/24
 30/19 32/8 38/16 38/20
 38/22 48/15 51/18
 73/11 73/16 97/2
county's [1]  38/12
couple [8]  31/9 34/2
 34/5 44/2 62/14 63/18
 83/23 84/20
couple days [1]  34/2
course [2]  13/21 20/8
court [1]  69/16
cover [1]  76/20
coverage [1]  9/12
covered [2]  55/4 59/4
covers [2]  58/15 76/13
cream [1]  31/14
create [9]  48/25 55/11
 55/12 55/16 55/23
 58/21 58/22 72/5 91/4
created [2]  14/23 30/17
creating [3]  17/25 18/8
 72/7
credibility [1]  7/5
credit [1]  86/18
critical [5]  17/15 69/12
 75/2 75/3 81/5
Crocker [1]  41/23
crossed [1]  7/17
crossing [1]  6/22
crostini [1]  31/13
Crystal [1]  10/7
culture [1]  93/13
curious [3]  36/8 36/22
 37/3
curling [1]  17/23
current [5]  28/17 52/21
 75/12 94/6 94/20
currently [3]  11/13
 16/10 94/1
curve [1]  34/23

D
damaged [1]  73/9
dance [1]  13/13
dancing [1]  13/15
date [5]  26/17 27/25
 39/12 79/10 91/7
DATED [1]  97/15
dates [1]  39/10

DAVID [2]  2/6 94/4
Davis [2]  21/11 28/22
day [9]  27/21 28/2 28/5
 28/8 33/25 34/19 93/5
 94/25 97/15
days [5]  25/15 27/19
 34/2 83/23 85/6
deadline [2]  28/15
 28/20
deadlines [1]  27/7
deal [2]  9/6 95/5
dealing [1]  52/8
dear [1]  16/22
debate [1]  7/2
decades [1]  13/8
December [4]  27/6
 29/23 30/11 45/19
December's [1]  45/6
decide [1]  60/25
decided [1]  83/10
deciding [1]  49/25
decision [7]  42/21 43/2
 58/5 65/23 77/17 78/8
 94/8
decision-making-occu
rring-twice [1]  58/5
decisions [2]  10/19
 57/10
deck [1]  9/6
declare [1]  14/19
declined [3]  37/2 37/19
 37/22
decorum [2]  71/21
 72/14
deed [1]  68/19
deeper [2]  38/3 87/22
definitely [2]  16/3 81/4
definition [1]  20/15
degenerate [1]  58/19
delay [1]  27/9
delegation [2]  78/12
 78/21
deliver [1]  15/21
delve [1]  73/23
Dent [1]  50/21
department [17]  21/14
 21/23 22/3 26/11 27/10
 29/4 29/10 29/16 30/24
 31/19 31/25 33/17 39/4
 39/7 80/5 95/20 96/4
department's [1]  22/7
depending [2]  54/2
 68/9
depreciated [2]  86/1
 86/4
description [2]  52/2
 55/9
descriptor [1]  87/20
designated [3]  49/21
 53/7 53/7
desire [1]  62/8
desk [1]  25/20
despite [1]  19/9
destination [1]  17/13
detail [1]  85/18
detailed [1]  27/24
detailing [2]  82/16
 84/23
details [1]  64/10

determine [2]  67/3
 88/10
determining [1]  88/6
development [4]  17/10
 18/23 94/16 94/17
Diamond [5]  30/10
 36/21 60/14 93/1 93/15
did [22]  14/18 21/15
 26/24 34/20 37/16
 38/11 39/23 44/9 49/17
 51/19 62/6 65/20 65/22
 71/23 76/2 81/10 81/13
 87/5 88/15 88/16 88/16
 92/7
didn't [6]  8/7 21/25
 33/18 43/18 76/8 84/1
different [9]  20/16
 32/21 35/3 37/23 38/17
 57/1 82/16 93/3 93/4
differently [1]  42/3
difficult [4]  10/10
 37/10 40/9 41/7
dig [1]  38/3
directed [1]  19/10
direction [11]  5/14
 55/20 56/8 69/9 83/17
 83/19 88/15 90/4 90/8
 90/9 90/16
directly [3]  8/12 72/19
 73/16
director [10]  30/16
 34/1 36/20 46/16 47/16
 54/20 60/13 69/7 82/21
 92/4
directors [2]  51/4
 52/13
disagree [2]  59/9 88/7
disagreement [1] 
 90/21
disappointed [1]  10/22
disband [1]  55/5
disclaimer [1]  21/12
discuss [13]  46/13
 47/14 54/2 54/16 61/2
 66/7 66/16 67/2 67/11
 68/20 68/25 82/5 92/12
discussed [4]  11/1
 61/15 64/5 85/22
discussion [15]  3/14
 29/6 59/23 60/8 60/9
 61/12 61/17 61/21
 62/23 68/17 74/24 77/1
 78/20 80/7 80/9
displeasure [2]  11/7
 84/15
disservice [5]  75/4
 76/3 88/15 88/16 88/17
district [18]  1/3 2/12
 4/8 13/6 13/9 16/12
 23/23 24/21 25/8 32/16
 34/9 34/23 45/21 70/1
 70/3 70/7 87/3 87/4
District's [1]  91/17
divest [1]  15/20
divided [1]  41/1
do [85]  6/14 7/8 7/16
 8/9 8/23 10/1 12/13
 13/19 16/8 19/1 19/3
 19/16 21/5 23/24 24/4

Page 32 of 209



D
do... [70]  25/18 29/20
 33/11 33/25 34/12 40/8
 40/11 40/13 40/15
 40/16 40/24 41/11
 41/15 45/5 45/22 46/1
 47/2 47/21 48/8 48/11
 50/6 50/12 50/17 52/16
 52/20 53/1 53/5 55/4
 56/6 56/24 57/8 58/1
 59/7 59/12 60/20 60/20
 62/20 63/14 63/23
 63/24 64/14 64/20
 66/15 71/13 72/1 72/15
 74/17 75/11 77/10
 77/19 77/21 78/1 78/6
 78/11 80/24 83/2 84/10
 87/15 88/6 88/9 88/17
 89/20 90/24 91/14
 92/14 93/22 93/24 94/1
 94/19 97/4
Dobler [14]  19/22 21/8
 82/8 82/15 82/23 83/25
 84/12 84/22 88/3 88/14
 88/16 90/4 90/16 94/11
document [1]  84/23
documentation [1] 
 22/6
documents [1]  32/15
does [10]  11/11 19/13
 20/3 25/9 26/2 59/1
 60/25 87/9 91/9 91/23
doesn't [6]  9/2 15/19
 20/25 51/11 65/13
 67/21
dog [2]  56/19 57/19
doing [20]  8/23 9/7
 20/13 20/15 25/5 27/1
 35/21 40/7 41/16 42/19
 49/1 49/1 49/2 49/2
 49/6 56/1 81/19 89/25
 93/11 94/25
dollars [1]  70/8
don't [35]  5/2 5/5 5/15
 5/20 5/21 6/7 7/14 8/18
 8/24 9/20 9/21 11/19
 11/19 13/19 13/24
 18/12 50/20 65/7 65/9
 65/17 66/3 67/22 75/11
 75/17 78/3 78/13 79/10
 81/3 81/25 82/11 83/14
 91/13 93/1 94/19 96/4
donation [1]  92/6
done [29]  5/20 6/19
 20/13 22/25 28/8 40/20
 48/23 53/24 57/12
 64/16 65/2 65/12 66/15
 67/8 67/8 71/25 73/18
 75/4 76/2 82/25 83/5
 83/19 87/24 89/18
 94/20 95/4 95/15 95/22
 95/25
donors [2]  73/9 92/9
doors [1]  57/6
double [1]  96/2
doubt [1]  6/3
Dow [1]  31/12
DOWL [1]  95/7

down [5]  13/1 20/8
 69/25 78/12 81/1
downstairs [1]  28/2
dozen [1]  8/6
draft [3]  75/20 76/19
 78/18
drafted [1]  89/2
dragged [1]  5/19
draw [1]  26/21
driver's [1]  73/15
drove [1]  63/22
due [3]  22/8 27/9 86/23
during [8]  17/21 18/1
 18/7 29/19 29/22 40/3
 66/2 83/3
dusk [2]  39/19 39/22

E
each [15]  14/6 14/20
 22/21 25/21 27/20 31/3
 35/2 35/7 36/14 50/10
 58/14 59/3 60/10 61/15
 80/4
earlier [4]  29/12 80/15
 81/20 81/24
early [4]  16/23 26/18
 76/9 82/25
easy [2]  37/11 56/24
economy [1]  18/6
edits [2]  39/9 57/25
educational [1]  88/2
effectively [2]  56/15
 77/20
efficiencies [1]  74/3
efficiency [1]  57/4
efficient [2]  56/23
 74/20
efficiently [6]  56/15
 63/16 63/24 64/1 64/15
 64/17
effluent [2]  32/4 32/6
effort [5]  8/22 22/9
 25/17 38/15 82/15
efforts [2]  25/6 70/13
eight [1]  28/7
either [6]  34/3 62/15
 72/18 85/20 85/23 86/2
elected [2]  33/9 93/2
Election [3]  3/7 23/20
 23/21
electorate [1]  10/21
eliminate [3]  47/14
 54/8 59/20
elimination [5]  3/14
 54/15 54/19 55/9 69/15
else [6]  41/21 52/22
 56/4 70/18 79/22 82/1
email [10]  19/24 22/5
 22/8 22/12 39/23 81/15
 83/24 84/13 84/22
 91/15
emailed [1]  21/24
emails [1]  39/18
emphasize [1]  15/9
employed [1]  87/3
employee [2]  12/15
 68/15
employees [3]  19/13
 30/9 30/11

employer [1]  63/20
encourage [2]  19/17
 31/5
encouraging [1]  10/12
end [10]  30/11 30/20
 44/12 44/16 66/3 74/24
 75/11 79/9 92/15 94/24
ended [3]  15/5 90/14
 96/14
ending [1]  96/13
ends [1]  96/9
energy [1]  8/22
enforce [1]  14/15
enforcement [1]  5/7
engage [1]  40/21
engagement [1]  18/17
engineer [3]  16/12
 16/13 30/13
engineering [2]  95/19
 96/4
enhancing [1]  18/20
enjoy [1]  93/17
enlightening [1]  71/24
enough [2]  9/21 86/6
enrich [1]  17/24
ensures [1]  10/19
entities [1]  20/1
entitled [1]  97/9
Eppolito [1]  7/19
Eppolito's [1]  20/22
equally [1]  26/20
Erin [1]  30/18
erroneous [1]  87/10
error [1]  22/5
especially [4]  10/17
 18/1 19/20 95/5
essential [1]  18/11
essentially [1]  60/19
established [1]  10/15
establishing [1]  35/6
estate [3]  9/4 9/7 94/16
estimate [1]  12/15
evacuate [2]  9/1 21/2
evacuation [2]  8/20
 20/24
even [14]  5/21 9/2 9/13
 17/9 17/23 26/11 50/2
 50/6 58/1 68/19 70/16
 75/17 94/24 95/18
evening [11]  4/6 10/3
 12/1 14/2 17/4 19/4
 20/18 31/4 46/18 51/3
 61/10
event [4]  30/24 31/2
 31/16 33/15
events [2]  17/23 74/1
ever [2]  8/19 18/12
every [9]  13/1 27/21
 28/2 35/9 73/7 77/21
 85/5 85/8 86/12
everybody [1]  9/23
everybody's [1]  49/9
everyone [7]  4/6 28/24
 31/5 31/15 70/15 91/7
 91/9
everything [5]  27/22
 56/4 61/24 62/1 89/19
evidence [1]  14/20
exact [1]  79/10

exactly [2]  35/14 37/8
excellent [1]  21/4
exchange [2]  84/2 84/4
excited [1]  16/16
exciting [1]  26/11
Excuse [1]  33/17
execution [1]  25/10
executional [1]  63/12
executive [4]  25/24
 34/6 34/6 80/4
exercise [2]  18/17
 40/14
exhibits [1]  85/9
existing [2]  87/3 87/6
expand [1]  9/24
expansion [1]  13/4
expected [3]  20/16
 23/1 93/13
expenditures [1]  57/2
expense [1]  87/19
expensed [1]  88/24
expenses [1]  23/4
experience [4]  30/2
 42/22 47/1 63/20
experienced [1]  56/18
expertise [2]  42/23
 94/16
explicitly [1]  21/17
explore [2]  55/21 70/10
express [1]  17/10
expressed [3]  10/25
 11/6 21/22
expressing [1]  84/14
expressly [1]  54/7
extended [1]  37/22
extends [1]  27/11
extension [5]  27/10
 28/15 28/16 32/8 39/4
extent [3]  8/10 52/7
 75/9
extraordinarily [1] 
 93/8
extremely [1]  30/7

F
fabric [1]  17/25
facilities [4]  13/9 13/11
 15/2 20/5
facility [4]  13/22 74/23
 75/5 75/7
facing [2]  11/18 28/25
fact [3]  29/25 37/8
 87/16
facts [1]  29/6
fair [1]  94/7
Fairway [1]  21/9
falls [1]  59/1
false [1]  15/11
familiar [1]  82/12
families [2]  17/20
 18/21
family [1]  17/13
family-friendly [1] 
 17/13
fan [1]  58/6
fantastic [1]  42/19
far [3]  8/25 37/7 63/11
Farr [4]  21/12 27/14
 27/22 28/22

fast [2]  31/5 69/11
favor [7]  24/9 46/3 47/5
 48/5 48/7 53/12 59/24
favorite [1]  14/8
favorites [1]  31/9
featuring [1]  31/2
February [5]  27/11
 39/8 39/14 39/14 79/9
February 28th [1] 
 39/14
fee [5]  15/4 15/19 73/4
 74/23 75/7
feedback [2]  34/25
 65/13
feel [12]  5/17 6/25 7/11
 7/16 12/8 43/17 48/7
 48/8 57/21 79/7 86/16
 94/6
feel-good [1]  12/8
feels [3]  5/12 6/23
 61/11
feet [1]  10/2
fellow [1]  19/23
Feore [1]  30/18
few [3]  16/13 39/18
 48/3
few years [1]  16/13
fiduciaries [2]  14/7
 14/8
fiefdom [1]  58/21
fifth [1]  69/14
figure [5]  17/22 25/24
 34/8 88/23 89/21
figures [1]  85/17
filed [3]  27/9 39/6 39/7
fill [4]  12/25 17/15
 46/15 46/22
filled [2]  25/11 69/13
final [5]  3/18 27/13
 32/6 93/21 96/9
finalizing [1]  85/14
finally [2]  16/21 45/4
finance [14]  15/1 22/15
 26/10 29/5 30/16 34/1
 34/5 36/20 42/23 48/14
 51/16 52/9 82/21 85/13
financial [10]  11/14
 21/17 21/20 21/25 23/7
 37/20 38/4 40/4 42/17
 44/5
Financially [1]  18/5
financials [4]  26/7 36/5
 36/5 86/17
find [5]  58/1 67/19
 86/22 87/22 95/7
findings [1]  21/19
fine [6]  6/21 7/3 52/11
 64/21 64/24 88/20
finishing [1]  29/13
fire [4]  8/19 20/7 70/1
 70/3
fired [1]  63/20
fires [2]  8/18 69/24
firm [1]  38/12
first [23]  7/20 8/3 8/4
 8/14 9/8 14/5 20/20
 24/23 28/5 34/18 37/4
 38/15 50/7 64/19 65/24
 67/4 74/15 74/19 79/24

Page 33 of 209



F
first... [4]  83/21 84/17
 85/1 89/19
fiscal [1]  29/7
fit [3]  31/20 65/11 81/3
fitness [1]  31/22
five [7]  5/11 27/20 46/9
 47/11 67/6 67/7 94/21
five or [1]  27/20
fix [1]  20/10
flags [1]  32/22
FlashVote [1]  50/21
flavor [1]  87/24
fleet [1]  52/4
flexibility [1]  40/22
floor [1]  13/14
flyer [1]  30/24
focus [3]  26/7 29/23
 35/14
focused [2]  30/15
 31/20
Fog [1]  31/10
folks [1]  40/22
follow [3]  71/20 80/6
 90/1
follow-up [1]  90/1
followed [1]  88/20
following [3]  26/12
 27/15 32/1
food [2]  31/3 31/3
foot [1]  9/11
forbids [1]  11/9
forefathers [1]  15/20
foregoing [1]  97/11
form [1]  12/23
formality [2]  74/17
 77/6
formally [4]  55/11
 55/22 83/6 83/6
former [2]  48/23 88/7
forth [1]  73/18
forum [1]  10/20
forward [9]  16/17
 25/23 38/11 54/2 64/16
 66/11 68/13 81/10
 86/15
found [6]  40/8 48/1
 54/21 60/15 82/9 88/2
Foundation [1]  92/6
four [16]  14/22 19/6
 23/2 24/15 47/20 54/23
 60/6 65/4 65/8 65/10
 65/13 66/12 66/15
 66/16 66/22 67/4
four years [1]  19/6
fourth [2]  69/6 81/8
frame [3]  25/13 26/17
 28/11
frames [1]  74/9
frankly [1]  75/4
fraud [3]  15/13 15/15
 15/17
free [2]  33/25 85/5
free hour [1]  85/5
Friday [1]  62/11
friendly [2]  17/13 93/8
front [2]  62/20 75/11
frustrating [1]  9/14

frustration [1]  84/14
fulfill [1]  30/5
full [5]  27/8 35/24
 58/24 58/25 97/11
fully [3]  10/15 57/3
 86/4
fun [1]  17/21
functionality [1]  32/13
fund [5]  22/19 22/20
 22/21 58/8 74/9
funds [4]  22/23 22/23
 44/15 73/9
funny [1]  35/9
further [8]  22/1 32/17
 45/10 53/11 64/8 78/12
 86/21 87/5
future [7]  11/25 14/25
 15/7 16/16 16/20 18/24
 31/18

G
GAAP [1]  90/23
GAC [2]  3/13 54/14
game [1]  41/13
gap [2]  17/15 42/24
garner [1]  10/8
GASB [1]  90/23
gates [2]  39/18 39/19
gathered [1]  10/23
gave [4]  12/8 12/9 85/2
 88/14
general [37]  1/3 3/7
 3/12 4/7 11/1 11/8
 11/16 12/5 16/11 22/19
 23/18 23/19 24/21
 29/24 32/25 45/10
 46/10 46/11 47/13
 54/11 55/12 55/14
 55/16 55/19 55/20 58/7
 60/7 60/14 62/19 62/21
 63/2 68/11 71/4 74/18
 76/6 78/21 84/14
generally [1]  21/18
generated [1]  83/24
gentlemen [1]  20/17
germane [1]  71/6
get [55]  5/19 9/19
 12/18 20/9 25/24 28/2
 28/11 29/1 32/23 32/23
 37/12 38/13 41/1 45/7
 48/4 49/24 56/6 63/11
 64/10 64/16 65/1 66/14
 67/5 67/6 67/7 67/8
 67/8 67/21 69/3 72/7
 73/4 76/1 76/8 76/9
 76/15 77/22 78/3 79/14
 80/9 81/5 81/23 84/21
 86/21 87/25 89/11
 89/12 89/18 89/18
 89/22 91/7 92/17 95/21
 95/24 95/24 95/25
getting [10]  8/25 28/8
 31/20 40/20 42/25
 65/11 77/18 94/5 95/15
 95/20
giant [1]  20/7
gifts [1]  22/22
give [10]  12/13 19/14
 28/24 29/14 55/19

 56/17 61/17 64/12
 81/11 95/17
given [6]  38/19 47/1
 47/19 69/11 86/18
 95/11
gives [4]  21/4 30/10
 78/9 87/23
giving [3]  73/25 93/16
 94/7
glad [2]  7/21 40/6
global [1]  12/25
GM [27]  19/17 20/9
 35/18 35/22 36/24
 41/23 47/25 48/21 55/6
 56/8 56/15 57/14 57/22
 59/3 59/11 59/17 60/20
 60/23 61/1 68/7 69/7
 78/9 78/11 83/25 94/6
 94/7 94/8
GM's [2]  3/9 24/19
GM-appointed [2] 
 56/15 57/14
GM/Director [1]  69/7
GMP2 [1]  32/5
go [25]  26/5 31/5 32/19
 39/20 40/2 40/6 41/21
 43/18 49/11 50/9 55/15
 63/9 64/4 64/7 64/8
 64/19 64/23 65/23
 69/10 74/15 78/10
 87/22 88/22 89/19
 95/23
goal [1]  41/10
goals [1]  25/23
goes [1]  25/20
going [59]  5/15 5/19
 6/2 6/10 6/11 9/9 9/21
 15/4 16/19 16/25 21/5
 25/7 27/7 28/19 28/21
 29/14 29/15 30/25
 30/25 31/5 32/20 32/20
 34/14 34/24 35/16
 36/22 37/5 37/11 38/7
 38/14 42/15 43/1 43/5
 43/6 44/10 44/20 49/13
 54/1 54/9 55/24 61/23
 61/25 62/17 68/13
 68/21 70/21 71/7 74/9
 77/19 80/12 80/17
 81/10 84/15 85/6 88/19
 92/16 94/12 95/23
 95/25
golf [11]  20/1 20/8 52/4
 54/17 58/2 59/14 59/20
 69/7 69/11 76/1 76/4
gone [2]  5/10 83/11
good [30]  4/6 6/5 10/3
 12/1 12/8 14/2 15/23
 16/3 16/9 16/17 17/4
 19/4 20/3 20/18 23/5
 27/3 35/2 45/4 46/18
 51/7 58/9 58/12 61/11
 71/15 78/23 84/2 84/5
 85/4 90/3 93/16
got [21]  6/17 16/18
 16/23 23/6 24/23 34/4
 39/13 40/10 40/23
 44/13 56/19 56/20
 61/25 63/19 65/15

 66/15 75/17 83/22
 89/15 93/12 95/4
got 20 [1]  63/19
gotta [1]  95/5
gotten [1]  39/18
Gove [1]  32/11
government [9]  12/11
 22/15 29/5 30/3 33/16
 48/14 51/16 52/9 53/20
governs [1]  77/4
grant [2]  14/24 32/8
granted [1]  14/20
grants [4]  70/8 70/12
 73/9 78/9
graph [1]  35/10
great [20]  13/17 21/6
 25/4 26/21 31/4 39/2
 40/24 41/14 52/15
 57/24 59/7 61/20 67/7
 71/9 79/17 81/24 91/10
 91/20 93/11 93/12
greatly [1]  17/24
Green [1]  20/6
greets [1]  34/20
Griffith [4]  36/24 39/13
 42/1 43/10
Griffith's [1]  36/19
Grignon [1]  17/5
grilled [1]  31/13
ground [1]  72/5
group [1]  31/22
groups [3]  13/23 56/25
 58/19
growing [1]  35/8
grown [1]  90/11
guaranteed [1]  15/8
guess [5]  36/23 63/10
 75/25 78/11 81/11
guessing [1]  34/11
guests [2]  68/23 69/1
guideline [1]  88/6
guidelines [2]  78/7
 95/17
guidelines and [1] 
 95/17
gung [1]  8/7
gung-ho [1]  8/7
guys [12]  6/3 6/4 7/24
 9/19 17/2 34/10 34/11
 63/15 63/23 64/11
 64/12 91/5
gymnasium [1]  31/23

H
had [47]  5/6 6/15 6/16
 8/17 12/17 13/23 18/10
 19/7 26/12 27/15 27/17
 28/5 30/7 34/19 34/22
 34/25 36/20 37/5 40/8
 41/9 41/19 41/19 44/4
 48/23 48/24 48/25 51/2
 51/19 53/20 53/23
 56/18 57/22 57/23 65/4
 65/5 69/6 69/6 69/14
 70/2 71/21 72/11 75/24
 84/2 88/24 89/3 90/11
 90/11
halls [1]  25/14
handcuffing [1]  64/13

handcuffs [2]  64/15
 75/21
handful [1]  62/2
handled [1]  87/9
happen [4]  5/16 6/7
 15/19 58/22
happened [11]  6/16
 6/17 7/9 7/16 12/17
 12/19 37/9 49/18 49/19
 57/17 95/3
happening [2]  57/5
 69/25
happy [8]  12/2 34/10
 49/20 53/3 54/25 66/20
 77/15 84/10
harassed [1]  6/9
harassment [1]  7/12
hard [5]  10/8 26/20
 28/16 28/21 39/11
Harold [1]  14/24
Harrison [2]  68/10
 70/24
Harry [1]  10/3
has [35]  5/6 5/10 5/11
 7/9 7/16 9/10 11/10
 13/14 18/10 19/7 20/13
 20/25 22/10 24/24 30/1
 30/3 31/25 34/24 35/4
 35/5 35/21 35/22 36/21
 39/6 41/20 42/19 45/3
 68/17 70/6 70/25 71/12
 73/6 75/19 83/9 87/21
hasn't [2]  75/18 75/20
hate [1]  11/15
hats [1]  93/15
have [170] 
having [18]  27/8 31/17
 35/2 50/8 55/22 56/18
 57/5 58/13 65/17 66/2
 67/18 75/12 76/7 80/16
 82/13 86/7 89/1 90/5
hazards [1]  20/7
he [8]  55/20 60/25
 60/25 82/13 82/14
 82/17 84/24 90/12
he's [5]  21/5 35/23
 93/11 93/12 94/6
head [1]  40/21
heads [2]  28/24 41/11
heads-up [1]  28/24
health [1]  18/16
healthy [1]  17/16
hear [8]  33/18 34/20
 37/5 43/13 50/1 51/3
 63/7 65/14
heard [5]  7/24 10/13
 14/13 19/20 19/21
hearing [2]  1/9 33/8
HEIDI [6]  2/12 23/23
 25/8 26/1 45/21 81/21
Held [1]  1/14
help [10]  33/11 33/22
 34/11 53/3 63/15 63/23
 63/25 64/16 70/11
 76/16
helpful [8]  35/19 36/13
 38/6 48/1 48/8 49/7
 50/12 63/6
helping [3]  30/1 30/4

Page 34 of 209



H
helping... [1]  34/23
helps [1]  77/24
hence [1]  86/1
her [12]  5/5 5/5 5/7
 5/24 7/2 11/6 27/14
 27/23 28/13 39/13
 42/22 42/22
here [37]  4/16 4/18
 4/20 4/22 5/3 7/1 7/2
 8/12 8/25 9/15 13/17
 16/13 16/14 16/16
 17/10 21/8 25/15 25/20
 27/4 28/18 31/9 34/5
 47/22 50/5 50/13 51/12
 52/10 55/4 58/24 61/6
 62/24 70/13 74/6 81/23
 86/15 92/13 93/6
here's [3]  9/22 94/13
 95/21
hereby [1]  97/4
herein [2]  97/9 97/10
Herron [5]  30/19 46/17
 47/17 54/20 60/13
herself [1]  10/24
hey [1]  89/7
Hi [1]  94/3
Hicks [1]  68/14
high [3]  13/4 13/11
 69/3
higher [1]  18/3
higher-impact [1]  18/3
hijack [1]  56/25
hijacked [2]  56/19
 56/20
hill [2]  20/2 20/4
him [7]  19/9 19/10
 19/14 21/5 60/24 84/16
 85/1
himself [1]  90/17
hire [1]  19/15
hired [3]  30/8 30/12
 42/18
hires [1]  38/7
hiring [1]  37/1
his [6]  19/8 21/3 47/1
 55/15 84/14 85/2
historical [2]  70/6 87/9
historically [1]  81/9
history [1]  88/19
ho [1]  8/7
hockey [1]  17/20
hold [2]  54/10 67/4
holding [2]  29/4 61/1
holiday [2]  17/24 93/5
HOMAN [10]  2/7 4/15
 25/1 41/20 44/3 46/25
 82/23 83/3 90/2 91/3
Homan's [2]  82/12
 94/13
hope [11]  7/13 7/21
 11/22 12/2 12/20 12/23
 15/19 21/4 31/15 59/5
 94/7
hopeful [1]  89/11
Hopefully [1]  31/5
hoping [4]  9/18 10/11
 13/25 92/14

horseradish [1]  31/14
hosting [1]  92/12
hotels [1]  68/23
hour [1]  85/5
hours [3]  9/1 21/1
 63/18
house [8]  5/7 6/24 9/6
 16/22 69/18 69/22
 72/22 72/23
how [33]  13/18 25/24
 26/25 27/1 34/24 36/22
 40/7 41/15 41/16 42/24
 44/9 48/18 49/6 53/23
 61/12 62/23 63/23
 64/11 66/16 66/18 68/9
 68/25 70/23 73/23 74/1
 74/9 75/22 75/22 77/19
 81/8 84/15 90/13 90/18
however [3]  9/18 86/21
 88/8
HR [2]  34/6 38/5
hub [2]  17/18 73/17
huge [1]  58/6
human [1]  30/7
hundred [1]  9/12
hundreds [1]  27/18
Hyatt [5]  68/21 69/1
 69/2 73/22 73/25

I
I urge [1]  18/22
I'd [26]  7/20 16/25
 20/20 20/21 21/3 25/3
 26/6 34/10 35/14 51/12
 61/22 63/13 67/11
 68/16 69/3 70/4 71/3
 72/6 73/2 73/19 75/18
 75/19 75/20 76/9 77/15
 78/4
I'll [11]  36/18 45/7 48/3
 52/24 54/25 56/17
 64/22 68/1 79/20 86/15
 90/4
I'm [75]  4/24 5/3 5/12
 5/13 5/16 5/22 5/23 6/1
 6/14 7/2 7/2 7/3 7/8
 7/21 7/21 8/11 9/15
 10/3 13/5 13/25 14/11
 16/10 16/15 16/20 17/9
 25/7 29/20 33/18 34/11
 35/13 36/22 37/2 40/6
 43/1 43/11 44/12 47/22
 48/2 48/5 48/11 49/6
 49/12 49/23 51/22
 52/21 53/3 55/3 58/5
 58/16 59/15 66/8 66/10
 66/20 67/24 68/13 69/7
 70/19 70/20 70/23 71/5
 71/7 71/15 71/15 71/17
 72/10 72/11 75/14
 77/18 77/19 80/21 86/5
 89/10 90/3 90/7 94/12
I've [22]  5/5 7/23 9/7
 13/16 14/13 14/19
 15/24 15/24 16/13 35/6
 39/18 63/19 71/19
 83/22 83/22 85/4 85/10
 85/11 87/24 87/24 89/1
 94/14

ice [13]  17/7 17/11
 17/15 17/18 18/5 18/10
 18/13 18/15 18/23 92/2
 92/6 92/6 92/12
idea [6]  49/10 51/15
 58/10 58/12 90/25 94/5
ideal [1]  65/13
Ideally [1]  40/23
ideas [3]  61/22 63/7
 79/21
identified [1]  82/17
Ignore [1]  19/23
ignored [1]  22/16
ill [2]  19/9 20/6
ill-tended [1]  20/6
imagine [1]  42/7
immediately [1]  89/18
impact [3]  18/3 70/14
 86/14
impacting [1]  90/18
impacts [1]  69/2
implicating [1]  5/22
implications [1]  22/12
importance [1]  74/10
important [7]  10/18
 25/5 36/4 49/4 49/25
 72/20 94/14
impressive [2]  10/6
 16/3
improved [1]  57/3
improvement [7]  1/3
 4/8 32/1 54/18 59/14
 59/20 87/15
improvements [2] 
 87/13 87/15
inappropriate [3]  34/3
 87/17 88/13
inaudible [2]  80/22
 86/21
INCLINE [13]  1/2 1/16
 3/21 4/7 9/11 10/6 14/3
 15/9 16/21 17/11 21/2
 37/14 92/6
include [3]  20/25 72/24
 79/25
included [3]  77/22
 79/20 85/20
includes [1]  30/17
including [5]  21/19
 32/14 64/1 85/8 91/18
inclusive [2]  17/17
 97/14
income [1]  73/24
inconsistent [1]  78/25
incorporate [1]  12/21
incorrect [1]  83/17
incorrectly [1]  71/25
increasing [2]  18/6
 70/10
incredible [1]  76/3
incredibly [1]  56/6
independent [1]  83/13
indicate [1]  20/12
indirectly [2]  8/13
 73/17
individual [5]  25/21
 27/18 27/24 36/14
 54/23
individually [1]  35/7

indoctrination [1] 
 34/18
inducement [2]  15/14
 15/15
inefficient [1]  63/19
inference [1]  67/24
info [1]  49/24
information [7]  9/22
 27/8 32/20 32/21 32/24
 41/6 84/3
informed [1]  21/15
initial [4]  3/5 4/24 5/1
 85/6
initially [1]  43/10
input [3]  44/7 56/7
 56/11
insanity [1]  20/15
insight [2]  61/17 80/9
installed [1]  23/2
instead [1]  66/12
insurance [1]  70/15
insuring [1]  58/13
intending [1]  54/7
intense [2]  25/11 28/10
interact [1]  93/9
interactions [1]  32/14
interested [4]  48/12
 66/9 92/10 94/6
interesting [1]  8/5
interests [4]  14/10
 56/20 56/25 58/19
interim [2]  36/19 41/23
internal [1]  22/20
interview [3]  11/6
 70/24 71/3
interviewing [1]  30/16
interviews [2]  30/20
 34/2
intimidated [1]  6/9
intimidation [1]  7/12
introduction [1]  82/12
investigated [2]  22/13
 90/13
investigations [1] 
 11/20
investment [4]  16/7
 18/23 54/18 59/21
invitation [1]  65/16
invite [1]  8/15
invited [2]  42/4 42/5
involve [2]  34/3 51/13
involved [6]  9/19 17/1
 78/13 82/13 82/14
 94/15
is [156] 
isolated [1]  89/10
issue [6]  7/5 44/7
 44/13 58/4 66/24 89/9
issued [4]  21/12 26/8
 86/7 86/11
issues [12]  19/13
 19/20 19/22 37/5 38/4
 48/3 71/8 77/5 82/16
 83/16 86/17 86/19
issuing [1]  15/17
it [135] 
it's [71]  4/5 6/19 6/20
 6/20 8/12 8/17 8/24
 9/11 9/14 9/21 13/6

 13/10 15/21 15/23
 18/13 19/6 25/5 26/20
 26/22 28/1 31/16 32/20
 33/24 35/9 35/16 36/3
 37/14 38/6 38/24 40/19
 43/6 43/17 45/1 45/4
 45/5 48/8 48/13 50/1
 50/2 51/4 53/25 56/23
 56/23 56/24 57/17
 58/12 61/11 63/21
 64/24 66/11 67/11
 67/20 69/24 70/24 72/8
 74/1 75/2 75/11 78/6
 78/10 83/11 87/13
 87/17 90/18 90/21 92/9
 92/11 92/13 93/2 95/23
 96/5
item [35]  24/17 45/16
 46/13 47/13 47/19
 50/16 51/23 51/25
 52/10 54/5 54/13 60/7
 61/5 61/7 68/5 68/13
 69/14 69/21 69/23
 74/16 74/19 76/12 82/2
 82/3 85/8 86/12 89/8
 91/7 91/10 91/12 91/20
 92/5 93/19 93/20 96/9
item H [1]  82/3
items [36]  27/17 27/18
 27/20 27/24 28/3 28/5
 28/12 45/25 60/11 62/8
 62/15 62/18 62/19 63/1
 63/3 63/12 67/2 67/10
 68/4 70/17 70/18 71/6
 71/10 71/13 72/21 78/1
 79/5 80/20 81/2 85/11
 85/21 86/13 89/5 89/21
 90/19 95/4
its [1]  57/10
itself [2]  17/12 77/12
IVGID [28]  1/25 6/14
 7/5 14/20 14/22 15/8
 15/10 16/7 16/20 17/7
 19/7 19/12 20/2 20/13
 21/15 21/24 22/8 22/10
 26/2 29/8 30/23 41/21
 45/17 45/18 70/11 87/5
 88/8 94/15
IVGID's [3]  11/14 15/6
 19/11

J
January [18]  1/18 4/8
 8/4 9/16 27/15 27/21
 28/19 31/1 33/14 39/6
 62/5 64/21 68/6 80/5
 80/14 81/10 97/6 97/16
January 13th [1]  27/21
January 16th [2]  62/5
 68/6
January 18th [1]  33/14
jazz [1]  13/18
Jennifer [3]  27/14
 27/22 28/13
Jessica [1]  42/18
JEZYCKI [4]  2/5 4/19
 25/1 49/11
Jezyski [1]  38/9
job [8]  1/25 18/8 20/3

Page 35 of 209



J
job... [5]  21/6 35/12
 42/19 78/6 93/11
jobs [2]  19/16 67/23
John [2]  7/19 20/22
join [2]  43/7 77/14
joint [2]  13/7 13/25
joke [1]  12/19
jumped [1]  82/13
June [4]  44/10 82/25
 85/7 85/18
just [79]  4/5 7/3 8/9 9/5
 9/14 12/7 12/19 13/18
 14/7 14/12 16/1 16/15
 16/18 16/21 17/8 19/6
 25/14 26/1 26/21 27/3
 28/7 28/24 31/8 33/7
 35/17 36/8 36/10 36/13
 37/14 37/21 38/1 38/4
 39/21 40/2 40/25 43/11
 44/6 48/13 50/12 51/9
 51/17 51/20 51/22 52/5
 53/19 54/1 54/2 54/4
 56/14 57/7 60/17 62/2
 62/15 62/22 65/10
 65/15 66/10 67/5 67/24
 69/10 71/16 74/14
 78/16 79/11 79/14
 79/23 80/14 80/17 81/6
 83/12 83/13 83/17
 87/23 91/25 92/25 93/8
 93/9 95/25 96/1

K
Katz [2]  14/2 19/20
keep [5]  6/5 20/2 49/13
 91/14 94/8
keeping [3]  39/22 48/8
 61/14
Kelly [1]  29/17
Ken [1]  24/21
Kent [3]  21/3 68/7 94/8
key [1]  50/1
kind [24]  9/20 12/11
 12/12 16/22 16/24 40/3
 40/6 40/8 40/22 41/1
 48/5 61/16 62/13 62/16
 62/22 74/23 75/6 75/25
 76/21 78/8 79/25 81/6
 81/11 89/20
kitchen [1]  13/21
Knaak [2]  20/19 94/3
know [57]  5/5 6/4 6/17
 7/14 8/12 9/15 9/20
 9/21 10/7 10/11 13/2
 13/15 13/15 13/23
 14/19 18/12 20/14
 20/14 21/10 33/11
 33/21 33/24 34/2 34/9
 34/10 36/4 38/22 40/10
 41/20 41/22 42/4 43/17
 43/19 45/1 50/13 50/17
 50/20 50/23 52/2 61/24
 62/4 62/6 62/19 63/21
 68/21 70/2 70/6 75/17
 76/5 76/19 78/4 80/12
 89/5 89/16 90/5 93/1
 94/4

knowing [1]  81/22
knows [1]  57/2
kudos [1]  26/1

L
lack [4]  19/21 44/7
 72/6 86/22
lacks [1]  22/4
ladies [1]  20/17
laid [1]  62/23
lake [3]  18/9 70/1
 92/13
land [1]  37/17
lands [1]  57/18
Langley [1]  29/17
language [1]  79/2
large [2]  79/8 85/24
largely [2]  86/1 87/4
last [26]  8/25 10/22
 12/18 19/6 20/11 23/10
 26/25 27/2 39/12 39/18
 40/7 41/22 42/4 43/17
 43/18 51/19 66/3 74/5
 76/10 80/5 81/8 83/23
 85/5 92/18 94/21 96/7
last year [5]  26/25 27/2
 51/19 66/3 76/10
late [3]  27/6 33/24
 80/13
later [5]  39/6 39/8 70/5
 81/4 96/2
law [6]  5/7 22/12 55/18
 56/3 71/22 72/16
Laws [2]  55/14 84/2
lawyer [1]  7/2
leadership [5]  34/6
 34/7 34/17 35/4 35/25
leads [1]  49/5
leagues [1]  17/20
learn [2]  16/7 50/11
learned [2]  71/24 83/22
learning [3]  17/19
 34/23 88/25
learnings [1]  85/3
least [6]  12/15 13/1
 19/14 21/1 38/13 50/16
least 14 [1]  21/1
leave [5]  5/12 7/12
 51/15 53/2 64/22
leaving [3]  5/4 5/8
 50/10
led [1]  86/20
ledger [2]  29/24 87/20
left [3]  27/19 83/3 83/4
legal [3]  2/11 6/20
 71/12
lens [1]  93/3
less [1]  19/12
less-than-stellar [1] 
 19/12
let [7]  10/10 33/11
 33/21 38/21 50/13
 74/15 76/18
let's [7]  23/12 50/6
 52/20 66/4 81/21 89/8
 89/8
letter [1]  39/3
leverage [4]  70/11
 73/23 74/2 74/14

leveraged [1]  70/8
liability [1]  22/21
liaising [1]  50/2
liaison [17]  3/13 47/12
 47/15 48/11 48/13
 48/15 48/22 48/25
 51/18 52/18 53/4 53/7
 53/8 54/8 56/12 58/14
 59/2
liaisons [3]  48/19 51/1
 54/6
library [1]  8/5
life [1]  18/20
lifts [1]  20/9
like [80]  6/3 7/20 8/8
 9/2 9/11 12/22 13/15
 17/1 17/23 18/3 18/9
 20/20 20/21 21/3 21/5
 23/25 24/25 25/3 26/6
 27/5 36/4 40/23 40/25
 43/7 43/17 48/8 49/7
 51/12 52/17 52/22 53/1
 57/22 58/4 58/11 60/25
 61/2 62/23 63/8 63/13
 64/18 64/20 64/22 65/1
 66/17 66/18 66/19
 67/11 68/3 68/16 68/18
 68/20 69/3 70/4 70/10
 71/14 71/20 72/6 72/18
 73/2 73/8 73/17 73/19
 73/23 74/6 74/25 75/18
 75/19 75/20 76/1 76/9
 77/8 78/5 79/7 79/8
 81/18 86/16 93/6 94/6
 95/24 96/1
liked [1]  57/24
likely [2]  22/5 85/15
limbo [1]  83/8
limited [1]  56/21
line [5]  5/18 6/22 85/8
 85/8 95/20
linked [1]  72/8
list [4]  74/4 74/12
 85/13 89/4
listed [1]  52/3
listen [1]  64/9
litigious [1]  72/11
little [16]  13/1 13/16
 18/14 31/8 32/21 38/3
 52/1 57/20 58/20 67/20
 80/13 80/15 81/20
 81/24 87/23 92/3
live [5]  1/11 7/7 10/4
 32/12 64/8
lived [3]  16/14 37/13
 37/14
loans [3]  22/22 22/24
 22/25
lobster [2]  31/11 33/18
local [7]  18/6 18/7
 22/15 29/5 48/13 51/16
 52/9
locals [1]  17/16
Lodge [1]  20/8
logistic [1]  95/5
long [25]  3/14 16/6
 60/8 60/10 60/23 60/25
 61/9 61/13 63/8 63/12
 66/6 67/2 67/10 67/22

 68/4 71/6 71/13 75/1
 75/6 75/8 75/13 77/24
 78/10 79/5 95/18
long-term [4]  75/1 75/6
 75/8 75/13
longer [1]  6/25
look [25]  25/18 32/20
 40/7 41/2 43/6 56/18
 57/23 61/2 63/25 65/14
 69/5 77/8 81/9 82/7
 82/21 87/14 88/21 89/8
 90/18 93/4 93/16 94/21
 95/2 95/18 96/3
look-back [2]  82/7
 82/21
looked [5]  12/22 16/2
 35/12 89/1 93/6
looking [13]  7/3 11/13
 11/16 32/24 39/3 58/6
 58/8 58/16 66/6 75/4
 77/17 83/17 93/2
looks [1]  60/23
lost [2]  9/10 76/5
lot [13]  5/24 6/11 6/12
 16/8 16/18 23/6 40/10
 40/11 73/10 76/4 76/5
 82/15 83/15
lots [1]  9/13
loudly [1]  73/6
love [3]  23/8 61/22
 63/7
lower [1]  10/4
luck [2]  11/22 23/5
ludicrous [1]  71/2

M
mac [2]  31/11 33/19
made [11]  8/8 10/20
 11/10 14/24 22/8 22/22
 22/23 37/1 37/12 87/2
 93/9
main [1]  79/2
maintained [1]  18/10
maintaining [1]  94/17
major [2]  87/13 87/15
majority [2]  10/24
 85/19
make [34]  7/10 7/14
 22/25 39/9 39/22 41/7
 42/21 43/2 43/16 46/21
 50/11 51/10 51/17
 51/23 54/23 57/10
 64/15 67/23 68/1 71/9
 72/3 72/23 73/19 73/20
 76/23 76/23 76/25
 79/11 79/14 79/18
 81/22 84/7 89/22 90/22
makes [2]  41/11 94/8
making [12]  8/22 14/12
 26/10 28/9 30/4 50/9
 57/18 58/5 59/16 74/19
 78/15 93/16
management [3]  20/2
 29/24 70/9
manager [16]  11/1
 11/8 16/11 16/13 19/7
 24/21 50/18 50/19
 55/12 55/14 55/17
 55/20 68/11 76/6 78/22

 84/14
manager's [3]  12/5
 33/1 45/11
managers [3]  35/3
 75/21 85/10
managing [3]  19/7
 20/3 29/1
mandated [1]  14/16
mandates [1]  21/21
Manger [2]  54/11 60/14
manned [1]  42/13
many [10]  10/13 18/2
 19/20 25/11 48/18
 66/17 66/18 86/22
 86/22 87/15
March [2]  79/10 82/25
March through [1] 
 82/25
Marketing [1]  30/23
matched [1]  31/13
material [4]  76/21 84/9
 86/6 86/14
materials [1]  12/14
matter [2]  41/10 67/21
matters [1]  22/18
maximize [1]  75/23
may [16]  8/23 42/10
 42/21 44/10 49/8 50/2
 50/3 50/3 50/4 76/2
 86/11 87/2 89/12 89/12
 89/13 92/18
maybe [14]  8/13 9/24
 10/1 12/25 12/25 20/2
 62/22 77/13 77/14 80/9
 80/12 80/14 84/6 84/21
McDonald [1]  68/15
me [18]  5/4 16/22 24/2
 32/11 33/11 33/18
 33/21 37/21 42/6 72/20
 74/15 84/4 85/2 88/25
 90/21 93/10 94/24
 95/24
mean [4]  5/21 22/17
 51/25 56/18
media [1]  10/23
meet [5]  21/15 27/7
 28/15 28/16 34/19
meeting [78]  1/10 3/10
 3/11 4/7 8/13 8/15 8/16
 9/17 9/25 11/2 11/3
 11/17 14/4 20/24 25/16
 25/21 28/20 29/9 29/11
 29/12 29/18 29/19
 32/14 32/15 35/4 36/11
 36/14 41/9 41/18 41/25
 43/5 45/14 45/15 45/17
 45/19 51/6 54/3 54/10
 55/14 55/18 56/3 57/23
 60/12 61/15 61/23 62/2
 62/5 62/6 62/7 63/1
 63/2 64/5 64/21 64/25
 65/5 65/16 66/4 69/16
 71/22 71/23 72/16
 74/17 76/14 76/20
 76/22 77/6 80/2 80/5
 80/18 80/19 80/21
 81/14 81/19 84/2 84/9
 96/13 96/14 97/7
meeting minutes [1] 

Page 36 of 209



M
meeting minutes... [1] 
 64/5
meetings [26]  5/3
 10/18 25/10 25/11
 42/20 42/21 43/3 63/18
 65/5 65/8 65/10 66/12
 66/15 66/16 66/17
 66/19 66/22 67/4 67/18
 68/2 69/19 72/4 74/19
 77/4 80/16 81/7
member [12]  2/8 6/23
 23/23 24/20 25/3 45/20
 46/16 47/16 54/19
 56/12 58/14 60/12
member's [1]  25/4
members [21]  2/3 5/20
 5/22 7/21 11/7 14/8
 16/2 16/24 19/10 19/15
 20/21 35/25 54/12 56/7
 56/9 60/18 70/25 71/1
 78/4 79/8 79/13
memo [2]  85/8 85/19
memorandums [1] 
 82/7
memos [8]  61/24 72/10
 82/16 84/18 84/20 85/6
 85/21 90/14
mention [4]  13/3 34/18
 40/3 72/12
mentioned [7]  36/20
 41/19 71/22 72/22 79/6
 80/16 84/12
merit [1]  86/23
Michael [1]  19/5
MICHAELA [3]  2/4 16/5
 24/1
MICHELLE [6]  2/5 24/1
 34/4 34/11 53/1 53/7
Michelle's [1]  74/22
MICK [4]  2/7 24/2 43/7
 69/14
Mick's [1]  43/4
mid [1]  82/25
might [5]  7/24 12/22
 47/21 50/8 73/23
migrated [1]  32/12
Mike [4]  20/3 30/18
 32/11 60/14
million [15]  15/4 15/5
 15/17 26/14 26/15
 26/16 26/18 70/8 83/16
 84/24 85/18 89/1 95/10
 95/13 95/13
million, [1]  26/15
million, net [1]  26/15
mind [2]  72/3 75/21
minute [1]  43/17
minutes [18]  3/10 3/11
 14/4 45/14 45/15 45/17
 45/19 56/3 57/23 58/17
 58/18 64/1 64/5 69/16
 76/15 76/20 76/22
 95/12
missed [2]  65/4 76/4
missing [1]  73/10
mission [1]  81/12
misunderstanding [1] 

 22/10
misunderstandings [1]
 84/6
mitigation [2]  70/9
 70/13
model [1]  19/12
Monday [2]  8/4 62/1
monetize [1]  73/4
money [7]  8/22 17/6
 19/12 38/1 45/3 56/5
 58/7
month [12]  10/22
 29/22 30/8 44/17 44/17
 65/8 65/10 65/25 66/12
 66/23 67/5 67/18
monthly [3]  3/9 24/19
 73/4
months [6]  17/21 18/2
 26/8 26/20 27/1 69/7
months' [1]  34/19
more [36]  12/25 15/18
 17/25 25/24 26/11
 36/18 37/25 48/8 49/7
 54/24 56/14 56/15
 56/23 59/10 59/23
 63/15 63/23 64/1 64/15
 64/17 70/16 74/6 74/20
 75/5 75/10 77/16 77/19
 77/23 87/6 91/25 94/14
 94/25 95/25 96/1 96/1
 96/1
morning [6]  29/12
 31/10 42/20 43/2 62/11
 88/3
Moss [6]  86/25 87/2
 87/7 87/12 88/4 88/10
most [2]  45/2 77/2
mostly [1]  30/9
motion [15]  24/4 24/15
 45/22 46/22 53/5 53/18
 55/22 59/12 60/6 61/6
 65/4 65/5 65/7 65/18
 66/10
Motion's [1]  47/11
motions [1]  54/23
Mountain [1]  20/7
move [21]  4/24 6/24
 23/12 24/8 25/23 27/5
 30/21 38/11 45/24
 46/24 53/6 59/10 59/13
 59/13 59/19 62/15
 62/25 64/16 65/8 76/16
 80/25
moved [3]  28/8 61/25
 65/9
moves [2]  54/13 60/7
moving [9]  4/12 16/17
 23/17 24/17 29/21
 34/14 45/12 46/10 62/7
Mr [9]  4/15 4/17 15/14
 82/7 82/12 82/22 82/22
 88/16 90/4
Mr. [25]  19/8 19/19
 19/20 19/22 26/4 33/2
 44/1 46/25 52/13 68/14
 70/24 82/15 82/19
 82/23 83/2 83/3 83/25
 84/12 84/22 88/3 90/2
 90/5 90/16 91/3 93/11

Mr. Bandelin [1]  93/11
Mr. Dobler [8]  19/22
 82/15 82/23 83/25
 84/12 84/22 88/3 90/16
Mr. Harrison [1]  70/24
Mr. Hicks [1]  68/14
Mr. Homan [4]  46/25
 83/3 90/2 91/3
Mr. Katz [1]  19/20
Mr. Navazio [1]  83/2
Mr. Nolet [2]  82/19
 90/5
Mr. Walrack [6]  19/8
 19/19 26/4 33/2 44/1
 52/13
Ms [1]  49/11
Ms. [4]  4/19 4/21 36/24
 81/16
Ms. Griffith [1]  36/24
Ms. Jezycki [1]  4/19
Ms. Tonking [1]  4/21
Ms. White [1]  81/16
much [15]  21/7 23/9
 33/6 40/1 56/14 56/15
 58/7 64/11 70/5 73/14
 82/12 92/16 94/10
 94/14 96/6
mud [1]  5/19
multiple [1]  11/20
Munis [4]  29/22 30/2
 42/17 42/23
music [1]  72/25
Musical [1]  49/17
must [2]  21/21 65/4
mutually [1]  72/4
my [52]  7/19 16/10
 17/4 17/6 19/4 19/6
 22/3 31/9 33/12 33/25
 35/10 35/14 37/16 39/3
 39/17 48/17 49/14
 49/23 50/16 51/14
 51/15 55/10 55/25
 58/23 63/10 63/17
 63/20 67/8 70/17 72/3
 72/21 74/4 74/12 74/15
 74/19 74/22 75/20 78/3
 85/1 85/5 85/11 86/8
 88/25 89/24 92/9 92/11
 92/13 93/15 94/15 95/2
 95/16 97/12
myriad [1]  19/22
myself [3]  4/23 30/19
 84/19

N
name [3]  7/19 17/4
 19/5
names [1]  74/18
natural [1]  37/15
nature [2]  87/14 87/21
Navazio [1]  83/2
navigating [1]  74/8
Nay [1]  60/5
near [3]  13/5 16/22
 85/16
necessary [1]  73/16
need [47]  5/12 6/24
 7/12 11/19 11/20 23/3
 25/12 28/13 32/23

 33/10 33/21 33/22
 39/24 40/21 48/6 48/6
 49/9 52/7 53/24 57/4
 60/20 60/22 62/20
 63/14 63/24 65/1 66/2
 66/14 66/16 69/8 71/25
 74/7 75/3 75/6 75/7
 75/7 75/15 76/8 78/13
 85/13 85/16 86/16
 87/11 89/22 91/14 95/4
 96/3
needed [5]  12/14 28/11
 35/13 50/2 76/23
needs [6]  14/14 57/11
 67/7 69/12 82/11 94/19
neglect [1]  20/10
net [2]  26/15 26/16
Nevada [11]  1/16 4/1
 10/17 11/13 11/16
 11/24 22/4 29/3 29/10
 97/1 97/15
Nevada's [1]  11/17
never [6]  7/24 9/9
 12/17 12/19 14/10
 21/11
Nevertheless [1]  20/11
new [34]  7/21 7/24
 10/5 10/24 11/1 11/8
 11/11 12/2 13/10 13/13
 14/6 14/14 16/1 19/10
 19/15 19/19 20/12
 20/21 24/16 24/25 30/1
 30/24 31/21 32/16 34/4
 38/7 42/18 48/13 49/16
 51/11 61/10 85/2 86/2
 94/7
new year [2]  12/2
 31/21
newly [4]  19/14 33/9
 88/21 88/22
news [1]  26/7
next [20]  9/17 20/23
 23/12 26/6 27/5 27/19
 28/8 30/21 30/22 31/1
 41/11 51/5 54/3 54/10
 61/23 69/22 80/25 91/1
 92/17 95/9
next year [2]  41/11
 95/9
nice [8]  24/24 32/10
 41/3 43/23 54/1 80/6
 80/8 93/13
nights [1]  17/24
nine [1]  28/5
ninth [1]  28/7
no [21]  6/3 6/25 9/12
 13/10 21/12 22/8 22/22
 23/17 33/16 34/17
 37/11 39/8 40/8 45/10
 50/3 50/4 57/14 61/6
 65/15 71/15 90/20
NOBLE [9]  2/6 4/17
 15/14 50/24 59/8 68/3
 80/20 94/5 94/12
Nolet [4]  82/19 82/20
 82/22 90/5
nominate [1]  23/25
nominations [1]  23/24
non [3]  22/23 70/25

 71/1
non-board [2]  70/25
 71/1
non-refundable [1] 
 22/23
none [4]  38/18 63/3
 83/6 93/24
normally [2]  5/2 35/18
North [2]  9/22 70/1
not [111] 
notes [2]  97/8 97/13
nothing [4]  22/17 57/2
 83/5 95/19
notice [2]  44/9 52/3
noticed [3]  34/16 44/14
 79/14
November [2]  14/21
 45/18
now [24]  5/7 5/9 8/17
 9/11 10/15 13/19 14/6
 16/14 22/18 25/22
 27/11 43/12 48/21
 49/21 52/16 64/13 66/6
 67/20 79/23 81/19 89/1
 95/2 95/11 95/12
nowhere [2]  85/16
 95/23
NRS [5]  21/16 22/11
 22/24 29/7 38/25
NRSs [1]  78/15
nuance [1]  58/2
number [5]  1/25 12/11
 15/25 37/10 44/18
number of [2]  12/11
 15/25
number will [1]  44/18
numbers [1]  44/3
numerous [1]  19/11
nurture [2]  73/12 73/13

O
o'clock [3]  4/6 9/16
 81/16
o0o [2]  2/14 4/2
objections [1]  51/8
obligate [1]  57/8
observation [1]  74/22
observations [1]  87/12
obtain [1]  22/9
obvious [1]  45/1
obviously [5]  25/23
 42/16 44/13 44/16
 44/20
occur [1]  32/7
occurred [1]  38/22
occurring [1]  58/5
October [10]  26/8
 26/12 32/9 40/5 40/14
 40/15 40/16 44/12
 44/16 45/5
October 15 [1]  32/9
October 2024 [1]  26/12
October of [1]  40/14
October to [1]  40/15
October were [1]  26/8
off [9]  23/4 28/3 54/10
 73/5 74/14 85/16 85/23
 89/20 93/15
offer [4]  18/19 34/1

Page 37 of 209



O
offer... [2]  43/4 61/22
offered [2]  37/21 41/21
offering [1]  17/16
offers [3]  33/7 37/1
 37/19
office [1]  14/11
officers [5]  3/7 23/20
 23/22 24/1 24/16
officially [2]  82/25
 84/18
often [2]  87/1 87/8
oh [2]  9/8 33/17
okay [16]  33/23 36/16
 38/21 39/16 42/7 43/13
 46/3 52/22 54/13 61/3
 62/9 71/18 80/23 84/4
 88/14 89/21
old [1]  8/5
Olympic [1]  16/11
once [3]  11/10 28/12
 42/20
one [61]  8/3 8/4 8/11
 8/16 9/23 10/22 12/4
 12/6 12/20 15/4 25/19
 25/21 25/23 27/7 28/7
 31/9 35/6 37/10 38/9
 39/17 40/17 42/4 46/14
 46/22 47/24 48/12
 48/14 48/25 49/1 49/1
 49/2 49/2 51/14 51/18
 54/4 54/23 55/8 55/8
 59/5 60/6 60/17 61/5
 61/20 66/12 67/5 67/18
 68/5 69/6 71/19 72/21
 74/5 74/15 77/16 79/6
 86/23 86/24 87/7 87/20
 90/14 92/1 95/1
ones [4]  31/17 35/6
 45/1 80/25
ongoing [1]  86/8
online [2]  31/6 93/25
only [9]  10/24 35/18
 40/15 52/3 69/1 70/15
 79/6 79/16 80/12
open [15]  10/18 10/20
 11/2 11/17 39/22 49/9
 55/14 55/18 56/3 60/9
 62/7 71/22 72/16 84/1
 89/6
opening [1]  93/5
operate [6]  15/1 56/14
 63/15 63/23 64/1 77/19
operating [4]  75/12
 75/22 77/24 77/25
operational [1]  74/3
opinion [7]  19/6 21/12
 21/20 21/22 22/1 22/9
 76/15
opportunities [8] 
 17/14 17/22 18/1 18/8
 34/15 72/8 73/10 73/24
opportunity [1]  55/21
opposed [1]  60/4
opposite [1]  26/22
options [1]  47/20
order [1]  23/13
Ordinance [2]  57/22

 68/23
organization [1]  19/8
original [2]  14/16
 14/18
other [35]  5/20 5/21
 5/23 8/23 11/7 13/3
 13/16 13/21 13/23 15/2
 15/12 22/18 24/7 35/19
 35/25 36/23 38/2 38/4
 39/3 39/17 41/17 43/25
 48/3 48/11 48/14 51/2
 51/4 51/18 52/13 60/19
 65/1 74/1 90/24 92/23
 93/18
others [3]  14/13 48/7
 74/11
Otherwise [2]  62/10
 90/25
our [88]  5/10 10/5
 10/10 10/12 10/13 11/1
 11/18 11/21 13/8 13/25
 14/10 14/13 14/14
 14/16 14/18 15/18
 15/20 17/12 17/25 18/6
 18/18 18/19 18/23
 19/10 20/3 20/5 20/12
 24/25 25/8 25/9 25/23
 26/7 26/10 27/7 27/8
 27/11 28/12 28/15
 29/13 29/14 29/21
 29/23 30/4 30/5 30/9
 30/12 30/20 30/23
 31/19 31/22 31/25 32/9
 32/12 35/3 36/8 36/10
 38/15 40/23 41/9 42/20
 42/21 43/2 45/2 46/20
 48/16 58/7 58/8 58/15
 59/3 59/3 65/23 68/14
 68/23 69/4 71/23 73/2
 73/5 73/24 74/2 79/24
 81/12 93/10 94/5 94/7
 95/1 95/8 95/14 95/21
out [34]  6/24 8/25
 12/25 15/11 19/18
 25/24 34/8 36/22 44/5
 44/17 44/19 61/24 62/1
 62/23 63/21 67/25 69/4
 70/25 73/10 74/8 76/4
 76/5 77/11 81/16 81/22
 82/2 82/22 86/11 86/25
 88/23 89/21 91/10
 93/19 94/5
outcomes [1]  72/12
outdone [1]  31/12
outdoor [1]  17/14
outside [3]  22/11 49/8
 49/8
outsource [4]  19/25
 19/25 19/25 20/1
Outsourcing [1]  20/9
outstanding [1]  27/17
over [16]  5/6 13/4
 13/11 15/25 20/15
 20/16 26/20 27/19
 39/18 50/22 54/24
 83/23 85/5 85/6 90/11
 92/3
overall [2]  31/23 78/7
overdeveloped [1]  9/9

override [2]  22/4 22/7
own [10]  8/22 35/17
 36/13 55/15 55/25
 57/10 58/20 58/20
 58/21 73/3
owners [3]  15/8 15/9
 15/10

P
p.m [4]  4/1 31/1 96/13
 96/14
packet [8]  36/15 47/19
 54/21 61/6 61/8 61/19
 76/15 76/21
packets [3]  32/15
 61/15 82/10
packs [1]  60/16
page [11]  3/1 44/12
 47/18 48/9 54/21 54/22
 60/15 61/5 61/8 61/18
 72/12
page 229 [1]  47/18
pages [4]  46/20 82/10
 85/9 97/13
pages 219 [1]  46/20
paid [1]  15/3
pain [2]  9/5 40/13
painting [1]  32/6
paired [1]  31/10
panel [1]  30/17
parings [1]  31/3
park [3]  32/9 56/19
 57/19
parking [3]  9/13 73/1
 93/6
parks [12]  15/2 31/19
 49/2 50/18 51/1 52/4
 52/16 52/20 52/21 53/4
 53/8 92/4
part [11]  3/7 17/3 23/19
 36/15 38/24 51/12 55/8
 75/2 83/13 83/23 85/24
participants [2]  31/22
 31/24
participate [3]  16/25
 31/16 56/13
participating [1]  17/20
particular [5]  12/5
 13/13 61/7 61/17 75/1
particularly [1]  18/18
parties [1]  25/13
partners [2]  48/16 49/9
pass [2]  33/4 49/20
passed [4]  75/17 75/19
 83/2 83/10
passes [3]  46/9 53/18
 60/6
past [7]  35/22 45/2
 49/19 57/17 58/23
 74/24 86/19
paused [1]  83/1
pay [2]  15/4 73/4
payable [1]  29/24
paying [2]  15/5 15/18
peak [6]  30/10 36/21
 45/2 60/14 93/1 93/15
peanut [2]  40/25 44/6
peering [1]  11/20
pending [3]  3/16 91/11

 91/13
penetrate [2]  57/11
 57/12
people [24]  5/17 5/21
 5/23 6/2 6/6 6/8 6/12
 8/17 8/21 8/23 8/24
 9/15 23/8 34/5 39/20
 50/1 57/23 58/20 63/21
 73/4 73/11 74/18 79/15
 95/24
people's [1]  63/7
pepper [1]  31/14
per [3]  31/22 31/24
 72/12
percent [2]  9/12 94/24
Perfect [1]  62/9
perhaps [1]  42/9
peril [1]  19/23
period [1]  83/3
permission [1]  69/4
perpetrating [1]  15/17
person [5]  25/7 25/7
 37/13 37/14 41/20
personally [1]  8/20
personned [1]  42/13
perspective [5]  38/6
 42/14 56/5 56/5 63/17
perspectively [1]  87/9
phase [1]  30/21
phone [2]  19/2 43/21
pickleball [3]  49/1 52/5
 54/7
picture [1]  7/4
piece [1]  54/4
pieces [1]  41/6
pier [1]  68/17
pipeline [4]  6/5 23/1
 32/4 96/2
place [10]  13/24 14/12
 18/17 33/8 56/9 73/20
 77/5 88/7 88/18 90/14
placed [1]  71/10
placement [1]  71/6
plan [18]  8/2 8/8 8/20
 9/17 20/25 34/19 51/8
 61/14 74/5 75/1 75/2
 75/6 75/8 75/13 86/9
 86/12 91/9 95/21
planned [2]  28/6 62/10
planning [4]  12/21
 29/20 32/3 41/22
platform [1]  32/13
please [3]  33/11 53/12
 59/24
pleased [1]  12/6
PLEDGE [4]  3/3 4/9
 4/10 4/11
plus [1]  85/9
point [9]  21/23 26/23
 43/15 60/17 74/22 86/5
 88/9 88/25 92/20
pointing [1]  67/24
policies [10]  11/24
 78/22 87/3 87/3 87/6
 88/7 88/21 88/22 88/24
 90/22
policy [14]  10/19 63/25
 64/14 64/18 75/16 77/3
 77/4 78/20 78/23 78/25

 87/8 87/8 91/16 91/17
pop [2]  30/24 31/16
pop-up [2]  30/24 31/16
portions [1]  85/11
position [9]  19/9 28/14
 30/16 37/25 38/19
 46/15 46/23 69/12
 73/14
positions [12]  11/12
 37/1 37/2 37/8 37/11
 37/23 38/2 38/10 38/12
 48/11 48/25 54/8
positive [4]  16/20
 26/18 27/3 70/14
possibility [1]  92/12
possible [3]  58/7 92/16
 92/16
possibly [3]  47/14 66/2
 80/25
posting [1]  87/20
potential [3]  38/17
 88/6 88/11
potentially [1]  55/12
power [1]  14/21
practice [2]  36/9 52/10
preference [2]  78/3
 79/24
preferred [1]  87/8
prep [1]  42/21
preparation [1]  25/10
prepare [2]  25/9 36/11
prepared [4]  12/13
 14/9 25/22 38/7
preparing [5]  12/24
 15/16 29/11 33/22
 82/16
present [7]  2/3 2/10
 15/24 29/15 42/5 42/5
 97/6
presented [4]  36/10
 83/6 83/7 92/8
presenting [1]  61/8
presently [1]  20/3
Preservation [1]  9/23
pressing [1]  65/1
pressure [1]  23/2
pretty [2]  55/17 94/14
previous [3]  54/6
 63/20 71/16
previously [4]  16/12
 19/24 60/18 86/7
pricing [3]  75/16 75/23
 79/18
prides [1]  17/12
prior [12]  29/10 34/2
 41/5 41/15 51/19 54/8
 79/18 82/18 82/19
 84/20 85/25 86/24
prior year [1]  41/5
priorities [1]  75/15
prioritize [1]  18/22
priority [1]  40/19
private [1]  11/2
probably [9]  8/6 34/7
 55/22 62/25 76/4 78/13
 79/8 89/6 95/14
problem [3]  5/9 5/10
 56/22
problems [3]  11/25

Page 38 of 209



P
problems... [2]  19/11
 95/5
procedure [1]  6/20
proceedings [2]  97/8
 97/13
process [9]  16/7 30/22
 34/10 37/7 69/10 71/3
 78/5 85/22 91/17
procurement [1]  62/18
producing [1]  42/25
product [2]  15/13
 75/23
productive [2]  12/3
 72/17
program [6]  12/9 12/10
 13/1 30/13 79/25 80/8
programs [2]  13/12
 17/23
progress [4]  26/10
 28/9 28/18 30/5
progressing [2]  35/6
 41/16
project [10]  16/25 32/1
 32/4 32/9 58/22 80/1
 80/8 82/7 82/22 83/1
projects [10]  49/3 52/5
 87/12 87/13 87/15
 94/22 95/1 95/14 95/20
 95/22
promised [3]  8/14 8/15
 15/21
promote [1]  18/16
proper [1]  58/18
properly [2]  19/16 44/5
properly-spread-out
[1]  44/5
property [3]  15/8 15/9
 15/10
proposal [3]  24/4 47/4
 76/19
proposals [2]  24/7
 70/22
proposed [4]  12/9
 60/11 71/1 82/20
proposing [1]  66/14
protect [1]  70/16
protection [2]  10/20
 70/1
proud [1]  93/10
provide [11]  10/23
 17/22 18/16 50/12
 56/10 60/11 60/23
 60/24 69/8 72/16 92/21
provided [12]  13/8
 21/13 35/23 45/25
 61/18 78/6 85/12 87/25
 89/2 89/4 89/6 94/22
providing [1]  22/6
provision [1]  78/25
PRR [1]  87/22
PSD [1]  16/11
public [31]  1/10 3/5
 3/16 3/18 4/25 5/1 5/5
 8/2 13/12 14/21 15/2
 20/1 20/11 30/13 31/25
 43/7 52/4 54/6 57/2
 57/5 57/18 71/8 78/24

 91/11 91/13 91/17 92/1
 93/21 93/22 96/10 97/7
public's [2]  14/7 14/8
published [3]  30/24
 36/6 40/14
purchasing [1]  78/23
purposely [1]  89/17
pursuant [1]  29/7
push [1]  57/20
pushes [1]  78/12
pushing [2]  28/20
 80/14
put [15]  5/24 16/7
 25/17 35/11 41/4 63/21
 64/18 64/24 65/2 72/18
 74/16 75/15 80/6 81/4
 95/11
puts [2]  28/14 75/21
putting [1]  29/13

Q
qualified [3]  5/17 6/1
 6/4
qualify [1]  87/16
quality [3]  6/6 18/20
 95/24
quarter [1]  15/4
quarter million [1] 
 15/4
question [11]  36/23
 39/3 41/8 42/10 47/24
 55/25 61/21 77/16 83/9
 83/15 83/21
questioning [1]  6/18
questions [19]  33/5
 33/7 36/1 36/18 38/8
 41/17 42/9 42/15 43/25
 44/24 45/10 47/22
 47/23 54/25 55/2 85/13
 87/25 89/4 89/7
queue [3]  23/11 94/2
 96/8
quick [1]  61/20
quicker [1]  56/23
quickly [2]  63/15 89/11
quite [5]  8/5 8/24 12/6
 73/6 81/5

R
raise [3]  10/2 74/6 77/5
raised [1]  83/16
Raley's [1]  9/16
range [15]  3/14 60/8
 60/10 60/24 60/25 61/9
 61/13 63/8 67/2 67/10
 68/4 71/6 71/13 79/5
 95/19
rates [1]  76/8
rather [7]  15/16 40/25
 50/5 55/10 56/16 57/5
 73/18
RAY [4]  2/8 49/13
 65/10 80/13
Raymond [1]  82/9
re [1]  73/12
re-nurture [1]  73/12
reach [2]  69/4 81/22
reached [1]  64/6
reaching [1]  53/1

read [4]  34/20 64/3
 84/4 85/1
readdress [1]  75/20
reading [4]  34/16 51/9
 51/22 72/10
ready [2]  64/19 64/23
real [8]  9/4 9/7 16/19
 16/23 43/1 64/4 83/9
 94/16
realize [1]  6/19
really [20]  5/12 7/3
 11/19 11/19 13/20
 13/24 16/15 35/2 35/19
 41/2 42/22 49/24 50/1
 61/11 66/8 74/7 79/2
 93/9 93/13 96/3
reason [3]  6/3 9/15
 79/2
reasons [3]  8/11 37/10
 37/20
rec [16]  12/7 15/3
 15/18 20/6 31/23 49/2
 50/19 51/2 52/4 52/16
 52/20 52/21 53/4 53/8
 92/4 95/3
recall [4]  6/18 6/18
 65/7 65/17
received [2]  10/9 29/17
recently [2]  75/5 85/12
reckless [1]  87/18
recognize [3]  25/3 25/6
 25/7
recommend [2]  43/9
 46/25
recommendation [3] 
 46/21 51/12 59/16
recommendations [4] 
 52/3 57/11 86/25 87/2
recommended [1]  51/3
recommending [1] 
 91/16
recorded [1]  22/21
records [4]  3/16 91/11
 91/13 91/17
recreation [8]  13/12
 14/17 14/21 15/12
 17/14 18/15 30/12
 31/19
recreational [1]  15/1
recruiting [3]  37/7 37/9
 38/12
recruitment [1]  69/10
red [2]  31/12 31/14
redactions [4]  3/16
 91/11 91/12 91/19
reestablish [1]  73/13
refer [2]  46/20 47/18
referring [2]  38/9 54/22
refresh [1]  84/19
refundable [2]  22/22
 22/23
regard [2]  7/5 7/6
regarding [7]  11/5 11/8
 29/6 29/8 78/22 78/24
 87/13
Regardless [1]  90/15
regards [9]  28/25 30/5
 32/11 35/10 35/14 37/6
 42/16 43/4 68/14

regular [1]  4/7
rejected [1]  38/11
related [6]  29/6 30/10
 73/16 75/25 75/25
 85/19
relates [1]  68/15
relationships [4]  73/9
 73/13 73/20 73/21
released [1]  62/10
relevant [1]  69/24
relief [1]  23/2
relying [1]  28/22
remained [1]  83/12
remarkable [1]  95/7
remedy [2]  15/15 15/19
remember [1]  79/10
remind [1]  10/16
remote [1]  67/14
removing [1]  48/6
render [1]  87/9
Reno [2]  29/19 97/15
repaid [1]  15/6
repair [1]  73/21
repeat [1]  85/21
repeatedly [1]  86/18
replacement [2]  32/4
 86/3
reply [2]  84/16 85/2
report [25]  3/9 3/15
 12/5 12/8 21/4 24/19
 26/12 29/13 33/1 33/3
 35/18 35/23 35/23
 35/24 36/2 36/9 36/14
 36/20 39/5 40/23 45/11
 82/4 82/6 91/8 95/7
reported [2]  1/24 31/20
reporter [1]  69/16
reporting [4]  42/18
 82/18 83/17 86/20
reports [9]  3/8 12/6
 24/18 34/17 34/22
 35/20 40/4 83/5 83/6
represent [1]  86/2
representation [2] 
 33/10 33/21
representations [2] 
 14/25 15/10
reputations [1]  5/18
request [3]  28/20 65/6
 68/12
requested [1]  29/18
requesting [8]  23/22
 24/20 45/20 46/15
 47/16 54/19 60/12 82/8
requests [7]  3/16
 23/15 23/17 25/11
 57/18 91/11 91/13
require [2]  21/25 35/25
required [4]  12/13
 22/24 27/8 27/22
requirements [6]  21/16
 22/11 29/7 55/18 69/20
 76/14
requires [2]  21/17
 78/25
rescission [1]  15/16
research [1]  26/24
researched [1]  82/17
Residence [1]  69/2

resolve [2]  19/13 89/8
resolved [4]  68/9 85/22
 88/1 89/23
Resort [1]  60/14
resource [4]  30/1 30/3
 37/15 56/5
resources [2]  30/7
 38/20
respect [1]  78/20
respectful [1]  72/4
respond [3]  20/21 36/1
 84/1
response [5]  36/12
 80/22 85/1 88/2 92/1
responsibilities [4] 
 10/16 11/15 14/15 30/6
responsibility [1]  72/3
responsible [2]  57/13
 59/2
rest [2]  78/4 80/25
restatement [1]  86/6
restaurant [1]  20/1
restrictive [1]  75/24
restrooms [1]  20/7
results [5]  12/10 20/16
 26/11 26/13 42/25
return [1]  14/14
revenue [1]  75/23
revenues [1]  12/16
review [8]  40/9 46/13
 47/14 54/16 77/21 82/5
 85/8 88/5
reviewed [4]  25/12
 71/12 85/17 86/13
Revised [2]  10/17 22/4
revisit [4]  68/16 73/8
 77/20 78/5
Rica [1]  67/14
rid [1]  94/5
ridiculous [1]  70/23
right [15]  15/14 26/9
 26/25 36/7 40/12 42/9
 43/12 48/21 48/22
 52/16 64/13 66/6 71/17
 79/23 96/5
ring [1]  24/24
rink [11]  17/8 17/11
 17/15 17/18 18/5 18/13
 18/15 18/23 92/2 92/7
 92/12
rinks [1]  18/11
roasted [1]  31/14
Robert [1]  68/10
role [3]  46/25 52/23
 58/5
roll [3]  3/4 4/12 4/14
rolled [1]  36/22
rollout [1]  32/16
room [6]  9/20 9/25
 13/19 72/15 93/23
 93/24
roots [1]  14/14
rosy [1]  8/24
round [2]  17/13 34/14
RUDIN [1]  2/11
rules [4]  22/16 72/5
 87/1 88/18
rumor [1]  17/9
run [3]  14/11 20/8

Page 39 of 209



R
run... [1]  80/15
running [6]  16/5 17/2
 44/15 44/19 92/17 93/7

S
sad [1]  20/5
safe [2]  17/16 18/16
safety [1]  68/17
said [11]  5/20 5/25
 7/23 19/25 50/8 61/5
 76/7 86/8 89/1 95/9
 97/13
salaries [2]  44/11
 44/15
salary [2]  37/20 45/2
same [9]  11/6 20/13
 20/15 34/12 48/9 58/4
 60/20 77/3 97/9
sample [5]  61/9 61/18
 62/13 62/17 62/24
Sara [2]  5/4 7/15
sat [1]  58/1
satisfy [1]  70/20
Saturday [2]  31/1
 33/15
save [2]  58/7 69/17
saw [4]  9/1 36/7 62/2
 65/6
say [19]  8/24 9/8 9/18
 16/1 16/15 16/21 24/23
 37/24 50/3 50/3 50/3
 50/4 50/5 53/12 57/21
 59/24 64/2 74/17 89/7
saying [1]  65/7
says [4]  36/25 39/5
 77/23 79/13
scale [1]  12/25
schedule [1]  89/3
schedule's [1]  65/24
scheduled [1]  8/3
schedules [1]  85/19
Schmitz [3]  5/4 7/15
 48/24
school [4]  13/4 13/6
 13/9 13/11
scope [2]  8/12 35/8
score [1]  41/12
screaming [1]  73/6
screening [1]  34/8
season [6]  40/21 45/2
 69/11 92/15 92/17 93/6
seasonal [1]  17/23
seasonality [3]  40/10
 41/1 44/23
seasonally [1]  41/11
seat [1]  73/15
seated [1]  61/10
second [24]  8/16 20/21
 24/5 24/6 27/10 28/15
 28/16 28/20 33/13 34/1
 37/12 37/24 46/1 46/2
 47/2 47/3 52/19 53/9
 53/10 59/22 68/8 81/7
 81/8 87/17
SECRETARY [2]  2/6
 24/2
sections [2]  36/1 70/20

see [32]  12/6 13/4
 13/10 25/16 25/19 27/3
 31/17 32/20 34/24 38/3
 39/5 39/23 40/22 41/15
 41/15 44/11 45/4 50/2
 52/14 58/17 58/24
 68/18 73/2 73/8 73/23
 74/6 76/1 81/21 91/18
 92/10 93/14 95/19
seeing [1]  86/5
seek [2]  22/15 55/15
seeking [1]  17/20
seem [4]  8/7 9/2 19/13
 51/11
seemed [1]  49/3
seems [5]  21/5 22/10
 37/21 58/4 90/7
seen [5]  5/5 8/19 13/16
 19/19 58/22
selected [2]  38/18
 56/10
selection [1]  10/6
sell [1]  6/24
send [1]  91/15
senior [2]  30/13 34/21
senior's [1]  30/12
seniors [1]  18/18
sense [4]  41/7 72/5
 76/25 81/11
sensitive [1]  63/4
sent [3]  32/11 81/16
 83/24
separate [1]  84/23
September [7]  21/14
 26/8 27/1 40/4 40/15
 40/16 40/16
September 18th [1] 
 21/14
September and [1] 
 40/4
September to [1] 
 40/16
SERGIO [5]  2/11 43/16
 51/23 59/16 72/6
series [1]  90/11
serve [6]  6/2 6/10 16/4
 17/18 56/8 56/10
served [1]  5/11
service [3]  38/16 50/12
 79/19
services [6]  22/20
 46/16 47/17 54/20
 60/13 78/23
Services Susan [1] 
 47/17
serving [1]  6/8
sessions [1]  29/22
set [8]  17/7 57/23 74/8
 75/7 76/9 77/24 78/7
 96/5
seven [8]  67/10 67/18
 70/17 80/20 89/5 94/15
 94/21 95/14
seven years [1]  94/21
seventh [1]  69/23
several [2]  5/6 14/3
sewer [2]  14/16 95/8
shake [1]  94/7
shame [1]  6/11

shape [3]  20/5 23/7
 26/22
share [1]  40/12
shared [3]  13/7 14/19
 85/11
shared-use [1]  13/7
sharing [1]  93/12
she [10]  5/6 5/7 5/24
 11/6 25/9 26/2 28/13
 29/18 36/20 43/1
she's [3]  5/8 42/24
 43/12
shelf [1]  95/12
shell [1]  72/25
ship [1]  82/14
shortcomings [1] 
 86/23
shot [1]  28/19
shots [1]  73/15
should [26]  6/16 6/19
 14/10 19/14 20/14 22/6
 22/12 30/20 31/4 39/21
 40/18 40/18 42/12
 52/16 55/20 65/2 75/22
 75/22 83/10 83/11
 83/12 83/19 84/7 88/21
 89/14 95/9
show [1]  32/22
showed [1]  12/7
showing [1]  62/24
shrink [1]  25/25
shuttles [1]  93/7
sick [1]  43/12
side [3]  7/22 7/22 38/1
sign [3]  26/9 31/6
 31/15
significant [3]  34/5
 34/6 82/24
similarly [1]  44/14
simple [2]  69/19 87/19
simplified [1]  77/23
since [7]  7/23 15/24
 44/4 44/17 53/1 91/2
 92/18
single [2]  77/21 86/12
sit [2]  43/5 50/5
sitting [2]  27/4 83/8
situation [2]  27/4
 28/10
six [8]  4/5 27/19 27/20
 29/21 31/3 35/11 69/7
 95/14
six months [1]  69/7
six weeks [1]  35/11
sixth [1]  69/21
size [1]  35/8
skate [2]  17/19 32/9
skating [4]  17/7 17/22
 17/24 92/2
ski [11]  20/2 20/4 20/9
 50/17 51/1 52/6 52/16
 52/18 60/14 73/3 93/1
skiing [1]  18/3
skip [1]  86/15
slate [1]  24/1
slightly [1]  90/7
small [2]  9/21 56/24
Smith [4]  1/24 97/4
 97/18 97/20

smoothly [1]  93/7
snowboarding [1] 
 18/4
Snowflake [1]  20/8
so [82]  6/8 6/14 7/8
 7/24 9/8 9/14 9/21
 12/20 14/18 16/7 21/7
 25/7 26/20 27/2 27/21
 33/6 34/14 35/7 36/10
 37/5 37/11 37/15 37/18
 38/3 38/6 38/12 38/19
 39/21 40/1 40/15 41/2
 41/11 41/12 42/12
 44/19 48/13 48/22
 48/25 50/22 51/20 52/7
 53/24 55/19 59/6 62/7
 62/13 62/17 63/23
 65/12 65/20 66/16
 66/23 67/5 67/14 67/17
 67/22 68/24 71/7 72/7
 73/17 75/9 76/9 76/15
 76/20 77/4 79/9 79/11
 79/13 80/15 81/11 83/7
 83/17 84/12 84/20
 84/24 85/1 87/23 89/4
 89/15 91/7 94/7 95/23
so years [1]  9/8
social [2]  17/25 18/17
sold [1]  5/7
some [62]  6/15 9/13
 9/22 13/10 19/10 21/23
 23/24 26/9 26/24 28/9
 32/22 34/15 39/23
 39/24 41/1 44/21 48/16
 49/8 50/2 50/3 55/11
 55/12 55/19 56/6 61/17
 62/7 62/25 64/12 65/12
 67/22 70/22 71/24 72/9
 72/16 73/11 73/15
 73/21 73/24 74/11
 74/11 77/1 78/14 79/8
 80/9 81/23 83/1 83/5
 83/22 83/22 84/2 84/5
 84/6 85/2 85/15 86/19
 89/3 89/13 90/11 91/16
 95/4 95/17 95/24
somebody [3]  9/5 52/8
 71/21
someone [4]  5/11 7/11
 48/10 52/22
something [9]  5/10
 5/14 30/25 35/20 69/8
 77/23 81/7 92/20 94/13
somewhat [1]  72/8
sooner [3]  70/5 70/5
 76/9
sorry [6]  40/2 43/13
 48/2 49/23 59/15 74/15
sort [2]  55/11 77/3
sound [1]  8/8
sounds [1]  51/7
sources [4]  26/14
 26/15 26/16 80/3
sources/uses [1] 
 26/15
South [1]  18/9
Southern [2]  8/18
 69/25
Southwood [1]  1/15

space [1]  17/17
speak [4]  5/5 50/16
 52/13 62/14
speaking [3]  5/16
 73/11 76/17
special [15]  45/17
 56/20 56/24 58/19
 58/20 58/21 62/5 63/1
 63/2 64/20 64/25 65/5
 65/16 80/18 80/21
specialist [1]  42/18
specific [2]  63/12
 87/12
specifically [2]  52/8
 55/4
specified [1]  34/22
spend [1]  95/10
spending [2]  86/2
 87/21
spent [8]  34/21 34/22
 44/12 45/3 82/15 85/4
 94/23 95/7
spoken [2]  35/23 78/17
spot [1]  35/13
spot-on [1]  35/13
spread [2]  44/5 44/17
spreading [1]  40/25
spreadsheet [1]  27/25
ss [1]  97/1
staff [48]  19/15 19/21
 21/24 22/8 23/23 24/20
 25/3 25/4 35/3 44/7
 44/10 45/20 46/16
 47/16 47/25 54/12
 54/19 60/12 61/7 61/11
 62/17 62/20 63/14
 63/22 66/14 67/3 69/9
 69/9 69/9 70/2 73/23
 76/4 78/6 79/2 79/20
 79/24 85/10 85/13
 87/25 88/8 88/16 88/19
 89/2 89/7 89/11 89/17
 93/7 94/20
staffing [2]  36/25 44/7
stages [1]  16/23
stake [1]  7/5
standard [1]  12/23
standards [1]  21/19
standpoint [1]  64/14
start [13]  4/9 11/11
 40/18 40/18 44/4 49/12
 69/10 80/1 80/14 81/14
 81/18 81/24 89/15
started [2]  57/18 72/7
starting [1]  13/2
state [3]  11/13 11/20
 96/15
statement [1]  7/10
statements [5]  14/3
 21/20 21/25 23/7 86/7
States [1]  94/18
station [1]  31/4
stations [2]  31/3 31/9
Statue [1]  22/5
status [5]  3/9 17/8
 24/19 27/15 32/1
statute [7]  10/18 10/19
 11/3 21/16 21/21 22/2
 22/7

Page 40 of 209



S
statutes [5]  10/17
 11/18 11/24 21/20
 22/16
statutory [2]  69/20
 76/14
stay [1]  94/12
stellar [1]  19/12
stenotype [2]  97/8
 97/12
step [2]  34/10 63/13
steps [2]  69/22 91/1
steward [1]  59/2
sticking [1]  66/22
still [5]  33/18 39/11
 86/8 89/6 96/3
stones [1]  66/9
stopped [1]  16/24
storage [1]  32/6
straighten [1]  19/18
strange [3]  37/21
 67/20 90/7
strategic [4]  74/5 75/1
 75/2 75/13
strategy [1]  74/22
stream [2]  32/12 64/8
streaming [1]  32/14
streamlining [1]  78/5
streets [1]  73/5
strip [1]  73/3
strong [1]  17/10
strongly [2]  44/3 86/16
structured [1]  42/3
studied [2]  26/24 35/9
studio [1]  13/14
study [1]  44/22
stuff [2]  65/12 67/5
subcommittee [5] 
 22/14 29/4 29/10 29/14
 29/15
subject [3]  41/10 55/13
 55/18
subjecting [1]  56/2
submit [1]  28/12
submittal [1]  27/11
submitted [1]  72/10
submitting [1]  27/18
subsequent [1]  85/24
success [2]  10/9 31/17
successfully [1]  18/10
such [6]  6/23 14/25
 22/22 60/10 77/6 87/7
suddenly [4]  66/11
 66/11 66/22 67/20
Sue [2]  42/1 43/10
suggest [10]  50/20
 50/25 52/12 56/11
 60/22 64/4 66/18 67/1
 68/4 91/2
suggest your [1]  68/4
suggested [3]  48/24
 88/4 95/15
suggesting [1]  14/11
suggestion [6]  43/23
 55/10 58/12 63/10 67/9
 71/2
suggestions [4]  48/17
 61/13 87/7 88/11

summaries [3]  25/24
 69/19 80/4
summarized [1]  64/4
summary [5]  80/1 86/9
 86/11 89/24 90/3
summer [1]  68/22
sunset [1]  39/20
supercede [1]  62/6
supervisor [1]  30/12
supplemental [2]  84/8
 85/7
support [4]  17/10
 42/13 43/21 50/13
supporting [1]  26/2
supposed [2]  12/18
 49/12
sure [24]  8/8 9/20
 39/22 43/16 51/17
 51/23 55/3 68/2 69/7
 70/23 71/5 71/10 72/3
 72/24 73/19 73/20
 75/14 78/15 78/18
 79/11 79/14 79/18
 81/22 90/22
surprise [1]  72/11
Surrounding [1]  18/8
Susan [7]  30/19 36/19
 39/13 46/17 47/17
 54/20 60/13
swamped [1]  48/2
Swenson [1]  10/4
system [4]  29/22 37/4
 42/17 42/23
systems [2]  19/18 95/8

T
table [2]  7/22 7/23
Tahoe [9]  8/2 9/17 9/22
 16/12 16/14 18/9 18/10
 18/13 70/1
tails [1]  41/12
tainted [1]  71/3
take [16]  21/1 28/1
 37/11 52/23 52/24
 62/22 63/2 63/13 64/11
 69/15 80/24 81/2 90/18
 94/20 95/18 96/3
taken [1]  11/8
takes [2]  16/6 57/9
taking [5]  5/15 8/21
 14/12 33/8 86/24
talented [4]  5/17 6/1
 6/4 6/12
talk [9]  8/1 48/9 54/11
 66/4 67/17 74/16 79/17
 80/12 80/13
talked [3]  66/1 76/6
 85/10
talking [6]  5/23 38/10
 48/12 48/19 48/20
 48/21
tank [1]  32/7
tap [2]  13/15 13/18
tapas [1]  31/2
target [1]  45/5
Taxation [9]  21/15
 21/24 22/3 27/10 29/4
 29/11 29/16 39/4 39/7
taxes [1]  15/7

team [13]  16/4 16/18
 17/3 27/14 28/13 30/4
 34/17 35/4 80/2 83/4
 93/1 93/12 93/15
teens [1]  17/19
tell [1]  41/12
telling [2]  7/4 8/23
tells [1]  8/9
temp [1]  38/11
temporary [3]  36/25
 38/16 50/9
ten [4]  16/14 20/11
 85/6 96/2
ten years [3]  16/14
 20/11 96/2
tend [1]  8/20
tended [1]  20/6
tenderloin [1]  31/13
tennis [1]  44/10
tenure [1]  11/15
term [7]  23/22 63/13
 72/6 75/1 75/6 75/8
 75/13
termination [1]  68/7
terms [6]  38/10 41/18
 52/1 52/2 59/2 63/25
than [20]  15/2 15/16
 19/12 23/7 26/22 38/1
 38/1 39/6 39/8 40/25
 48/9 55/10 55/22 56/16
 57/5 70/5 73/18 76/10
 87/22 94/25
thank [39]  7/18 7/21
 7/25 14/1 15/22 16/5
 17/2 18/25 20/17 21/3
 21/7 23/9 24/3 24/14
 24/22 26/2 26/4 33/2
 34/13 38/7 39/16 40/1
 43/22 43/24 45/9 46/18
 61/4 63/5 67/12 67/19
 67/25 71/18 74/13 82/1
 89/25 90/2 91/20 94/10
 96/6
thanks [1]  16/6
that [503] 
that's [54]  5/16 6/11
 6/21 9/6 9/10 12/20
 13/16 13/20 14/11 23/5
 23/10 24/23 25/22 27/3
 27/3 30/25 33/14 33/15
 35/8 36/8 36/22 38/22
 40/12 41/14 43/23 44/6
 44/7 44/11 44/19 49/19
 49/25 50/22 52/11
 53/23 57/12 57/16
 58/23 62/12 64/21
 68/18 71/1 72/20 72/20
 74/10 76/11 79/17
 81/10 88/17 88/20
 88/25 89/24 90/3 90/13
 92/15
their [22]  5/18 6/24
 8/21 9/6 9/10 10/6 11/7
 19/13 19/16 28/22
 29/19 31/20 36/1 52/14
 58/20 58/20 58/21
 75/23 75/23 77/4 78/6
 87/5
them [36]  8/9 8/23

 14/15 15/18 28/7 29/14
 36/2 37/22 38/18 39/22
 40/9 48/6 48/8 49/9
 50/3 50/4 50/7 50/11
 50/13 50/23 55/6 55/23
 56/1 56/2 64/3 68/21
 71/12 72/1 73/13 75/15
 75/16 86/22 89/11
 89/18 93/8 95/18
then [54]  12/9 12/15
 12/16 16/24 28/19
 29/15 35/5 36/23 37/19
 38/11 39/7 39/10 39/17
 41/3 48/14 50/10 51/1
 51/18 52/16 58/3 61/1
 61/21 62/24 63/8 64/25
 66/11 67/8 67/10 68/8
 68/20 69/23 70/7 76/16
 78/11 78/16 79/12
 79/13 79/15 79/16
 79/19 80/1 80/24 81/6
 81/13 83/1 83/2 85/2
 89/20 90/11 90/13 91/2
 91/8 92/4 95/17
then-director [1]  92/4
there [70]  6/15 6/19
 6/21 6/21 6/22 8/6 8/6
 17/6 22/6 24/5 32/16
 32/21 34/17 34/21
 38/13 39/25 40/13
 40/14 41/4 41/22 41/23
 41/23 41/24 42/2 42/5
 42/10 43/10 44/13
 44/23 51/8 51/18 53/9
 54/5 54/22 55/1 56/20
 58/2 58/13 62/3 62/4
 62/18 63/9 65/2 65/11
 66/24 67/22 68/16 70/6
 72/15 72/25 73/3 76/7
 76/19 76/21 77/1 78/14
 78/16 78/21 79/4 82/24
 83/5 83/15 84/21 85/15
 89/3 89/21 90/25 93/11
 93/24 95/13
there's [21]  7/4 8/3
 9/23 32/22 43/21 49/16
 51/17 52/3 52/25 61/6
 62/2 63/1 64/8 70/6
 78/11 78/24 83/16
 84/17 84/18 84/19 95/3
thereafter [1]  97/9
therein [1]  85/20
these [47]  5/2 9/13
 10/9 10/25 11/25 15/10
 19/23 25/6 25/10 25/19
 25/22 25/22 44/21
 44/25 51/10 51/13 55/5
 55/25 56/18 56/25
 57/13 57/25 58/18
 59/10 62/8 64/1 64/3
 64/5 65/14 67/4 70/22
 72/4 72/9 74/9 75/14
 78/4 80/25 83/6 83/9
 89/9 89/10 89/21 89/22
 90/19 93/4 95/20 95/22
they [48]  5/12 5/18
 6/23 6/25 7/11 8/9 8/15
 13/13 34/22 37/2 37/13
 38/16 38/19 41/19 42/6

 42/8 48/1 48/6 51/4
 56/14 57/13 57/17
 57/24 58/19 58/21
 58/22 63/8 64/3 65/21
 75/22 75/22 76/8 81/3
 81/9 81/23 85/16 88/15
 88/15 88/16 88/18
 90/22 92/10 92/11
 92/14 92/16 94/25 95/9
 95/14
they'll [2]  10/1 10/2
they're [2]  6/10 42/15
they've [4]  5/19 39/14
 57/18 64/2
thing [13]  8/25 12/12
 13/3 13/16 13/21 20/13
 20/15 33/13 71/17 75/3
 76/1 79/16 95/6
things [33]  5/20 6/16
 6/17 12/4 12/20 13/15
 13/18 39/21 40/17
 43/18 48/7 57/1 57/5
 62/2 63/14 63/24 64/16
 65/1 65/12 66/14 71/19
 71/25 72/9 73/18 74/10
 83/22 84/15 84/24 89/3
 89/22 92/18 93/2 95/24
think [85]  8/19 8/24
 9/14 9/19 11/20 13/6
 13/17 16/3 16/4 16/8
 16/17 16/18 25/5 25/21
 31/11 36/3 36/12 38/5
 38/17 44/2 49/24 49/25
 50/8 51/4 52/9 54/1
 54/9 55/21 56/1 56/2
 56/6 56/14 57/4 58/6
 58/11 58/12 58/13
 58/25 59/3 59/9 63/14
 64/24 65/9 66/1 66/14
 68/24 69/12 70/14
 70/22 71/1 71/2 72/14
 73/1 73/10 73/12 73/22
 74/7 74/10 74/25 75/4
 75/6 75/11 75/15 75/24
 76/2 76/4 76/11 76/12
 79/12 79/17 80/6 81/25
 82/11 83/15 83/16 84/2
 84/5 89/6 89/10 90/10
 90/21 91/9 91/13 94/13
 96/4
thinking [4]  40/18
 40/19 43/11 49/7
third [3]  37/12 65/24
 68/12
this [109] 
this year [4]  41/10 76/2
 76/9 92/15
this year's [1]  12/22
those [56]  12/16 24/9
 37/1 37/7 37/8 37/11
 39/10 41/6 44/24 46/3
 47/5 48/17 49/3 49/4
 51/5 53/12 54/8 54/10
 54/11 55/17 56/10
 56/12 56/13 58/14 59/3
 59/24 60/4 60/21 61/1
 62/15 62/15 62/25 63/3
 64/15 65/2 69/5 70/17
 71/7 73/12 73/19 73/21

Page 41 of 209



T
those... [15]  74/11 77/5
 77/22 78/16 79/21 81/4
 81/5 81/5 86/24 88/20
 88/22 88/24 90/10
 90/13 90/14
thought [4]  35/14
 49/19 64/13 95/16
thoughts [1]  55/1
threatened [1]  6/9
threats [1]  7/13
three [12]  9/16 14/6
 14/22 25/15 34/19 38/8
 41/6 66/12 66/22 81/16
 87/20 95/12
three new [1]  14/6
three o'clock [2]  9/16
 81/16
three questions [1] 
 38/8
three-word [1]  87/20
through [15]  5/19 5/24
 6/6 38/12 38/17 65/14
 66/5 80/15 82/25 84/19
 85/7 89/12 90/18 91/7
 93/3
throughout [1]  94/17
throwing [2]  19/12
 85/17
Thus [1]  15/16
tickets [2]  31/4 31/7
Tiller's [1]  14/25
time [38]  8/22 13/25
 15/21 16/6 18/25 20/10
 24/23 25/13 25/16
 26/16 26/23 28/11
 28/22 32/18 34/21
 34/22 41/23 43/18 44/8
 48/24 49/3 56/5 61/11
 63/4 64/11 66/3 67/3
 74/9 77/20 79/17 81/13
 82/15 85/5 87/4 90/11
 90/22 90/23 92/7
time/resource [1]  56/5
timely [1]  8/17
times [3]  5/6 10/10
 15/25
timing [3]  76/1 79/23
 85/4
today [3]  15/13 16/15
 40/19
together [6]  10/11
 16/19 35/11 42/24 80/6
 91/5
told [2]  49/18 94/24
tomorrow [10]  22/14
 29/10 29/16 29/18 33/9
 33/12 33/20 33/25
 41/19 43/2
tonight [4]  23/5 25/4
 55/7 62/25
TONKING [5]  2/4 4/21
 24/23 49/21 49/22
too [9]  32/23 36/15
 38/6 40/3 52/21 63/11
 65/2 79/13 82/12
took [2]  90/17 97/8
top [3]  44/19 74/7

 80/21
topic [3]  55/2 64/5
 64/19
topics [1]  69/5
total [3]  30/8 30/10
 44/20
totally [1]  52/11
touched [1]  69/14
touches [1]  29/13
touching [2]  50/6
 74/21
tough [1]  28/14
tourism [1]  18/7
town [1]  5/8
traditional [1]  19/11
trailers [1]  73/5
train [1]  19/15
training [3]  11/23
 29/21 71/23
transcribed [1]  97/9
transcript [2]  1/9 97/11
transcription [2]  69/15
 97/12
transcriptions [2]  72/9
 72/13
transferred [1]  22/19
transparency [4]  56/21
 58/17 58/24 59/1
transparent [1]  57/4
transportation [1] 
 73/17
trash [1]  14/17
treasurer [8]  2/7 24/2
 33/9 41/20 44/3 51/15
 53/20 53/22
tremendous [2]  30/3
 31/12
tried [2]  13/22 93/4
triple [1]  15/18
trips [1]  28/1
TRPA [11]  8/7 8/8 8/9
 8/14 8/16 9/2 9/4 9/4
 9/10 9/10 9/24
Truckee [1]  18/9
true [2]  17/9 97/12
truly [1]  49/7
trust [1]  56/9
trustee [34]  3/12 4/23
 10/6 10/16 11/5 11/24
 25/1 25/1 30/17 33/21
 38/9 41/24 46/12 46/14
 46/22 48/24 49/21
 50/21 50/24 52/25
 57/21 59/8 60/10 66/13
 67/6 67/16 68/3 71/12
 74/18 77/21 80/20 82/8
 91/4 91/22
trustees [30]  1/4 3/4
 3/17 4/13 4/14 10/5
 10/23 11/9 12/1 14/6
 19/4 19/17 19/19 23/20
 23/22 25/1 25/9 34/4
 45/17 45/19 46/21
 47/15 60/12 67/21
 76/17 80/10 81/22
 82/20 96/12 97/7
trustees' [1]  25/15
truth [2]  7/9 7/10
try [5]  28/10 37/12

 87/25 89/8 93/3
trying [8]  27/19 29/1
 34/8 39/20 65/10 70/19
 71/16 71/17
TULLOCH [10]  2/8
 4/24 30/17 41/24 57/21
 66/13 67/17 71/12 82/9
 91/4
tuning [1]  7/3
turn [3]  54/24 61/16
 76/7
turned [2]  4/5 15/10
twice [1]  58/5
two [25]  7/20 8/3 14/22
 22/18 28/1 28/13 34/14
 36/18 37/22 39/10
 41/23 45/1 48/11 48/17
 50/16 50/23 51/2 60/21
 66/20 80/21 86/23
 87/19 92/19 94/1 95/1
two weeks [2]  28/13
 92/19
Tyler [6]  29/22 30/2
 40/22 42/16 42/23 44/6
Tyner [1]  10/4
type [4]  7/6 12/8 25/6
 93/12
types [2]  63/14 63/24
typewriting [1]  97/10
typical [2]  36/9 87/22
Typically [1]  77/2

U
ultimately [1]  57/9
umbrella [1]  59/11
unable [1]  39/21
uncovering [1]  86/19
under [11]  5/4 10/17
 20/2 22/1 22/24 28/10
 56/8 59/10 65/19 68/19
 68/22
undergoing [1]  68/22
understand [6]  30/4
 36/11 38/6 51/13 66/21
 67/15
understanding [9] 
 17/6 35/18 37/3 49/15
 65/20 69/3 92/9 92/11
 92/14
understood [3]  37/19
 44/25 90/20
undo [1]  71/16
unfinished [1]  54/5
unfortunately [2] 
 37/16 69/24
unique [1]  18/19
United [1]  94/18
unless [3]  48/6 48/7
 95/23
unlock [1]  64/14
UNR [1]  92/10
unsure [1]  49/6
until [4]  27/11 32/9
 39/22 54/10
up [40]  5/16 8/11 10/2
 15/5 25/19 25/20 28/24
 30/24 31/6 31/15 31/16
 32/22 33/25 38/19
 41/10 43/21 50/5 50/10

 53/25 63/2 69/15 70/7
 70/8 71/20 73/3 73/25
 76/6 77/15 78/9 79/13
 80/6 84/21 90/1 90/14
 91/7 92/17 93/6 93/11
 95/25 96/5
upcoming [1]  60/11
update [12]  3/17 9/17
 9/18 26/6 27/5 29/9
 29/15 32/11 60/24
 69/21 92/1 92/21
updated [2]  20/25
 92/19
updates [6]  28/2 32/2
 91/22 91/24 92/23
 93/18
upon [3]  14/24 75/8
 90/17
urge [1]  18/22
urgency [1]  81/11
us [29]  8/6 8/25 14/9
 16/8 28/14 30/1 30/3
 30/10 37/15 38/19 41/7
 42/24 43/1 43/7 48/9
 50/10 54/13 59/1 60/7
 60/24 64/16 67/22
 69/17 73/18 76/1 82/3
 93/16 93/16 93/19
use [5]  13/7 13/7 13/25
 55/15 88/21
used [3]  9/4 88/5 88/8
useful [1]  13/12
uses [3]  26/14 26/15
 80/4
utilities [1]  52/4
utilize [1]  38/16
utmost [1]  74/10

V
vacated [2]  46/15
 46/22
vacating [1]  52/22
vague [1]  52/1
valid [3]  56/10 86/2
 86/2
Valley [1]  16/11
valorem [1]  15/6
valuable [2]  35/5 56/7
valves [1]  23/2
variance [1]  26/17
various [2]  57/1 85/11
vast [1]  47/1
vegetation [1]  70/9
venue [6]  35/3 49/5
 50/18 75/21 85/10
 93/17
venues [2]  30/9 35/7
verbal [1]  35/19
verbatim [1]  72/9
versions [1]  75/16
versus [4]  41/2 41/4
 41/15 87/19
very [40]  5/14 6/24
 8/17 9/14 10/8 12/3
 13/5 13/11 13/12 16/2
 20/14 23/9 26/18 26/20
 33/3 35/5 37/2 37/10
 40/9 41/7 48/13 50/17
 50/19 56/21 56/24

 63/18 69/24 71/20
 71/24 72/11 72/20
 74/23 75/24 82/12
 83/25 89/11 94/4 94/10
 95/9 96/6
via [3]  1/11 43/6 97/7
viable [1]  91/9
Vianney [4]  1/24 97/4
 97/18 97/20
VICE [2]  2/5 24/2
video [1]  32/19
videos [1]  32/15
view [2]  22/3 75/24
views [9]  10/13 10/19
 10/23 10/25 11/6 52/14
 55/25 71/4 83/14
VILLAGE [9]  1/2 1/16
 4/1 4/7 10/7 14/3 17/11
 20/6 37/14
violate [1]  84/1
violation [3]  6/22 11/2
 11/5
violations [2]  11/14
 11/17
virtually [1]  85/5
visitor [1]  93/3
visitors [2]  17/16 21/1
vocal [1]  71/20
volunteering [2]  7/25
 8/21
vote [4]  11/7 11/10
 14/22 24/8
votes [1]  10/8
voting [1]  58/3

W
wages [1]  44/15
wait [1]  51/3
walk [2]  25/14 91/7
Walrack [13]  19/8
 19/19 21/3 24/21 26/4
 33/2 36/24 44/1 47/25
 52/13 54/11 68/7 94/9
want [34]  5/15 6/2 6/5
 6/7 6/10 7/7 9/15 10/5
 10/10 16/1 16/5 16/21
 33/4 40/2 42/8 47/21
 52/25 55/19 58/21
 58/22 58/24 63/2 63/12
 64/7 66/4 72/23 76/18
 77/7 78/3 79/14 81/6
 81/14 84/1 89/18
wanted [12]  8/1 9/5
 12/4 13/3 16/15 17/8
 28/24 34/24 51/23 62/3
 84/24 92/25
wants [2]  55/14 64/7
ware [1]  92/20
warrant [1]  86/6
was [109] 
was .252 [1]  26/16
Washoe [6]  8/1 20/23
 30/19 32/8 38/16 97/2
wasn't [4]  38/2 49/14
 49/18 79/6
wasteful [1]  56/2
watch [4]  29/7 32/19
 39/20 43/16
watching [1]  93/8

Page 42 of 209



W
water [2]  14/16 95/8
way [5]  9/10 29/1 45/1
 59/4 73/3
ways [2]  49/4 93/4
we [278] 
we'd [1]  44/4
we'll [7]  4/9 4/24 12/2
 24/8 27/21 28/15 96/1
we're [43]  26/10 26/21
 27/1 27/4 27/19 27/22
 28/3 28/8 28/10 28/19
 28/20 28/25 29/14 31/2
 31/21 34/14 41/16
 41/16 42/5 42/17 42/25
 44/9 44/20 45/2 48/19
 48/20 48/21 51/24 54/9
 61/6 62/24 64/22 65/10
 66/6 73/10 74/9 76/21
 79/11 80/15 80/17
 81/19 84/5 96/2
we've [13]  8/19 12/17
 13/22 16/18 29/11
 30/15 40/10 44/13
 47/19 58/22 65/9 75/4
 89/15
website [5]  32/12
 32/16 32/23 36/6 77/11
weddings [1]  74/1
Wednesday [2]  1/18
 81/8
Wednesdays [1]  65/24
weeds [1]  63/11
week [8]  30/21 30/22
 31/22 31/24 33/15 35/9
 39/18 61/23
weekly [1]  35/3
weeks [3]  28/13 35/11
 92/19
weird [2]  58/2 58/5
welcome [8]  4/6 7/1
 12/2 16/1 19/8 24/25
 25/2 71/4
well [35]  5/5 9/19 9/25
 11/11 16/5 16/19 20/23
 28/23 30/13 35/16
 36/10 37/5 40/12 41/21
 43/11 49/20 50/19 51/2
 52/13 52/24 57/19
 65/11 66/23 66/23
 67/18 67/21 68/16 71/4
 73/12 76/21 77/6 77/18
 79/12 79/19 88/13
wellness [1]  18/16
went [5]  8/3 8/4 38/17
 40/13 84/18
Wente [1]  31/10
were [52]  6/21 6/21
 10/25 11/1 12/13 12/14
 12/16 12/17 15/4 22/20
 22/22 22/23 26/8 26/14
 26/14 27/7 28/6 34/21
 36/6 37/1 37/2 37/16
 37/19 37/22 38/7 39/21
 40/6 40/7 42/4 47/25
 49/4 49/23 53/1 54/5
 63/18 64/6 64/6 71/25
 76/7 76/17 84/15 84/20

 85/25 87/4 88/7 88/11
 88/18 88/19 89/5 90/22
 93/7 94/25
what [60]  5/24 6/7 6/14
 7/8 8/9 8/23 9/6 12/17
 12/24 14/12 15/13
 15/20 17/8 25/19 36/9
 37/8 38/9 38/13 40/11
 40/22 41/12 47/20
 48/22 48/23 49/18
 49/19 50/8 50/23 50/25
 51/13 52/14 61/2 63/8
 63/14 63/24 64/10
 64/14 66/4 66/10 72/17
 74/15 75/6 76/17 77/8
 77/18 78/16 80/24
 81/10 81/13 83/19
 87/22 88/2 88/11 88/17
 88/23 92/20 93/5 94/19
 95/2 95/3
what's [3]  7/15 38/22
 64/13
whatever [4]  7/10
 12/14 13/18 79/13
when [19]  11/6 12/12
 12/24 18/2 35/12 40/13
 54/10 58/1 64/11 66/10
 67/3 67/11 70/24 70/24
 75/15 81/23 87/5 91/5
 95/18
where [21]  5/11 13/8
 32/22 32/23 35/11
 35/13 35/14 45/1 45/1
 55/24 56/19 57/17
 57/17 58/2 58/19 65/3
 65/22 66/11 74/8 75/17
 84/5
whet [1]  31/8
whether [14]  6/18 28/2
 51/4 55/13 57/13 68/18
 70/10 74/1 83/9 83/11
 83/12 90/15 90/16
 91/18
which [23]  5/4 15/19
 26/12 27/11 28/14
 29/20 30/9 31/2 32/10
 32/17 34/8 51/15 51/19
 55/12 61/8 61/13 73/5
 78/8 78/9 80/18 83/23
 84/20 85/2
while [3]  15/24 87/2
 90/12
white [6]  2/12 23/23
 25/8 45/21 81/16 87/1
who [10]  5/11 5/24 6/8
 6/12 7/14 30/18 41/21
 44/3 66/9 76/7
whoever [1]  7/13
whole [2]  71/2 94/8
why [8]  5/9 5/16 37/3
 73/3 77/25 78/1 79/2
 95/16
wildfire [2]  70/9 70/12
will [54]  9/19 9/19 9/24
 11/23 16/4 16/8 19/9
 19/15 20/23 21/1 22/14
 24/14 28/13 28/17
 30/21 31/11 32/7 32/17
 32/17 34/15 43/20

 44/18 44/18 44/23
 50/16 57/20 57/21
 59/13 59/19 61/16
 63/25 67/13 67/14
 67/16 71/9 71/11 72/5
 73/14 74/8 76/20 77/3
 77/17 78/15 80/5 80/24
 80/24 81/2 81/3 81/4
 81/4 85/1 85/15 91/15
 92/21
willing [1]  14/9
win [3]  73/2 73/2 73/2
win/win/win [1]  73/2
wine [2]  31/2 31/3
Winquest [1]  94/24
winter [4]  17/17 17/21
 18/2 18/7
winter months [2] 
 17/21 18/2
wish [4]  10/9 10/15
 11/22 19/9
within [7]  61/14 62/19
 62/20 76/15 77/25 78/6
 95/13
without [3]  41/6 50/6
 75/12
won't [2]  67/13 89/16
wonderful [3]  93/10
 93/17 93/17
wondering [1]  44/9
word [1]  87/20
words [1]  15/12
work [43]  10/11 16/19
 23/6 25/4 25/8 25/20
 26/1 27/13 27/16 28/15
 28/22 29/3 32/3 32/4
 34/15 57/12 61/12
 64/15 65/20 66/5 66/23
 67/2 67/16 67/22 68/1
 71/16 75/9 77/7 77/15
 78/15 79/20 80/13
 82/24 83/2 85/12 86/8
 87/24 88/9 88/10 89/20
 91/4 91/6 92/16
worked [6]  10/8 12/11
 16/22 57/24 85/7 90/6
working [8]  28/10 30/2
 42/17 53/23 70/3 81/23
 92/4 96/3
Works [4]  30/14 31/25
 54/6 78/24
workshop [10]  65/11
 66/2 66/21 79/17 79/20
 79/25 80/7 80/11 81/1
 81/3
workshops [2]  8/2
 75/10
worried [3]  5/13 5/13
 6/1
worse [1]  23/7
worth [1]  34/19
would [142] 
wouldn't [3]  9/13 63/1
 80/2
writeoff [1]  88/12
writeoffs [2]  88/6
 89/13
writing [2]  35/20 40/23
written [4]  14/3 35/24

 85/16 85/23
wrong [2]  5/10 90/17
wrote [2]  84/12 84/15

Y
Yacoben [1]  30/18
yeah [15]  20/19 33/6
 36/3 41/25 43/20 44/22
 49/16 51/22 51/25
 58/16 58/23 59/18
 65/15 78/19 84/10
year [38]  12/2 12/3
 12/16 12/18 17/13
 19/15 26/17 26/19
 26/25 27/1 27/2 31/21
 40/7 41/5 41/10 41/11
 44/5 49/6 51/19 51/20
 66/3 69/18 73/7 75/5
 75/5 75/12 76/2 76/9
 76/10 77/24 79/19 80/7
 82/18 89/16 92/3 92/15
 95/1 95/9
year's [2]  12/22 63/19
years [16]  5/6 5/12 9/7
 9/8 12/12 14/22 15/25
 16/13 16/14 19/6 20/11
 23/2 85/25 94/15 94/21
 96/2
yep [1]  45/4
yes [15]  20/23 20/24
 34/13 38/23 39/1 42/11
 42/14 50/3 50/3 50/6
 53/22 53/23 56/23
 71/23 89/12
yesterday [3]  35/10
 41/9 80/2
yet [1]  20/16
Yolanda [2]  20/19 94/3
you [191] 
you'll [1]  12/21
you're [13]  10/15 12/24
 14/6 14/9 16/19 32/20
 32/24 34/8 58/3 62/17
 66/23 77/25 95/25
you've [2]  19/21 34/4
young [1]  17/19
your [35]  8/12 10/8
 10/16 11/11 11/15
 11/24 12/24 14/7 16/2
 18/25 19/23 25/2 31/7
 31/8 34/17 36/13 40/3
 40/13 41/8 47/19 60/16
 61/5 61/8 61/19 61/22
 64/20 67/17 68/4 80/20
 81/7 81/18 82/10 85/7
 85/18 86/22
yourself [1]  90/5
yourselves [1]  11/23
youth [1]  18/18

Z
zero [4]  12/18 24/15
 46/9 47/11
zero-based [1]  12/18
Zoom [3]  1/11 43/6
 97/8

Page 43 of 209



INVOICE
BAVS SM-LLC

brandiavsmith@gmail.com
United States

BILL TO
Incline Village General Improvement
District
Susan Herron / Heidi White

775-832-1218
AP@ivgid.org

Invoice Number: IVGID 60

Invoice Date: January 13, 2025

Payment Due: January 31, 2025

Amount Due (USD): $932.00

Items Quantity Price Amount

Appearance fee
January 8, 2025 BOT meeting

1 $350.00 $350.00

Per page fee
January 8, 2025 BOT meeting

97 $6.00 $582.00

Total: $932.00

Amount Due (USD): $932.00

Page 44 of 209



Page 45 of 209



Page 46 of 209



Page 47 of 209



Page 48 of 209



Page 49 of 209



Page 50 of 209



Page 51 of 209



Page 52 of 209



Page 53 of 209



Page 54 of 209



Page 55 of 209



Page 56 of 209



Page 57 of 209



Page 58 of 209



Page 59 of 209



Page 60 of 209



Page 61 of 209



Page 62 of 209



Page 63 of 209



Page 64 of 209



Page 65 of 209



Page 66 of 209



Page 67 of 209



Page 68 of 209



Page 69 of 209



Page 70 of 209



Page 71 of 209



Page 72 of 209



Page 73 of 209



Page 74 of 209



Page 75 of 209



Page 76 of 209



Page 77 of 209



Page 78 of 209



Page 79 of 209



Page 80 of 209



Page 81 of 209



Page 82 of 209



Page 83 of 209



Page 84 of 209



Page 85 of 209



Page 86 of 209



Page 87 of 209



Page 88 of 209



Page 89 of 209



Page 90 of 209



Page 91 of 209



Page 92 of 209



Page 93 of 209



Page 94 of 209



Page 95 of 209



Page 96 of 209



Page 97 of 209



Page 98 of 209



Page 99 of 209



Page 100 of 209



Page 101 of 209



Page 102 of 209



Page 103 of 209



Page 104 of 209



Page 105 of 209



Page 106 of 209



Page 107 of 209



Page 108 of 209



Page 109 of 209



Page 110 of 209



Page 111 of 209



Page 112 of 209



Page 113 of 209



Page 114 of 209



Page 115 of 209



Page 116 of 209



Page 117 of 209



Page 118 of 209



Page 119 of 209



Page 120 of 209



Page 121 of 209



 
IVGID Trustee Regular Meeting January 8, 2025 

Public Comments from Harry Swenson at 664 Tyner Way  
 
Good evening, I am Harry Swenson, and live on lower Tyner. 
 
I want to congratulate our new trustees on their impressive selection as a Trustee for the Incline 
Village and Crystal Bay Community.  I know you all worked very hard to garner the votes you 
received.  I wish you the best of success in these difficult times for our community.  I want to let 
you know that I am hoping that you all can work together for the betterment of our community 
and encouraging the many views of our community to be heard and understood and considered. 
 
Now that you are fully established, I wish to remind you of your responsibilities as a trustee and 
the Nevada Revised Statues, especially the all-important open meeting statue.  This statue 
ensures that all policy views and decisions are made in an open forum for the protection of the 
electorate.  I am disappointed that last month one of the new trustees gathered the media and 
provided views of not only herself but a majority of the new board.  I am assuming that these 
views expressed about our new General Manager were discussed in a private meeting in clear 
violation of the Open Meeting Statue.  I also am concerned about the apparent violation of the 
Trustee Code of Conduct regarding the same interview when she expressed hers and other board 
members of their displeasure of the vote taken regarding the selection of our new General 
Manager.  I believe the code of conduct forbids trustees from commenting on a vote of the board 
once it has been made. This does not bode well as a start of your new positions.  
 
With the state of Nevada currently looking into past violations of IVGID’s financial 
responsibilities, I would hate for your tenure to begin with the Nevada Attorney General to be 
looking into violations of Nevada’s Open Meeting statutes.  With all the challenges facing our 
community I really don’t think you need multiple state investigations peering into our 
community. 
 
I wish you the best of luck and hope you will avail yourselves of training in both the Nevada 
statutes and you trustee policies to avoid these problems in the future.   
 
Thank-you for your time. 
Harry Swenson 

Page 122 of 209



Item G.1.

M E M O R A N D U M

TO: Board of Trustees

FROM: Erin Feore, Director of Human Resources; and
Sergio Rudin, General Counsel

SUBJECT: Review, Discuss and Possibly Approve the Employment 
Contract with Robert W. Harrison to Serve as District General 
Manager 

RELATED DISTRICT POLICY, PRACTICES, RESOLUTIONS or 
ORDINANCES:  N/A

DATE: January 22, 2025

I. RECOMMENDATION

The Board of Trustees make a motion to approve the General Manager’s 
Employment Agreement.

II. BACKGROUND

On January 16, 2025, the Board of Trustees by majority vote selected Mr. Robert 
Harrison as the District’s new General Manager. At this same meeting, the Board 
of Trustees directed District General Counsel and the Human Resources Director 
to provide to Mr. Harrison an eighteen-month contract, using the previously 
Board approved General Manager employment agreement template.

On January 22, 2025, General Counsel provided to Mr. Harrison the District’s 
offered employment agreement.  The recommended agreement is fully within the 
spirit of the draft template approved by the Board on January 25, 2024.  

Following ongoing discussions, Mr. Harrison has requested the following 
changes to the draft template:

• Salary:  Initial salary of $275,000 through June 30, 2025 with an increase 
to $290,000 effective July 1, 2025.

• Relocation:  Within fifteen days of the effective date of the agreement, 
relocation reimbursement of $15,000 for moving, temporary housing and 
other travel related expenses.

Page 123 of 209



GM Employment Contract -2- January 23, 2025

• Benefits:  Establish separate 401(a) pension plan to allow waiving of 
waiting and vesting period for pension benefits

• Leave:  Accelerated annual leave accrual to 160 hours with a one-time 
allotment of 40 hours of vacation, effective upon hire.

• Severance:  No severance until after July 1, 2025, then standard 
severance agreement for one-time, lump sum cash payment equivalent to 
the sum of the General Manager’s then-current monthly salary multiplied 
by six; one-time, lump sum cash payment equivalent to the then-current 
employee-only, medical only, District paid premium for six months. 

III. FINANCIAL IMPACT AND BUDGET

The recommended contract is understood by staff to be within the Board’s 
previous direction and expectations for negotiated figures related to base salary, 
overall fringe benefits, and total compensation.  The contract can be fully 
absorbed within the existing budgeted amounts for the General Manager.

IV. ALTERNATIVES

If the Board does not approve the approved agreement, it could direct staff to 
continue to pursue its search for a new General Manager.

V. ATTACHMENTS

1. Incline Village General Improvement District Employment Agreement – 
General Manager – Recommended Contract – Final Draft

2. District General Manager Job Description
3. Waiver of Notice – signed by Robert Harrison

VI. DECISION POINTS NEEDED FROM THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

The Board of Trustees make a motion to approve the General Manager’s 
Employment Agreement.

Page 124 of 209



Page 125 of 209



Page 126 of 209



Page 127 of 209



Page 128 of 209



Page 129 of 209



Page 130 of 209



Page 131 of 209



Page 132 of 209



Page 133 of 209



Page 134 of 209



Page 135 of 209



Page 136 of 209



Robert Harrison

Page 137 of 209



 ITEM G.2. 
M E M O R A N D U M 

  
TO: Board of Trustees 
  
THROUGH: Mike Bandelin, Acting District General Manager and Diamond Peak 

Ski Resort General Manager 
  
FROM: Mike Bandelin, Acting District General Manager and Diamond Peak 

Ski Resort General Manager 
  
SUBJECT: Review, Discuss and Possibly Approve the Request for 

Qualifications document for a Needs Assessment including Diamond 
Peak's Snowflake Lodge facility (for possible action). (Requesting 
Staff Member: (Acting General Manager and General Manager of 
Diamond Peak Ski Resort Mike Bandelin)  

  
RELATED DISTRICT 
POLICIES, PRACTICES, 
RESOLUTIONS OR 
ORDINANCES 

Policy 21.1.0 - Purchasing Policy for Goods and 
Services 

DATE: January 29, 2025 
 

 
 
I. RECOMMENDATION  
That the Board of Trustees make a Motion to Approve the Request for 
Qualifications document to perform a Needs Assessment for the Districts 
Snowflake Lodge Facility Replacement Project .  
 
II. BACKGROUND  
The District owns and operates two-day lodge facilities located at the ski venue. 
The Main Lodge located in the base area and Snowflake lodge located at the top 
of the Lakeview chair lift. Both Lodges were constructed in 1966 along with the 
other infrastructure including ski lifts and snowmaking to accommodate the Ski 
Incline Ski Area.  
 
The Main Lodge has seen two significant remodels to the facility. In 1986, a 
project constructed the upstairs bar area as well as the expansion to the kitchen 
area and customer food court area. In 2008, a substantial project was completed 
to the facility including adding restrooms to the bar area, expanded bar area 
seating, expanded food dry storage area, new main level restrooms, two new 
food outlets, new loft bar deck, a newly constructed roofline over the bar area, 
upgraded fire suppression system and new exterior siding and more. In 2023 a 
small project included replacing the 1986 walk-in cooler and freezer units which 
also included a new location within the kitchen area to expand the food prep 

Page 138 of 209



area. 
 
The Snowflake lodge as it operates today is basically the same as constructed in 
1966, with the exception of a project that was completed in 1994 which included 
expanding the outdoor seating deck area. 
 
This agenda item was presented at the Districts Capital Investment Committee 
on August 20, 2024 (Item F.2)  for discussion of the document as the District staff 
has learned from the community and the Board of Trustees that a plan should be 
put into place to address next steps for the needs and future of the Snowflake 
Lodge facility. Staff's intention with approval from the Board of Trustees is 
obtaining a qualified consulting firm is to assist in the process of assessing; 
 

1. Space use and Programming 
2. Capital Expenditures Analysis 
3. Financial Modeling 
4. Community and Stakeholder Collaboration 

 
III. BID RESULTS  
Not applicable at this time. 
 
IV. FINANCIAL IMPACT AND BUDGET  
To date the District has incurred costs of $5,000 for a site survey of the facility 
and estimates an expense of $65,000 to complete a Needs Assessment study of 
the facility. 
 
V. ALTERNATIVES  
Not applicable at this time. 
 
VI. COMMENTS  
Not applicable. 
 
VII. BUSINESS IMPACT/BENEFIT  
Not applicable at this time.  
 
VIII. ATTACHMENTS  
1. Needs Assessment RFQ_Snowflake Lodge Replacement 
 
IX. DECISION POINTS NEEDED FROM THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES  
Not applicable. 
 

Page 139 of 209



 

PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT 
1220 SWEETWATER ROAD . INCLINE VILLAGE NV 89451 
PH: (775) 832-1203 . FAX: (775) 832-1260 . WWW.IVGID.ORG 

 

 

 

 

 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS 

 

 

NEEDS ASSESSMENT 

for the 

SNOWFLAKE LODGE REPLACEMENT 

 

 
1210 Ski Way 

Incline Village, Nevada 

 

 

IVGID Project No. 3653BD1502 

 

 

FORMAL SELECTION PROCESS 

 

 

Issue Date: January 30, 2025 
  

Page 140 of 209



 

Page 1 of 13 
 

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS 

NEEDS ASSESSMENT  

INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
 

January 30, 2025 
 
Project Identification 

Project Name: Snowflake Lodge Replacement   
Project Address: 1210 Ski Way, Incline Village, NV 89451 
IVGID Project No.: 3653BD1502 
 

 
Owner 
Incline Village General Improvement District  
1220 Sweetwater Rd.  
Incline Village, NV 89451 
 

IVGID Project Manager: Bree Waters at baw@ivgid.org or 775.832.1372 
 

The professional consultant shall be qualified to submit on public work in accordance with Nevada 
Revised Statutes (NRS) Section 625 prior to submitting a response to this Request for 
Qualifications (RFQ). 
 

All questions with regard to this RFQ shall be directed through the Owner’s Planet Bids website; 
any questions regarding the use of Planet Bids shall be directed to the IVGID RFQ Contact listed 
above. 
 

 
Delivery Deadline 
Statements of Qualification (SOQ) packages from all interested parties will be submitted in PDF 
electronic format through the Owner’s Planet Bids website: 
https://www.planetbids.com/portal/portal.cfm?CompanyID=30437, and will be subject to the 
terms, conditions and scope of services herein stipulated and/or attached hereto. 
 

Deadline for receipt of SOQs is 2:00 p.m. February 27, 2025. Planet Bids will automatically refuse 
any SOQs submitted after this time. 

 

 

Page 141 of 209



 

Page 2 of 13 
 

Confidentiality: All documents and other information submitted in response to this RFQ, 
including, without limitation, a Proposal, are confidential and will not be disclosed until notice of 
intent to award the contract is issued. 
 
Incline Village General Improvement District (IVGID or District) is requesting competitive 
proposals for the Needs Assessment for the Snowflake Lodge Replacement (Project).  This work 
will result in a document that will contain the information that will be the foundation for the 
architectural design, and will contain financial modeling as well as the anticipated financial impact 
of the proposed project.  
 
The District will evaluate the Proposals submitted in response to this RFQ to identify the successful 
Consulting Firm to whom the Professional Services Contract for the Project will be awarded, based 
on a determination of which Proposal provides the best quality of deliverables to the District for 
the Project. A more detailed description of the selection process is set forth in Article 4, below. 
 

A visit to the site can be arranged by contacting the IVGID Project Manager, Bree Waters. 
 

ARTICLE 1 PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND BUDGET 

Project Name: Snowflake Lodge Replacement   

General Project Description:    

The Project proposes to assess the existing 1,100 SF Snowflake Lodge that was originally 
constructed in the 1960’s.  The District aims to create a bridging document that will serve as the 
foundation for the design of the new lodge. 

The Needs Assessment will include the following key components: 

1. Space Use Programming: Confirm the specific size and range of services to be offered at 
the new lodge. The current building is outdated and undersized. A capacity analysis of 
existing winter operations has identified a significant resort-wide seating deficit, 
particularly at the Snowflake location. 
 

2. Capital Expenditures Analysis: Determine the capital costs required to construct the new 
Snowflake Lodge facility and any related projects. 

 

3. Financial Modeling: Explore the revenue potential and operational expenses of the new 
Snowflake Lodge, and assess its impact on the financial performance of the resort as a 
whole. 

 

4. Community and Stakeholder Collaboration: Engage with the key stakeholders as well 

Page 142 of 209



 

Page 3 of 13 
 

at the community at critical junctures to ensure alignment and address concerns. 

 

ARTICLE 2 SOQ SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS 

The SOQ shall be indexed, shall be separated into the following specific categories, and the 
information within each category shall be ordered to match those listed in this RFQ. 

A cover letter shall be included that addresses pertinent general information as deemed appropriate by the 
Consulting Firm. The cover letter shall also include the appropriate contact person at the Consulting Firm, 
along with their phone number and e-mail address. 

 
1. Consulting Firm General Information 

a. Firm Information: Provide firm name, business address, year established, type of firm ownership 
(i.e., single source, joint venture), name and address of parent company, former parent company 
names, Nevada business license number, name and contact information for principal personnel, 
areas of responsibility, and total number of personnel. 

b. Firm Organizational Chart: Indicate lines of responsibility and/or communication. 
 
2. Key Personnel Qualifications 

a. Provide a resume for each key person that will be assigned to this project. Include their name and 
title, project assignment, total years of experience, years of experience with this firm, education 
including degree(s), year and discipline, active registrations and licenses including the number 
and state, other qualifications, and experience.  

b. Describe the specific role performed on each project listed in the resume, highlighting projects 
of similar size and scope where the person’s role was similar to their role on this project. 

 
3. Project Experience  

a. Include experience from a minimum of three (3) of the firm’s pertinent projects of similar work. 
Include project name, project description, client references for each project (including contact 
name, address, and telephone), completion date, project budget, type of services provided, and 
other pertinent information. 

b. Include any applicable experience in the State of Nevada. 

c. Include a statement as to whether the proposed key personnel were involved in any of the listed 
projects. 

 
4. Past Performance 

For each project listed under project experience (above), provide the following information: 

a. List the name, location, and a general description of each project. 

b. List your firm’s record of cost performance (list contract amount versus final statement).  Explain 
any cost deviations. 

c. List your firm’s record of schedule performance (list original schedule versus final completion 
date). Explain any schedule deviations. 

Page 143 of 209



 

Page 4 of 13 
 

 

5. Client References  
Consultant must provide a minimum of four (4) client references. The consultant’s 
submission of a complete list of references constitutes the consultant’s express consent for 
IVGID to contact the listed references regarding the qualifications of the consultant. 
 

6. Current Workload 
Provide a list and a summary paragraph describing the firm’s current workload, including a list of 
project names, associated contract values and rough percentage of completion. 

 
7. Miscellaneous Submittal Requirements 

a. Nevada Business License – Appendix A 

b. Prior Breach of Contract – Appendix B 

 
8. A Fee Proposal for the proposed work shall be submitted in a separate email marked confidential. Fee 

Structure to include a comprehensive fee schedule including a detailed statement of hourly rates for 
all positions and classifications of individuals involved and reimbursable expenses. The Fee proposal 
can be broken into: 1) Initial Assessment, 2) Design Development, 3) Construction Documents and 4) 
Permitting. The Fee Proposal will not be weighted nor a part of the evaluation.  

 

ARTICLE 3 RFQ SCHEDULE 

The following dates are tentative and are subject to revision by the Owner: 

RFQ for Professional Services Advertised  January 30, 2025 
RFQ - Last Day for Questions  February 13, 2025, 5:00 pm 
RFQ - Last Day for Addenda  February 20, 2025 
SOQ Due  February 27, 2025, 2:00 pm  
Consulting Firm Selection  March 6, 2025 
Consulting Firm Contract Negotiations  March 11, 2025 
IVGID Board of Trustees Approval March 12, 2025 

 

ARTICLE 4 SELECTION, EVALUATION AND CRITERIA  

Evaluation of the Consulting Firms will be based on the information provided in Article 2. 
Proposals will be evaluated on the following criteria: 
 

1. Key Personnel Qualifications 30 Points 
2. Project Experience (Similar Projects) 40 Points 
3. Past Performance 30 Points 

Selection Point Total 100 Points 

Page 144 of 209



 

Page 5 of 13 
 

 
Nevada Business License Pass/Fail 
Prior Breach of Contract Pass/Fail 
 

The Consulting Firm’s Cost Proposal shall be submitted in a separate email to Bree Waters at 
baw@ivgid.org, marked confidential with the Firm’s name and title of the Project.  

 

ARTICLE 5 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL 

The Contractor’s authorized representative may, prior to the date and time set as the deadline for 
receipt of the SOQs, modify or withdraw a response via Planet Bids. A modification or withdrawal 
received by IVGID Engineering Division’s Planet Bids website prior 2:00 p.m. (PST) on 
November 7, 2024, shall be considered timely. 
 

ARTICLE 6 TECHNICALLY UNACCEPTABLE/NON-RESPONSIVE 

Technically unacceptable/non-responsive SOQs will be rejected by IVGID. Unacceptable/non-
responsive SOQs are defined as SOQs that do not comply with the RFP terms, conditions, and 
requirements. 
 

ARTICLE 7 ANTI-LOBBYING CLAUSE 

During the period beginning on the date of issuance of this RFP by IVGID and ending on the date 
of substantial completion and Project acceptance by IVGID, no person or entity submitting a SOQ 
in response to this RFP, nor any officer, employee, representative, agent, or consultant representing 
such person or firm, shall communicate with the IVGID Board of Trustees, advisors, staff, or 
employees regarding this RFP or the scope of services described herein, except for: (1) 
communications with IVGID’s Submittal Contact identified in the Owner section above  under 
Designated Contacts and Communication (Ronnie Rector), of this RFP; and (2) communications 
that are in response to inquiries initiated by IVGID with regard to the written review and 
modification process, or for purposes of clarifying some element of a Proposal or response; and 
(3) communications with the Evaluation Committee during the interview process. 
 

ARTICLE 8 DISQUALIFICATION OF SOQS 

Contractors may be disqualified and SOQs may be rejected for any of, but not limited to, the 
following causes: 

1. Lack of signature by an authorized representative on the SOQ 

2. Failure to properly complete the SOQ 

3. Evidence of collusion among Contractors 

4. Violation of Article 12 Anti-Lobbying Clause 

Page 145 of 209



 

Page 6 of 13 
 

IVGID reserves the right to waive any minor informality or irregularity, or to request clarification 
of such minor informalities or irregularities from any or all Prospective Contractors. 
 
ARTICLE 9 CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

No employee, officer, or agent of IVGID shall participate in the selection, or in the award or 
administration, of the Agreement if a conflict of interest, real or apparent, would be involved. Such 
a conflict would arise when one of the following has a financial or other interest in any firm 
proposing on or selected for the award: 

1. The employee, or an officer or agent of the employee 

2. Any member of the employee’s immediate family 

3. The employee’s business partner 

4. An organization which employs, or is about to employ, any of the above 
 

IVGID’s officers, employees, and agents shall neither solicit nor accept gratuities, favors, or 
anything of monetary value from Contractors, Prospective Contractors, and subcontractors to 
Contractors whereby the intent could reasonably be inferred as influencing the employee in the 
performance of his or her duties or was intended as a reward for any official act on his or her part. 
 

Prior to entering into the Pre-Construction Services Agreement, the Contractor is required to 
inform IVGID of any real or apparent organizational conflict of interest. Such organizational 
conflict of interest exists when the nature of the work to be performed under an Agreement may, 
without some restriction on future activities, result in an unfair competitive advantage to the 
Contractor, or may impact the Contractor’s objectivity in performing the Work. 
 

ARTICLE 10 COLLUSION CLAUSE 

Any evidence of agreement or collusion among Contractors will render the Proposal of such 
Contractors void. 
 

Advance disclosures of any information to any particular Contractor, which gives that particular 
Contractor any advantage over any other Prospective Contractor, in advance of the opening, made 
or permitted by a member of IVGID or representative thereof, will operate to void all SOQs of that 
particular bid, solicitation, or request. 
 

ARTICLE 11 RFQ APPENDIX 

Only short-listed firms will be asked for a Fee Proposal and to review the Pre-Construction and 
Construction Agreements, as well as the General and Supplementary Conditions of the contract 
for comments. They are included herein for reference. 
 

Page 146 of 209



 

Page 7 of 13 
 

Appendixes to this RFP are:  

Appendix A – Business License Information   

Appendix B – Certificate of Eligibility  

Appendix C– Sample Owner Professional Services Agreement  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 147 of 209



 

 

 APPENDIX A 

 
BUSINESS LICENSING INFORMATION 

Page 148 of 209



 

 

BUSINESS LICENSING INFORMATION All vendors doing business within IVGID are required 
to obtain and maintain a current business license from Washoe County prior to commencement of 
work (Sparks Municipal Code Section 5.08.020A). Vendor(s) awarded a contract resulting from this 
bid shall be required to obtain a current business license if they do not already hold one. 

 
 

Washoe County Business License Number: 

Date Issued: 

Date of Expiration: 

Name of Licensee: 

City, State, Zip Code of Licensee: 

Telephone Number of Licensee: 

Taxpayer Identification Number: 

 
  

Page 149 of 209



 

 

APPENDIX B 

 
CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION AND OTHER 

RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS

Page 150 of 209



 

 

CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, 
SUSPENSION, AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS 

(This form to be signed and returned at the time of bid) 
 
 
 

The prospective bidder,  certifies to the best 
of its knowledge and belief that it and its principals: 

 
(a) Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, 

or voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or 
agency; 

 
(b) Have not within a three year period preceding this proposal been convicted of or had 

a civil judgment rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense 
in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (Federal, 
State, or local) transaction or contract under a public transaction; violation of Federal 
or State antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, 
falsification or destruction of records, making false statements, or receiving stolen 
property; 

 
(c) Are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a 

government entity (Federal, State, or local) with commission of any of the offenses 
enumerated in paragraph (b) of this certification; and 

 
(d) Have not within a three-year period preceding this application/proposal had one or 

more public transactions (Federal, State, or local) terminated for cause or default. 
 
 

I understand that a false statement on this certification may be grounds for rejection of 
this proposal or termination of the award. Any exceptions provided will not necessarily 
result in denial of award, but will be considered in determining bidder responsibility and 
whether or not IVGID will enter into contract with the party. For any exception noted, 
indicate on an attached sheet to whom it applies, initiating agency, and dates of action. 
Providing false information may result in criminal prosecution or administrative 
sanctions. 

 
 
 

Typed Name & Title of Authorized Representative 
 
 
 

Signature of Authorized Representative Date 
 
 

I am unable to certify to the above statement. My explanation is attached. 
 
 

Signature  Date   

Page 151 of 209



APPENDIX C

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT EXAMPLE

(NOT INCLUDED) 

Page 152 of 209



Item G.3.

MEMORANDUM

To: Board of Trustees

From: Mike Bandelin
Acting District General Manager

Susan Herron
Director of Administrative Services

Subject: Open Discussion and Possible Direction on Proceeding with (a) a 
Request for Qualifications for District General Counsel Services 
and/or (b) Proceed with a Professional Recruitment of a District 
General Counsel (in house)

Date: January 29, 2025

I. RECOMMENDATION

That the Board of Trustees makes a motion to proceed with a professional 
recruitment for an in-house District General Counsel.

II. BACKGROUND

The present six-month contract, with Best, Best & Krieger, was executed on 
December 11, 2024; it expires June 30, 2025 and is attached hereto as Attachment 
A.

The key items for the current contract are as follows:

• Attorney rate is $297 per hour with all other services being billed at $182 per 
hour (excluding special services)

• Meeting attendance is $287 for hour for the first 3 hours and then $297 for 
each hour thereafter.

• Travel is billed at $145 per hour
• On July 1, 2025, there is an inflationary escalation at no more than 5%

Analysis of the billings from July 2023 to June of 2024 (a full fiscal year and at 
slightly lower rates than provided about) showed the following high level totals:

Page 153 of 209



Open Discussion and Possible Direction on Proceeding
 with (a) a Request for Qualifications for District General
 Counsel Services and/or (b) Proceed with a Professional
 Recruitment of a District General Counsel (in house) -2- January 29, 2025

Legal Counsel ........................................................$166,183.51
Public Records .......................................................$6,604.00
Meeting Attendance ...............................................$18,700.00
Meeting Attendance (Exceeding 3 hours) ..............$2,451.00
Travel .....................................................................$4,242.00
TOTAL ...................................................................$198,180.51

In researching what other agencies pay their full-time, in-house counsel, Staff has 
determined the following:

• Washoe County District Attorney – base salary = $180,926.00*.
• City Attorney for the City of Reno – base salary = $158,000* 

*It is acknowledged that these salaries are not fully burdened and do not include 
health/supplemental insurance or retirement benefits.

III. SUPPORT OF THIS RECOMMENDATION

The Senior Team supports the District hiring a full-time, year round, in-house 
District General Counsel position as it would provide all Senior Management Staff 
and Trustees access to the attorney during normal business hours; there would be 
no additional costs for excess meetings and related costs for travel, and it would 
make available an attorney well versed in all aspects of District operations and 
employment law as applicable in the State of Nevada.

IV. ALTERNATIVE

The Board of Trustees could instruct Staff to prepare a Request for Qualifications 
for legal services; the draft RFP for legal services is included herewith as 
Attachment B and it was presented to the Board of Trustees on August 30, 2023 
and it would be the template for the Request for Qualifications.

V. FINANCIAL IMPACT

It is estimated that the professional recruitment for this position would not exceed 
$20,000 and that money would most likely be come from the Utility Fund, 
Community Services Fund, Beach Fund and General Fund.

Page 154 of 209



ATTACHMENT A

Page 155 of 209



Page 156 of 209



Page 157 of 209



Page 158 of 209



Page 159 of 209



Page 160 of 209



Page 161 of 209



Page 162 of 209



Page 163 of 209



Page 164 of 209



Page 165 of 209



REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR 
INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL 

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT FOR 
GENERAL COUNSEL LEGAL 

SERVICES

ATTACHMENT B

Page 166 of 209



REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT 
DISTRICT FOR GENERAL COUNSEL LEGAL SERVICES

-2- Draft Prepared for the 8/30/2023 BOT Meeting

The Incline Village General Improvement District (IVGID or District) is requesting proposals 
from qualified law firms to provide legal services to the District serving in the capacity of General 
Counsel, in addition to advising on matters related to a broad range of general legal services.  

I. ABOUT IVGID 

1. District Overview: The District is a General Improvement District, established under 
Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) Chapter 318 and chartered to provide water, sewer, trash 
and recreation services for over 9,000 residents in the communities of Incline Village and 
Crystal Bay, Nevada. Within the limits of the NRS, IVGID is empowered to determine 
what facilities and services it should offer that will preserve or enhance the general health, 
safety and welfare of the community. For more information about the District, please visit: 
https://www.yourtahoeplace.com/ivgid.

2. Governing Board: IVGID is governed by an elected five-member Board of Trustees that 
serve staggered four-year terms of office.

3. Organization: The District has approximately 112 full time employees, structured under 
departments that serve under the direction of a General Manager. Departments include 
Public Works, Community Services, and Administration.

II. SCOPE OF WORK 

Services to be Provided Regularly

1. Provide advice to the Board of Trustees and District Management Staff on matters of law 
including, but not limited to, the Open Meeting Law, NRS 318, Ethics Law, conflict of 
interest issues, the Public Records Act, and parliamentary procedures.

2. Attend all regular and special Board meetings. Regular Board Meetings are held at 6:00 
p.m. on the 2nd and last Wednesday of each month.

3. Attend all meetings of the IVGID Audit Committee.  The IVGID Audit Committee meets 
as needed.

4. Attend all meetings of the Board Advisory Committees; presently there are two – Capital 
Projects Investment Committee and Golf Committee. These meetings are scheduled to be 
held via Zoom however there might occasionally be an in person meeting requiring 
attendance.

5. Attend other meetings as requested by the Board of Trustees, General Manager, or other 
designee.

6. Provide regular updates on items of specific legal concern of the District as well as on 
current general topics of interest.

7. Provide advice to the Board of Trustees and District Management Staff on commencement 
or defense of litigation to protect IVGID’s interests, and litigation of such issues, as 
directed.

8. Prepare and/or review ordinances, resolutions, Board packets, contracts, memoranda of 
understanding and other agreements entered into by IVGID.

9. Provide written updates on new State and Federal regulations, legislation, and judicial 
decisions or other activities impacting or having the potential to impact IVGID, and suggest 

Page 167 of 209



REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT 
DISTRICT FOR GENERAL COUNSEL LEGAL SERVICES

-3- Draft Prepared for the 8/30/2023 BOT Meeting

actions to affect the outcome of those activities or, once implemented, changes needed in 
District policies, procedures and operations to ensure compliance.

10. Research and interpret laws, court decisions and other authorities in order to prepare legal 
opinions to advise the Board and staff on legal matters pertaining to District interests.

11. Review contracts, bid specifications, and purchasing documents for the purposes of legal 
and policy compliance, appropriate risk avoidance and transfer, and manufacturer’s defect 
protection.

12. Consult with Board and staff on personnel, labor relations, retirement, forced staff 
reductions, litigation, worker’s compensation, and other matters concerning District 
business as requested.

13. Provide legal assistance and consultation to the Board and staff as requested on matters of 
property acquisition, eminent domain, property rights and property management, trespass, 
encroachment, lease agreements, lessee obligations, easements, and access.

14. Coordinate and attend weekly meetings with District Staff to provide guidance on contracts 
and other legal items.

III. PROPOSAL SCHEDULE 

The tentative schedule is as follows: 

1. Proposals due at IVGID Office: ________________________
2. Interviews: ________________________
3. Finalist Negotiations Complete: ________________________
4. IVGID Board Selection: ________________________
5. Implementation Date: ________________________

IVGID expects, but does not guarantee, that the decision or selection of a firm will be made by the 
Board of Trustees on the date indicated. 

IV. The Proposal

1. Statement of Qualifications

Responding firms shall provide a clear description of the size and experience of the firm in 
providing legal guidance in all areas of general governance for general improvement districts and 
similar Nevada public agencies. The proposal should include the complete resumes of all attorneys 
and associates that will be assigned to the District contract, including membership status in the 
Nevada State Bar.  

The proposal should also provide:

A. A description of the firm’s current workload and the firm’s ability to perform work required 
on a timely basis.

B. A full description of any areas of possible conflict of interest.
C. The geographic location of the firm’s office(s) and the location of the primary staff to be 

assigned to this contract.

Page 168 of 209



REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT 
DISTRICT FOR GENERAL COUNSEL LEGAL SERVICES

-4- Draft Prepared for the 8/30/2023 BOT Meeting

D. A statement of the firm’s experience and qualifications that make it uniquely qualified to 
represent the District in current and future general counsel matters with reference to the 
items listed in Section II of this RFP.

E. A list of a minimum of three references comprised of clients for which the firm has 
competed similar work, including their contact information.

F. The limits of your professional liability insurance coverage.
G. A draft legal services agreement.

2. Fee Proposal

Responding firms should provide a fee proposal listing the hourly billing rates for each attorney 
that will be assigned to the contract. The fee proposal should also list hourly billing rates for 
Paralegal, Legal Assistant, and clerical and administrative support services.  Indicate the increment 
of billing time associated with billing by hourly rate.

The District will consider alternative proposals, including a lump sum retainer for all or certain 
services. If a retainer is proposed, indicate the amount and the maximum chargeable hours assumed 
in the retainer.  Include the proposed hourly rates above the maximum. If a combination of retainer 
and hourly, indicate what services would be covered by the retainer and what would be covered 
hourly.  Indicate how/whether travel time and other reimbursable expenses will be billed, including 
the hourly rate for travel.

V. PROCEDURE FOR SUBMITTING PROPOSALS 

Proposals will be accepted by the Director of Administrative Services until __________. Each 
firm responding to this RFP must submit a written copy of the proposal in a sealed envelope, 
plainly marked: 

“Proposal for the Incline Village General Improvement District for General 
Counsel Legal Services”

Proposals shall be addressed to: Ms. Susan Herron
Director of Administrative Services
IVGID
893 Southwood Boulevard
Incline Village, NV   89451

Questions regarding this Request for Proposal (RFP) shall be directed only to Ms. Susan Herron, 
Director of Administrative Services. Do not contact any other IVGID employee, official, or 
consultant regarding this RFP. Doing so may disqualify the proposer. Answers to all questions will 
be issued to all prospective proposers via e-mail.

VI. PROPOSAL EVALUATION 

Evaluation of the proposals will be based upon a competitive selection process. It will not, 
however, be limited to price alone. 

1. The Process

Page 169 of 209



REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT 
DISTRICT FOR GENERAL COUNSEL LEGAL SERVICES

-5- Draft Prepared for the 8/30/2023 BOT Meeting

A. All proposals will be evaluated, references will be checked and the final firms may be 
invited to an interview during the month of _________. Approximately one (1) hour will 
be available for each interview to insure that each firm has ample time to present its 
credentials. 

B. Consultant must satisfy IVGID of its ability to perform the services required. Consultant 
must demonstrate and document a history of timely and satisfactory performance of similar 
projects in a manner which addresses the stated criteria. Consultant shall be responsible for 
the accuracy of the information supplied concerning references. 

C. IVGID reserves the right to request additional information from each applicant. 
D. IVGID reserves the right to reject all proposals submitted, and no representation is made 

hereby that any contract will be awarded pursuant to this RFP. IVGID accepts no financial 
responsibilities for costs incurred by any consultant regarding this RFP. 

E. All proposals submitted to IVGID shall become the property of IVGID and may be 
disclosed publicly. 

F. Consultant may withdraw its proposal, either in person or by telegraphic or written request; 
it should, however, do this prior to the time set for opening of proposals.

2. Evaluation Criteria

A. Mandatory Elements

1) The firm is independent and properly licensed to practice in the State of Nevada.
2) The firm has no conflict of interest with regard to any other work performed by the 

firm for IVGID. 
3) The firm adheres to the instructions in this RFP on preparing and submitting the 

proposal.

B. Technical Qualifications

1) Expertise and Experience 
a. The firm’s past experience and performance on comparable private/governmental 

engagements.
b. The quality of the firm’s professional personnel to be assigned to the engagement 

and the quality of the firm’s management support personnel to be available for 
technical consultation. 

c. References 
2)  Interest Letter 

a. Understanding of work to be done. 
b. Firm’s statement on why it believes itself to be best qualified. 
c. Local experience and knowledge of local conditions.

C. Price 

1) Proposals will be evaluated to determine the best economic value of the proposal.

D. Final Selection

Page 170 of 209



REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT 
DISTRICT FOR GENERAL COUNSEL LEGAL SERVICES

-6- Draft Prepared for the 8/30/2023 BOT Meeting

1) The Board of Trustees will make a final selection. 

VII. MISCELLANEOUS

1. Amendments to Proposals: No amendment, addendum or modification will be accepted 
after a proposal has been submitted to IVGID. If a change to a proposal that has been 
submitted is desired, the submitted proposal must be withdrawn and the replacement 
proposal submitted to the District prior to the deadline for proposal submittals. 

2. Cancellation of RFP: IVGID reserves the right to cancel this RFP at any time prior to 
contract award without obligation in any manner for proposal preparation, interview, fee 
negotiation or other marketing costs associated with this RFP.

3. No Commitment to Award: Issuance of this RFP and receipt of proposals does not commit 
IVGID to award a contract. IVGID expressly reserves the right to postpone the proposal 
for its own convenience, to accept or reject any or all proposals received in response to this 
RFP, to negotiate with more than one Proposer concurrently, or to cancel all or part of this 
RFP.

4. Right to Negotiate and/or Reject Proposals: IVGID reserves the right to negotiate any price 
or provision, task order or service, accept any part or all of any proposals, waive any 
irregularities, and to reject any and all, or parts of any and all proposals, whenever, in the 
sole and absolute discretion of IVGID, such action shall serve its best interests and those 
of the tax-paying public. The Proposers are encouraged to submit their best prices in their 
proposals, and IVGID intends to negotiate only with the Proposer(s) whose proposal most 
closely meets IVGID’s requirements at best value. The Agreement, if any is awarded, will 
go to the Proposer whose proposal best meets IVGID’s requirements.

Publication Date of RFP: _______________________________

Page 171 of 209



 ITEM G.4. 
M E M O R A N D U M 

  
TO: Board of Trustees 
  
THROUGH: Mike Bandelin, Acting District General Manager and Diamond Peak 

Ski Resort General Manager 
  
FROM: Kate Nelson, Director of Public Works 
  
SUBJECT: Open Discussion and Possible Direction on the Incline Beach House 

and Access Projects (for possible action). (Requesting Staff 
Member: Director of Public Works Kate Nelson)  

  
RELATED FY 2023 
STRATEGIC PLAN 
BUDGET INITIATIVE(S): 

 

  
RELATED DISTRICT 
POLICIES, PRACTICES, 
RESOLUTIONS OR 
ORDINANCES 

LONG RANGE PRINCIPLE #5 – ASSETS AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
The District will practice perpetual asset 
renewal, replacement and improvement to 
provide safe and superior long term utility 
services and recreation venues, facilities, and 
services. 

  
DATE: January 29, 2025 
 

 
 
I. RECOMMENDATION  
  
 
II. BACKGROUND  
The Incline Beach House project has a history dating back to 2016 and has 
undergone multiple planning iterations since its inception. To ensure that the 
Board Members have a comprehensive understanding of the project, Staff 
provided an internal memo on January 15, 2025. This memo includes all 
previous Board memos related to the Beach House and Access Project, dating 
back to 2022 (summary below). 
 
To move the project forward, Staff is seeking direction from the Board. The 
January 15th memo outlines several key decision points for the Board's 
consideration: 
 

Page 172 of 209



1. Is the Incline Beach House still a Board Priority Project? 
 
2. Is the Incline Beach Access Project a Board Priority? 

• Does the Board want to have RFID vehicle and pedestrian gates 
installed at Incline Beach? This will allow closure of the Beaches 
year-round which may reduce the need for staffing during the off 
season. 

 
3. Does the Board want to move forward with the amendment to the Agreement 
with CORE Construction to develop a second design option? 

• If Yes – Staff will request an updated amendment from the Design 
Build Team 

• Does the scope of the existing amendment suffice for the 
Board?   For example, providing an additional design with a 
different architectural style, different building materials, etc? 

• Is there a function of the building that needs to be revised? 
o Kitchen 
o Bar 
o Outdoor Seating 
o Outdoor Showers vs just foot wash 

 
4. Does the Board want flexibility in who operates the concession at the Beach? 
(Inhouse or Outside Concessionaire) 

• Food & Beverage 
• Alcohol 
• Events – Music on the Beach 

 
 
Summary of Board Memo's Included for background education: 
July 27, 2022 (Item H.1) 
February 8, 2023 (Item F.8) 
April 5, 2023 (Item G2-FY 2023/24 Budget Workshop #3) 
July 26, 2023 (Item H.1) 
February 28, 2024 (Item G.2) 
March 28, 2024 (Item E.2) 
April 16, 2024 (Internal Board Memo) 
May 8, 2024 (Item G.5) 
June 12, 2024 (Item G.1) 
October 9, 2024 (Item E.4)  
  
 

Page 173 of 209



III. BID RESULTS  
NA 
 
IV. FINANCIAL IMPACT AND BUDGET  
Based on Board direction, the information will be used to better inform the CIP 
budget for the Incline Beach House and Access project. 
 
V. ALTERNATIVES  
NA 
 
VI. COMMENTS   
 
VII. BUSINESS IMPACT/BENEFIT  
NA  
 
VIII. ATTACHMENTS  
None 
 
IX. DECISION POINTS NEEDED FROM THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES  
See Background Section 
 

Page 174 of 209



 ITEM G.5. 
M E M O R A N D U M 

  
TO: Board of Trustees 
  
THROUGH: Mike Bandelin, Acting District General Manager and Diamond Peak 

Ski Resort General Manager 
  
FROM: Kate Nelson, Director of Public Works 
  
SUBJECT: Capital Improvement Project Workshop; for Discussion and Possible 

Direction (for possible action). (Requesting Staff Member: Acting 
General Manager Mike Bandelin and Director of Public Works Kate 
Nelson)  

  
RELATED FY 2023 
STRATEGIC PLAN 
BUDGET INITIATIVE(S): 

 

  
RELATED DISTRICT 
POLICIES, PRACTICES, 
RESOLUTIONS OR 
ORDINANCES 

Board Policies: 8.1.0 Capitalization of Fixed 
Assets; 12.1.0 Capital Planning Multi-Year 
Planning; 13.1.0 Capital Planning Project 
Budgeting; 13.2.0 Capital Planning Capital 
Expenditures 
 
LONG RANGE PRINCIPLE #3 - FINANCE 
The District will ensure fiscal responsibility and 
sustainability of service capacities through 
prudent fiscal management and maintaining 
effective financial policies for internal controls, 
operating budgets, fund balances, capital 
improvement and debt management. 
 
LONG RANGE PRINCIPLE #5 – ASSETS AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
The District will practice perpetual asset 
renewal, replacement and improvement to 
provide safe and superior long term utility 
services and recreation venues, facilities, and 
services. 

  
DATE: January 29, 2025 
 

 
 

Page 175 of 209



I. RECOMMENDATION  
  
 
II. BACKGROUND  
The purpose of this discussion is to provide an overview of both the previous (FY 
2023/24) and current fiscal year's (FY 2024/25) Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) 
(Attachment A) and work to outline the strategic roadmap for upcoming projects 
that will require the Board's direction and approval, in alignment with Board 
Policies 8.1.0 Capitalization of Fixed Assets, 12.1.0 Capital Planning Multi-Year 
Planning Policy, 13.1.0 Capital Project Budgeting, and 13.2.0 Capital Planning 
Capital Expenditures (Attachment B). 
 
The CIP for the previous fiscal year (FY 2023/24) faced coordination challenges 
across departments during the budgeting process. As a result, some projects 
were not re-budgeted, funds were not correctly rolled forward, and a few projects 
were inadvertently removed from the CIP list despite not being complete. These 
projects will be re-budgeted for FY 2025/26 during the upcoming budget process. 
 
Looking ahead, several projects will require Board approval, financial 
commitments, and strategic direction. Notable examples include the Bike Park, 
Dog Park, Ski Way Reconstruction, Tennis Court Reconstruction, Rec 
Center/Tennis Center Pavement Reconstruction with BMPs, and the 
establishment of Board priority projects. 
 
Staff has provided the current Board Policies related to capital planning and 
budgeting for review and reference. These policies should be evaluated to 
ensure compliance with NRS and alignment with evolving best practices and 
regulatory standards. 
 
Following tonight's discussion and feedback, Staff will incorporate your direction 
into the strategic planning for FY 2025/26. Staff will also be coordinating and 
scheduling Budget Workshops with the Board as part of the Long Range 
Calendar item to ensure compliance and adherence to the aforementioned 
policies. 
 
III. BID RESULTS  
 
 
IV. FINANCIAL IMPACT AND BUDGET  
Staff will return to the Board at a future CIP budget workshop to further review 
the CIP, explore potential funding strategies including any necessary 
adjustments to facility fees and ensure alignment on priorities for the upcoming 
fiscal year and beyond. 
 
V. ALTERNATIVES   
 
VI. COMMENTS   

Page 176 of 209



 
VII. BUSINESS IMPACT/BENEFIT  
  
 
VIII. ATTACHMENTS  
1. Attachment A_CIP Status FY 2024-25 
2. Attachment B_Board Policies 
 
IX. DECISION POINTS NEEDED FROM THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES   
 

Page 177 of 209



General Fund
Acct/IT

Server Storage and Computing Hardware                            -             275,000 100%  Complete 
Accounting Printer Replacement                       8,400                     -   100%  Complete 
Network Upgrades - Switches, Controllers, WAP                   308,334                     -   100%  Complete 

General & Admin
                           -                       -   

Parks
Central Irrigation Controller Upgrade                            -               60,000 0%  Quoted 
Total General Fund                316,734         335,000 

Unfunded Parks Skate Park Enhancement                   476,971                     -    Unfunded 
Pavement Maint.                     77,365                     -    Unfunded 
Total General Fund - Unfunded                554,336                   -   

Approved FY 
2024-25Fund Project Title  Encumbered  Status % Completed

Page 178 of 209

Bree Waters
Text Box
Attachment A



Utilites 
Public Works Shared

Utilities System and Plant Control Upgrades (SCADA)                         -              250,000 10%  In Progress 
Pavement Maintenance Utility Facilities                285,590                     -   50%  In Progress 
Web Site Redesign and Upgrade                  10,000                     -   95%  In Progress 
Public Works Billing Software Replacement                  20,000                     -   100%  Complete 
Pavement Maintenance Res 3-1 WPS 4-2/5-1                206,759                     -   25%  In Design  
Total Public Works Shared             522,349         250,000                       -   

Solid Waste 
HHW Prefab Chemical Storage Building                         -   120,000 10%  RFP Out  
Total Solid Waste         120,000 

Water
Watermain Replacement - Ponderosa Ranch Road                         -              800,000 10%  Bid Awarded 
Watermain Replacement - Alder Ave                  95,000                     -   100%  Complete 
Watermain Replacement - Future                637,561                     -   0%  Planning 
Water Pumping Station Improvements                  77,692            105,000 100%  Complete 
Burnt Cedar Water Disinfection Plant Improvements                  31,744            160,000 100%  Complete 
SCADA Management Servers/Network - BCDP                         -              100,000 5%  RFQ Out 
BCWDP Emergency Generator Fuel Tank                419,437                     -   10%  Bid 
Replace Commercial Water Meters, Vaults, and Lids                  39,987                     -   100%  Complete 
Fire Hydrant Replacement                248,467                     -   15%  In Design  
Total Water          1,549,888      1,165,000 

Sewer
Effluent Pipeline Project (Encumbered)           59,000,000       15,700,000 51%  In Construction  
Effluent Storage Tank (Encumbered)             6,894,520                     -   95%  In Construction  
Sewer Pumping Station Improvements                  32,248            250,000 100%  Complete 
WRRF Roof Replacement                325,000                     -   10%  Bid Awarded 
Wetlands Effluent Disposal Facility Improvements                  29,834              50,000 5%  In Planning 
Sewer Main Rehabilitation                  98,740            105,000 100%  Complete 
Sewer Pump Station #1 Improvements                294,298                     -   75%  In Construction  
Total Sewer        66,674,640    16,105,000 

Total Utilities        68,746,877    17,390,000 

 Status Fund Project Title  Encumbered Approved FY 
2024-25 % Completed

Page 179 of 209



Community Services
Championship Golf

Championship Golf Cart Barn Siding Replacement                          -             165,000 10%  In Design  
Cart Path Replacement - Champ Course                165,374           195,000 10%  In Design  
Range Ball Machine Replacement                  10,000                     -   
Pavement Maintenance of Parking Lots - Champ                  16,925                     -   15%  In Planning  
Total Championship Golf             192,299         195,000 

Mountain Golf 
Pavement Maintenance of Parking Lots - Mountain                  29,900                     -   15%  In Planning 
Irrigation Improvements                  12,831                     -   50%  In Progress 
Total Mountain Golf               42,731                   -   

Ski
Replace Ski Lodge Facility Equipment- Electrical                110,494 175,000 10%  Bidding 
Red Fox Ski Lift Maintenance and Improvements                  63,441 75,000 100%  Complete 
Snowmaking Infrastructure Replacement                375,189 100,000 100%  Complete 
Replace 1966 Snowflake Lodge                250,000                     -   10%  RFQ 
Pavement Maint.                  65,040                     -   5%  In Design  
Total Ski             864,164         350,000 

Tennis 
Pavement Maintech- Tennis                    7,604                     -   10%  In Design 
Total Tennis                 7,604                   -   

Rec Center
Recreation Center Pavement Maintenance                  15,512                     -   10%  In Design  
Website Redesign and upgrade                  33,644                     -   95%  In Progress 
Rec Center Exterior Wall Waterproofing & French Drain                  86,777                     -   15%  In Planning 
Fitness Equipment                  82,381 57,200 10%  Quoted 
HVAC System Replacement             1,035,000 1,035,000 10%  Bidding 
Total Recreation Center             218,314           57,200 

Total Community Services          1,325,112         602,200 

Unfunded Ski Replace Ski Rental Equipment                300,000                     -    Unfunded 
Total Community Services - Unfunded             300,000                   -   

 Status % CompletedApproved FY 
2024-25Fund Project Title  Encumbered  

Page 180 of 209



Beaches
Beaches

Ski Beach Boat Ramp Improvement Project                            -             150,000 5%  In Planning 
Ski Beach Bridge (2) Replacement                            -   170,000 5%  In Planning  
Beach Furnishings                            -   20,000 10%  Quoted 
Central Irrigation Controller Upgrade                            -   30,000 10%  Quoted 
Beach Access Improvements                     56,538 400,000 10%  In Design  
Incline Beach House and Access Project                            -   3,445,000 10%  In Design  
Incline Beach Facility Replacement *                3,948,750                     -   10%  In Design  
Burnt Cedar Swimming Pool and site improvements                     75,000                     -   15%  Quoted 
Beach Furnishings                     31,000                     -   10%  Quoted 
Pavement Maint - Burnt Cedar Beach                     24,800                     -   10%  In Planning 
Pavement Maint -  Beaches (All)                     19,774                     -   10%  In Planning 
Total Beach Fund             4,155,862      4,215,000 

 Status % CompletedApproved FY 
2024-25Fund Project Title  Encumbered 

Page 181 of 209



Accounting, Auditing and Financial Reporting 
Capitalization of Fixed Assets 

Policy 8.1.0 
(Replaces Policy 8.1.0, 9.1.0 and Practice 2.9.0) 

Effective January 1, 2022 1 

Policy. Capital assets include land, improvements to land, water rights, 
easements, buildings, building improvements, vehicles, machinery, 
equipment, right to use, infrastructure, construction in process (CIP), and  all 
other tangible or intangible assets that are used in District operations that 
have initial useful lives of three years or more and meet defined capitalization 
thresholds. 

1.0 Classification of Capital Assets. The District classifies capital assets 
in the following groups for financial reporting: 

• Land
• Buildings and structures
• Venue Improvements
• Service Infrastructure
• Equipment and Vehicles
• Right to Use
• Construction in progress

2.0  Capitalization Thresholds. The District's capitalization threshold shall 
be as follows: 

ASSET CLASS ...................................... CAPITALIZATION THRESHOLD 
Land……………………………………….. .......................All 
Right to Use ....................................................................All 
Building and Structures ............................................. $25,000 
Venue Improvements ................................................ $10,000 
Service Infrastructure.............................. ................. $ 25,000 
Equipment and Vehicles........................ .................. $ 10,000 

2.1 Capitalization thresholds are typically to be applied to individual items. 
Thresholds may be applied to a network or group of items when: 

1) Similar types of assets are grouped together as a class
(example: golf carts when they are components of a fleet;
banquet facility furnishing)

2) The items represent components of a system or network

ATTACHMENT B

Page 182 of 209



 
 

Accounting, Auditing and Financial Reporting 
Capitalization of Fixed Assets 

Policy 8.1.0 
(Replaces Policy 8.1.0, 9.1.0 and Practice 2.9.0) 

 
 

Effective January 1, 2022 2 

(components of a computer/telephone network; snow-making 
system) 

 
In cases where any asset is established to be a group of items, rather 
than being capitalized individually, the District will document 
justification to support the grouping of the assets. 

 
3.0 Cost Basis. Capital assets purchased by the District are recorded at 

cost, and shall include purchase price, constructions cost, value of donated 
goods and/or services, and ancillary charges.  

 
3.1 Ancillary charges mean incidental costs necessary to place a capital 

asset into its intended location, condition, or use. Examples include 
title fees, attorney or architect fees, freight charges, taxes, and site 
preparation costs. Ancillary charges are capitalized in addition to the 
purchase price and/or construction cost of capital assets.  

3.2 Capital assets donated to the District are recorded at fair value on 
the date accepted. 

 
4.0 Useful Life of Capital Assets. Assets should only be capitalized if they 

have an estimated useful life of three years of more. 
 
4.1 Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method 

over the following estimated useful life: 
 
Asset Class .................................................... Years 
Building and Structures .................................. 10-40 
Venue Improvements ..................................... 10-25 
Service Infrastructure ...................................... 5-40 
Equipment and Vehicles ................................. 3-20 

 
Note: The Accounting Division will maintain Schedule of Useful Life for 
specific assets. 

 
  

Page 183 of 209



 
 

Accounting, Auditing and Financial Reporting 
Capitalization of Fixed Assets 

Policy 8.1.0 
(Replaces Policy 8.1.0, 9.1.0 and Practice 2.9.0) 

 
 

Effective January 1, 2022 3 

5.0 Criteria for Capitalization of Fixed Assets 
 
5.1. Capital projects will be capitalized if they meet one of the following 

criteria: 
 
1) The project is creating a new asset for the District 
2) The project extends the useful life of an asset beyond what 

was originally established as the estimated useful life for that 
asset, and/or  

3) Significantly increases the service capacity of the asset 
 

5.2 Right to Use assets represent leased equipment and will be 
capitalized using the current value of all future lease payments per 
GASB 87. If the lease does not have a stated interest rate to 
determine current value with, an imputed rate will be determined 
by other similar leases. 

 
5.3 Expenditures that simply maintain a given level of service or repair 

an item to its intended function should be expensed. 
 
5.4 Three major categories of costs subsequent to original construction 

or acquisition are incurred relative to capital assets: 
 

1) Capital Improvements - an improvement is the substitution 
of a better component for which possesses superior 
performance capabilities, whereas a replacement is the 
substitution of a similar component. 

2) Capital Replacement - a replacement, which is a substitution 
of a component of the asset with one of similar quality is to 
be expensed. On rare occasions, a replacement can be 
considered improvements and be capitalized if it meets 
criteria for capitalization (5.1). 

3) Capital Maintenance - activities budgeted as capital projects 
will be expensed as repair and maintenance expenses if they 
meet one of the following criteria: 

 

Page 184 of 209



 
 

Accounting, Auditing and Financial Reporting 
Capitalization of Fixed Assets 

Policy 8.1.0 
(Replaces Policy 8.1.0, 9.1.0 and Practice 2.9.0) 

 
 

Effective January 1, 2022 4 

a. The activity is performed on a regular and recurring 
basis to keep the District’s assets in their normal 
operating condition over the course of the originally 
established useful life. 

b. The project represents a repair activity that restores an 
asset to its original   function. 

 
6.0  Capital Project Phases. Major capital projects, as defined in Board 
Policy 12.1.0, will be managed     through defined project phases. These may 
include: 
 

• Feasibility 
• Planning 
• Design 
• Construction 

 
6.1. Costs incurred in pre-planning phases, including Master Plans and 

Project Feasibility Studies, which explore potential capital projects are 
to be expensed. Once a master-planning or feasibility study results 
in a defined project, with a specific scope and cost estimate, and 
the Board determines that a funding plan is to be developed for 
inclusion in the District's Capital Improvement Budget, costs 
associated with advancing the capital project are to be capitalized. 

 
6.2  To facilitate the tracking of capital project costs to be expensed 

versus capitalized, the District      will establish separate capital 
project codes to distinguish between phases where costs will be 
expensed and those capital project phases where costs are to be 
capitalized. 

 
6.3  Capital project costs to be capitalized will be reported as 

Construction-In-Progress until the capital project is completed and 
the capital asset is placed into service. 

 
  

Page 185 of 209



 
 

Accounting, Auditing and Financial Reporting 
Capitalization of Fixed Assets 

Policy 8.1.0 
(Replaces Policy 8.1.0, 9.1.0 and Practice 2.9.0) 

 
 

Effective January 1, 2022 5 

7.0 Responsibility and Roles 
 
7.1 The Board of Trustees approves District policy governing capital 

classes, thresholds, and useful lives.  
 
7.2 The Senior Accountant will capitalize assets, process monthly 

depreciation, and perform year-end reconciliation of capital assets.  
 
7.3 The Controller is responsible for approving items to be capitalized, 

modified, or disposed. 
 
Note: The disposal of capital assets are to be accounted for consistent with 
the procedures detailed in the District’s Policy and Procedures Manual for 
Accounting and Financial Control (Section IX.5.0)   

Page 186 of 209



 
 

Capital Planning 
Multi-Year Capital Planning 

Policy 12.1.0 
 

Effective July 1, 2016  1 

POLICY. The District will prepare and adopt comprehensive multi-year 
capital plans to ensure effective management of capital assets. A prudent 
multi-year capital plan identifies and prioritizes expected needs based on a 
community’s strategic plan, establishes project scope and cost, details 
estimated amounts of funding from various sources, and projects future 
operating and maintenance costs. The capital plan should cover a period 
of at least five years, preferably ten or more. 
 
1.0 Identify needs. The first step in the District’s capital planning is 

identifying needs. The District has a commitment to the maintenance 
of its existing infrastructure. The District’s Multi-Year Capital Plan will 
use information including development projections, strategic plans, 
comprehensive plans, facility master plans, regional plans, and 
citizen input processes to identify present and future service needs 
that require capital infrastructure or equipment. In this process, 
attention will be given to: 

 
1.1 Capital assets that require repair, maintenance, or 

replacement that, if not addressed, will result in higher costs in 
future years. 

1.2 Infrastructure improvements needed to support new 
development or redevelopment. 

1.3 Projects with revenue-generating potential. 
1.4 Improvements that support economic development. 
1.5 Changes in policy or community needs. 

 
2.0 Determine costs. The full extent of project costs should be 

determined when developing the multi-year capital plan. Cost issues 
to consider include the following: 

 
2.1 The scope and timing of a planned project should be well 

defined in the early stages of the planning process. 
2.2 The District should identify and use the most appropriate 

approaches, including outside assistance, when estimating 
project costs and potential revenues. 

Page 187 of 209



 
 

Capital Planning 
Multi-Year Capital Planning 

Policy 12.1.0 
 

Effective July 1, 2016  2 

2.3 For projects programmed beyond the first year of the plan, the 
District should consider cost projections based on anticipated 
inflation. 

2.4 The ongoing operating costs associated with each project 
should be quantified, and the sources of funding for those 
costs should be identified. 

2.5 A clear estimate of all major components required to 
implement a project should be outlined, including land 
acquisition needs, pre-design, design, and construction or 
acquisition, contingency and post-construction costs. 

2.6 Recognize the non-financial impacts of the project (e.g., 
environmental) on the community. 

 
3.0 Prioritize capital requests. The District continually faces extensive 

capital needs and limited financial resources. Therefore, prioritizing 
capital project requests is a critical step in the capital plan 
preparation process. When evaluating projects the District will: 

 
 3.1 Categorize each submittal under Project Types: 
 
  3.1.1 Major Projects 

− A non-recurring project with scope and management 
complexity with a project budget greater than 
$1,000,000 and a 25-year minimum asset life. 

 
   3.1.1.1 New Initiatives 

− A project that creates a new amenity or 
significantly expands an existing facility 
with new programming, operations or 
capacities. 

 
   3.1.1.2 Existing Facilities 

− A project that maintains, renews, and re-
invests in existing facilities without 
significantly adding new programming, 
operations or capacities. 

Page 188 of 209



 
 

Capital Planning 
Multi-Year Capital Planning 

Policy 12.1.0 
 

Effective July 1, 2016  3 

  3.1.2 Capital Improvement 
− A non-recurring project with some scope and 

management complexity with a project budget 
generally less than $1,000,000. 

 
   3.1.2.1 New Initiatives 
 
   3.1.2.2 Existing Facilities 
 
  3.1.3 Capital Maintenance 

− A generally recurring project at an existing facility 
with limited scope and management complexity and 
a project budget less than $1,000,000. 

 
  3.1.4 Rolling Stock 

− On-going projects for the replacement of vehicles, 
heavy and light duty wheeled and tracked 
machinery, tractors, mowers, trailers, etc. 

 
  3.1.5 Equipment & Software 

− On-going replacement of non-rolling stock and non-
building system equipment (kitchen, ski rental, 
uniforms, furniture, serviceware, etc.), information 
technology hardware and software. 

 
 3.2 Prioritize Projects under these criteria: 
 

3.2.1 Priority 1 are projects that address Existing Facilities or 
replace existing assets via Capital Maintenance, Rolling 
Stock, or Equipment & Software projects that have 
reached or are near the end of useful life and are 
necessary to meet existing programming, operations, or 
capacities that the community wants, needs and uses. 

 
3.2.2 Priority 2 are New Initiative projects that address 

existing facilities and assets that have reached or are 

Page 189 of 209



 
 

Capital Planning 
Multi-Year Capital Planning 

Policy 12.1.0 
 

Effective July 1, 2016  4 

near the end of useful life in order to expand existing 
programming, operations, or capacities to meet the 
community’s wants, needs and uses. 

 
3.2.3 Priority 3 are New Initiative projects that create new 

amenities that are wanted by the community and will be 
funded by new sources. 

 
3.2.4 Priority 4 are New Initiative projects that create new 

amenities that are wanted by the community and will be 
funded by existing sources. 

 
3.3 Ongoing consideration of Project Types and Prioritization by 

District Staff will consider: 
 

3.3.1 Reflect the relationship of project submittals to financial 
and governing policies, plans, and studies. 

 
3.3.2 Allow venues to provide a prioritization 

recommendation. 
 
3.3.3 Incorporate input and participation from major 

stakeholders and the general public. 
 
3.3.4 The condition assessment of existing assets as it relates 

to asset life-cycle, industry best practices, 
manufacturer’s guidelines, safety, and the aesthetic 
character of the facility. 

 
3.3.5 Adhere to legal and regulatory requirements and/or 

mandates. 
 
3.3.6 Anticipate the operations and operating budget impacts 

resulting from capital projects. 
 
3.3.7 Apply analytical techniques, as appropriate, for 

evaluating potential projects (e.g., return on service, 

Page 190 of 209



 
 

Capital Planning 
Multi-Year Capital Planning 

Policy 12.1.0 
 

Effective July 1, 2016  5 

payback period, cost-benefit analysis, cash flow 
modeling). 

 
3.3.8 Re-evaluate capital projects approved in previous multi-

year capital plans. 
 
3.3.9 The availability of outside funding (e.g. grants, direct 

community contribution, in-kind contribution, public 
private partnership) to support completion of a capital 
project. 

 
4.0 Develop financing strategies. The District recognizes the 

importance of establishing a viable financing approach for 
supporting the multi-year capital plan. Financing strategies should 
align with expected project requirements while sustaining the 
financial health of the District. The capital financing plan should: 

 
4.1 Anticipate expected revenue and expenditure trends, including 

their relationship to multi-year financial plans. 
4.2 Prepare a flow of resources projection of the amount and 

timing of the capital financing and expenditure 
4.3 Continue compliance with all established financial policies. 
4.4 Recognize appropriate legal constraints. 
4.5 Consider and estimate funding amounts from all appropriate 

funding alternatives. 
4.6 Ensure reliability and stability of identified funding sources. 
4.7 Evaluate the affordability of the financing strategy, including 

the impact on debt ratios, taxpayers, ratepayers, and others. 

Page 191 of 209



 
 

Capital Planning 
Capital Project Budgeting 

Policy 13.1.0 
 

Effective July 1, 2015 1 

POLICY. The District will prepare and adopt a formal capital budget as part 
of their annual budget process. The capital budget will be directly linked to, 
and flow from, the Multi-Year Capital Improvement Plan. It may be 
necessary to modify projects approved in the capital plan before adopting 
them in a capital budget. Modifications may be necessary based on 
changes in project scope, funding requirements, or other issues. If these 
modifications are material, the District will consider the impacts these may 
have on its multi-year capital and financial plans.  The capital budget 
should be adopted by formal action of the Board of Trustees, either as a 
component of the operating budget or as a separate capital budget. It will 
comply with all state and local legal requirements. 
 
1.0 Preparing and Adopting the Capital Budget

 

. The capital budget will 
include the following information: 

1.1 A definition of capital expenditure for the District. 
1.2 Summary information of capital projects by fund, function, 

venue/service or activity. 
1.3 A schedule for completion of the project, including specific 

phases of a project, estimated funding requirements for the 
upcoming year(s), and planned timing for acquisition, pre-
design, design, and construction or acquisition activities and 
transition to complete operation. 

1.4 Descriptions of the general scope of the project, including 
expected service and financial benefits to the District. 

1.5 A description of any impact the project will have on the current 
or future operating budget. 

1.6 Estimated costs of the project, based on recent and accurate 
sources of information. 

1.7 Identified funding sources for all aspects of the project, 
specifically referencing any financing requirements for the 
upcoming fiscal year. 

1.8 Funding authority based either on total estimated project cost, 
or estimated project costs for the upcoming fiscal year. 
Consideration should be given to carry-forward funding for 
projects previously authorized. 

Page 192 of 209



 
 

Capital Planning 
Capital Expenditures 

Practice 13.2.0 
 

Effective July 1, 2016  1 

RELEVANT POLICIES: 1.1.0 Strategic Planning, 9.1.0 Establishing 
Appropriate Capitalization Threshold for Capital Assets, 12.1.0 Multi-
Year Capital Planning, and 13.1.0 Capital Project Budgeting 
 
1.0 
 

AUTHORITY 

Decision-making responsibilities and duties on capital projects shall be 
allocated by the General Manager to specific members of the IVGID staff 
as provided herein. The staff member so assigned may delegate “duties” 
to another, but shall remain “responsible” for their actions pertaining to the 
project. 
 
A Project Manager will usually be a representative of the IVGID 
department which will acquire or construct the project. The Project 
Manager may seek the input or assistance of a representative of the IVGID 
department that will utilize the capital asset.  A planner, analyst, designer, 
or construction representative usually reports to the Project Manager as an 
employee or through a contract for services. 
 
2.0 
 

CAPITAL PROJECT FINANCING RESOURCES 

Financial management of capital projects is controlled through a system 
including the Multi-Year Capital Improvement Plan and each fiscal year’s 
Capital Improvement Project Budget.  The ability to pay for the costs of a 
project will be based on identifiable and predictable financing resources at 
the time of acquisition. 
 

2.1 Establishment. A capital project’s financing resources may 
be established by action of the Board of Trustees by the 
adoption of a Capital Project Report. Financing resources may 
be established for each fund; for each program; or for each 
project or group of projects. The preference is on each project 
to facilitate calculating the affects of each project on the Multi-
Year Capital Improvement Plan. 

 
2.2 Status. All financing resources identified and received for a 

Capital Improvement Project shall be held in cash or 

Page 193 of 209



 
 

Capital Planning 
Capital Expenditures 

Practice 13.2.0 
 

Effective July 1, 2016  2 

investments and shall constitute an element  of fund balance 
or net position until expended or released by an action of the 
Board of Trustees.  

 
2.3 Interest. Investment earnings on a project’s financing 

resources shall accrue to the project to the extent they were 
included in the Capital Improvement Project Data Sheet or are 
deemed needed for possible project cost adjustments.  In any 
project where part of the financing resources came from bond 
proceeds, the investment earnings must be attached to the 
project in order to determine and comply with IRS arbitrage 
regulations.  

 
2.4 Expenditures. Funds identified as financing resources may 

only be expended by action of the Board of Trustees 
according to the District’s Capital Improvement Project 
Budget. Projects carrying over from one fiscal year to another 
are expected to be identified during each budget process to 
extend spending authority and facilitate completion of the 
construction or acquisition of the capital assets. The General 
Manager has the authority to redirect the design or 
specifications affecting up to an aggregate of $50,000 if it 
does not exceed the total approved cost of the project.  

 
2.5 Exclusivity. All financing resources identified for a project, are 

considered exclusively for expenditures related to that project. 
No expenditures or obligations shall be made related to that 
project which cumulatively exceeds the available balance in 
identifiable and predictable financing resources.  

 
2.6 Changes. The amount of funds in identifiable and predictable 

financing resources may be increased or decreased by action 
of the Board of Trustees, provided that no decrease shall 
occur which causes the unexpended financing resources for 
any project to fall below the cumulative total of obligations 
outstanding pertaining to the project.  

 

Page 194 of 209



 
 

Capital Planning 
Capital Expenditures 

Practice 13.2.0 
 

Effective July 1, 2016  3 

2.7 Close-out. Upon completion or termination of a project, the 
unexpended financing resources for that project may be 
closed out by the General Manager, except when a previous 
action by the Board of Trustees, designates where the 
unexpended amount, if any, shall be transferred.  

 
3.0 
 

PROJECT LIFE CYCLE 

Projects shall be managed in relation to the following typical project life 
cycle: 
 

3.1 Definition. The process of developing a document which 
describes a specific project, in terms of location, function, cost, 
and other parameters. Approval of a Capital Project Data 
Sheet means the project has been "defined.”  

 
3.2 Planning. The process of developing documents which 

identify the location and function of projects, in relation to 
other projects and existing facilities. Approval of a project plan 
document within an approved Capital Project Summary means 
the project has been “planned.”  

 
3.3 Feasibility. The process of analyzing the practicality of a 

project, in terms of capital financing and cost, operating 
revenue and cost, environmental and permit conditions, and 
other factors. Acceptance information stated on the Capital 
Project Data Sheet as a feasibility report, means the project 
has been “justified.”  

 
3.4 Scheduling. The process of developing an outline identifying 

the cost, timing and financing of the capital project.  All capital 
project expenditures shall be evaluated through a Multi-Year 
Capital Improvement Plan and authorized for expenditure 
through a specific fiscal year’s Capital Improvement Plan 
Budget. Inclusion of a project within an approved Multi-Year 
Capital Improvement Plan means the project has been 
“scheduled.”  

Page 195 of 209



 
 

Capital Planning 
Capital Expenditures 

Practice 13.2.0 
 

Effective July 1, 2016  4 

 
3.5 Funding Identified. The process by which funds are identified, 

as either planned or set aside to underwrite capital costs. 
Identification of predictable financing resources for inclusion of 
a project in a specific fiscal year's Capital Improvement Plan 
Budget means the project has been “funded.”  

 
3.6 Design/Specification. The process of determining the size, 

specifications, acquisition/construction methods, and other 
factors prerequisite to construction or acquisition, including the 
selection of the designers. Approval of final design means the 
project has been "designed.”  

 
3.7 Construction/Acquisition. The process entails constructing 

or acquiring a project’s assets, including the selection of 
contractors or vendors. Approval of final payment means the 
project has been “completed.”  

 
3.8 Requirements. All projects may not be subject to all phases, 

or be phased in the same order. However, all capital projects 
shall be defined. All capital projects shall be scheduled and 
have funding identified, prior to design/specification. All 
construction projects shall be planned. All construction 
projects shall be justified, prior to design/specification.    

 
3.8.1.0 

 
Definition 

3.8.1.1 Trustees Responsibility: Relate District 
needs identified through the Strategic Plan to capital 
projects placed on the Multi-Year Capital 
Improvement Plan. Duties: Consider project 
definitions as part of Capital Improvement Project 
Budget submittal. 

 
3.8.1.2 General Manager Responsibility: Ensure 
capital projects developed for consideration by the 
Board of Trustees relate to strategies and actions 

Page 196 of 209



 
 

Capital Planning 
Capital Expenditures 

Practice 13.2.0 
 

Effective July 1, 2016  5 

developed under the District’s Strategic Planning 
Process. Duties: Approve capital project definitions.  

 
3.8.1.3 Staff Duties: Prepare an accurate and up 
to date Capital Project Data Sheet, containing 
statement of project cost, schedule, location, 
financing, and other factors.  

 
3.8.2.0 

 
Planning 

3.8.2.1 Trustees Responsibility: Ensure 
adequate planning basis for capital improvement 
projects. Duties: Define general goals, constraints, 
and directions. Award and execute planning 
contracts according to Nevada Revised Statutes. 
Establish public input process. Review and approve 
final plan.  

 
3.8.2.2 General Manager. Responsibility: Ensure 
all issues are addressed and plans are coordinated 
with the Multi-Year Capital Improvement Plan. 
Duties: Review and approve planning scope. 
Approve requests for proposals on consulting 
contracts.  Approve planning methods and planning 
team. Provide guidance to Project Manager during 
planning.  

 
3.8.2.3 Project Manager. Responsibility: 
Administration, quality and accuracy. Duties: Define 
specific objectives, alternatives, criteria, and scope. 
Prepare requests for proposals and administer 
selection process for planning team. Prepare 
planning contracts. Recommend approval for and 
executing planning contracts. Coordinate project 
with, public, staff, and General Manager. Review and 
approve progress reports, make substantive and 
procedural decisions during planning process, and 

Page 197 of 209



 
 

Capital Planning 
Capital Expenditures 

Practice 13.2.0 
 

Effective July 1, 2016  6 

recommend preferred alternatives and final plans to 
the General Manager and Board of Trustees.  

 
3.8.2.4 Engineering and Staff. Duties: Provide 
input to planning scope, methods, analysis, 
conclusions, and recommendations.  

 
3.8.2.5 Planner Duties: Conduct analysis and 
produce planning documents and reports, for review 
by Project Manager.  

 
3.8.3.0 

 
Feasibility 

3.8.3.1 Trustees. Responsibility: Ensure feasibility 
of capital improvement projects prior to design and 
construction. Duties: Determine when feasibility 
studies are required. Identify issues to be addressed. 
Award and execute consulting contracts according to 
Nevada Revised Statutes.. Review and accept the 
final “Capital Improvement Project Budget” as a 
basis for decision-making.  

 
3.8.3.2 General Manager. Responsibility: Ensure 
critical issues are addressed and conservative 
approach to feasibility is applied. Duties: Review 
and approve study scope. Approve requests for 
proposals on consulting contracts. Approve study 
methods and team. Provide guidance to the Project 
Manager during study. 

 
3.8.3.3 Project Manager. Responsibility: 
Administration, quality and accuracy. Duties: Define 
specific concerns, alternatives, criteria, and scope. 
Prepare requests for proposals and administer 
selection process for study team. Prepare study 
contracts. Recommend award and execute study 
contract.  Coordinate project with, staff and General 

Page 198 of 209



 
 

Capital Planning 
Capital Expenditures 

Practice 13.2.0 
 

Effective July 1, 2016  7 

Manager. Review and approve progress reports, 
make substantive and procedural decisions during 
study process, and approve conclusions and 
recommendations.  

 
3.8.3.4 Finance, Engineering, and Staff. Duties: 
Provide input to study contract, scope, methods, 
analysis, conclusions, and recommendations.  

 
3.8.3.5 Analyst. Duties: Conduct analysis and 
produce study documents and reports for review by 
the Project Manager.  

 
3.8.4.0 

 
Scheduling 

3.8.4.1 Trustees. Responsibility: Prioritization 
and prudent investment of capital assets.  Duties: 
Review and approve Multi-Year Capital Improvement 
Plan considering financing programs, priorities and 
needs and validity to proceed as scheduled.  
Approve project amendments and substitutions 
according to District purchasing policies.  

 
3.8.4.2 General Manager. Responsibility: 
Validate scheduling in terms of sound financial 
planning and the ability to construct or acquire the 
capital assets. Duties: Review, revise and 
recommend capital improvement projects to the 
Board of Trustees.  

 
3.8.4.3 Engineering Staff. Responsibility: 
Accuracy of cost projections and coordination of 
project scheduling. Duties: Identify capital project 
scheduling issues correlated to timing of 
expenditures and acquisition of the capital assets. 
Coordinate input of operating staff receiving the 
capital asset.  

Page 199 of 209



 
 

Capital Planning 
Capital Expenditures 

Practice 13.2.0 
 

Effective July 1, 2016  8 

 
3.8.4.4 Finance Staff Responsibility: Adequacy 
of identifiable and predictable financing resources to 
meet the timing of expenditures. Duties: Analyze 
alternative financing schemes and prepare capital 
financing program coordinated with appropriate 
Capital Improvement Project Budget and the Multi-
Year Capital Improvement Plan.  

 
3.8.5.0 

 
Funding 

3.8.5.1 Trustees. Responsibility: Adequate 
identifiable and predictable financial resources exist 
for the project prior to the approval to proceed. 
Duties: Establish appropriate identifiable predictable 
financing resources are available. Increase and 
decrease funding level. 
 
3.8.5.2 General Manager Responsibility: Approve 
recommendations for project to proceed and 
increases in project financing resources beyond 
levels identified in Capital Project Report, prior to 
submitted to Board. Duties: Review updated financial 
analysis for the capital project with Finance Staff for 
adequate financing resources and cash flows. 
Approve close-out upon project termination or 
completion. 

 
3.8.5.3 Project Manager. Responsibility: 
Accuracy. Duties: Assemble and update project cost 
estimates.  

 
3.8.5.4 Finance Staff. Responsibility: 
Administration of project finances. Duties: Produce 
periodic report on capital project financing resources, 
obligations and expenditures. Recommend periodic 
action to establish, increase, decrease, and close out 

Page 200 of 209



 
 

Capital Planning 
Capital Expenditures 

Practice 13.2.0 
 

Effective July 1, 2016  9 

financing resources. Consider the current affects of 
projects on the Capital Improvement Project Budget 
and the Multi-Year Capital Improvement Plan.  

 
3.8.5.5 Engineering Staff. Duties: Coordinate 
estimates of project cost for periodic funding report.  

 
3.8.6.0 

 
Design/Specification 

3.8.6.1 Trustees. Responsibility: General 
oversight of project design and specifications. 
Duties: Award and execute design contract 
according to Nevada Revised Statutes. Review and 
accept regulatory permit conditions on construction 
projects, if $50,000 or more.  

 
3.8.6.2 General Manager. Responsibilities: 
Ensure design and specifications correlate to defined 
capital project. Duties: Approve design methods and 
team. Provide guidance to Project Manager during 
design. Review and approve final 
design/specification reports on projects.  Review and 
accept regulatory permit conditions.  

 
3.8.6.3 Project Manager. Responsibility: 
Administration, detailed oversight and design 
functionality. Duties: Prepare scope of services and 
requests for proposals for design services. 
Administer selection process for design team. 
Prepare design contracts.  Recommend for award 
and execute design contracts. Assemble cost 
estimates; prepare project budget and budget 
revisions. Prepare project schedule and schedule 
revisions. Approve project budget and budget 
revisions. Approve project schedule and schedule 
revisions. Establish, execute, and administer 
arrangements for surveys, analysis, environmental 

Page 201 of 209



 
 

Capital Planning 
Capital Expenditures 

Practice 13.2.0 
 

Effective July 1, 2016  10 

studies, and other forms of technical support. 
Supervise designers. Establish functional and 
performance requirements. Coordinate activities of 
designers with the balance of the technical team, 
and operating staff. Present major design 
alternatives and issues. Provide direction to on major 
design alternatives and issues. Review and approve 
ongoing design reports and documents. Sign all 
regulatory permits and permit applications.  Review, 
approve, and correct ongoing design reports and 
documents, including all technical specifications. 
Prepare construction contract forms. Assemble and 
submit regulatory permit applications and coordinate 
regulatory process. Approve all requests for 
payment.  

 
3.8.6.4 Designer Duties: Analysis of design 
alternatives. Preparation of plans and specifications. 
Preparation of support material for permit 
applications, and other contract documents. 
Coordination of various members of the design team. 
Preparation of cost estimates.  

 
3.8.7.0 

 
Construction/Acquisition 

3.8.7.1 Trustees. Responsibility: General 
oversight of contract awards, major payments and 
acceptance of capital assets constructed or 
acquired. Duties: Award and execute 
construction/acquisition contract according to 
Nevada Revised Statutes. Approve change orders 
cumulatively exceeding 10% of construction contract 
or $50,000, whichever is the greater.  

 
3.8.7.2 General Manager. Responsibility: Ensure 
contracts and requests for payments submitted to 
the Board of Trustees for approval meet the 

Page 202 of 209



 
 

Capital Planning 
Capital Expenditures 

Practice 13.2.0 
 

Effective July 1, 2016  11 

requirements outlined in the Capital Improvement 
Project Budget. Duties: Approve change orders 
cumulatively not exceeding 10% of construction 
contract or $50,000. Upon substantial completion, 
approve release of retention for Construction 
projects.  

 
3.8.7.3 Project Manager Responsibility: Detailed 
oversight. Duties: Recommend award and execute 
construction/acquisition contracts. Recommend 
approval of change orders. Recommend release of 
retention to General Manager and Board of Trustees. 
Recommend approval of the final payment.  
Administer bid process. Recommend contract award. 
Coordinate final contract preparation, including 
insurance, bonding, and certificates. Establish, 
administer and execute arrangements for inspection 
and testing. Supervise construction representatives. 
Review all inspection, testing and construction 
observation reports. Serve as District’s 
representative to contractor and regulatory agencies.  
Approve all shop drawings. Approve requests for 
equals. Approve all certificates for payment. Update 
construction schedule.  

 
3.8.7.4 Construction Representative. Duties: 
Observe construction and testing. Prepare 
construction observation reports. Advise Project 
Manager of deficiencies when noted. Notify Project 
Manager of deviations from plans and specifications. 
Prepare and execute notice to proceed. 

Page 203 of 209



 
 

Capital Planning 
Capital Project Budgeting 

Policy 13.1.0 
 

Effective July 1, 2015 2 

1.9 Any analytical information deemed helpful for setting capital 
priorities. 

 
The District needs a greater level of detail and information for non-routine 
capital projects than for routine projects. For non-routine projects, the 
capital budget should thoroughly describe the impact on the operating 
budget, number of additional positions required, tax or fee implications, 
and other financial or service impacts. 
 
2.0 Reporting on the Capital Budget. The District recognizes the 

importance of timely and accurate reporting on projects adopted in 
the capital budget. Management, Trustees, and citizens should all 
have the ability to review the status and expected completion of 
approved capital projects. Periodic reports will be issued routinely on 
all ongoing capital projects. The reports will compare actual 
expenditures to the original budget, identify level of completion of the 
project, and enumerate any changes in the scope of the project, and 
alert management to any concerns with completion of the project on 
time or on schedule. 

Page 204 of 209



LONG RANGE CALENDAR

Last updated Tuesday, January 21, 2025

Meeting Date: February 12, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
Feore GM Evaluation Process, Form, etc.
GM District Strategic Plan (2025/2027)
Nelson Waste Management Contract Direction (expires 2026)
Gove Tyler Annual Renewal (Consent Calendar)
Bandelin Purchase - Two fan guns
Bandelin Purchase – One Shuttle bus
Nelson Purchase - Skid Steer Loader with Snowblower
GM Presentation of At-Large Audit Committee Members for selection
Feore Contract with Labor Negotiator

Meeting Date: February 26, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION

Meeting Date: March 12, 2025; Meeting Time: 

PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
Crocker Joint Use Agreement with Washoe County (specifically the maintenance for the High School 

football field)
Nelson Purchase - Residential Water Meter Transponder/Registers
Gove POS Implementation Recommendation

Meeting Date: March 26, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
Herron Club Policy
Herron Board Policy 6.1.0 and Practice 6.2.0 (Pricing)
Herron Board Policy 8.1.0 (as reviewed by the Audit Committee at their XXXX meeting)
Herron Policy 22.1.0 (Entity Involvement)
Herron Procurement Card Policy review (if needed)

Meeting Date: April 9, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
Nelson Renewal of Marcus Faust agreement – Washington D.C. Leg. Advocate (expires 5/1)

Meeting Date: April 30, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
Bandelin Hyatt Lake Tahoe Sport Shop Agreement (expires 5/31)

Page 205 of 209



LONG RANGE CALENDAR

Last updated Tuesday, January 21, 2025

Meeting Date: May 14, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION

Meeting Date: May 21, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION

2025/2026 Budget Public Hearing (if we hold the hearing on this date; then we must advertise 
on 5/9 and 5/16)

Meeting Date: May 28, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION

2025/2026 Budget Public Hearing (if we hold the hearing on this date; then we must advertise 
on 5/16 and 5/23)

Feore Union Contracts (3) (expires 6/30)
Nelson Clean Tahoe, Inc. (expires 6/30)
Feore UNR Pack Internship Grant Program (expires 6/30)
Nelson HERO Environmental (expires 6/30)
Raymore EXL Media (expires 6/30)
Walrack Best Best & Krieger (expires 6/30)

Meeting Date: June 11, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
Bandelin/Finance Blanket Purchase Orders

Meeting Date: June 25, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION

Meeting Date: July 9, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION

Page 206 of 209



LONG RANGE CALENDAR

Last updated Tuesday, January 21, 2025

Meeting Date: July 30, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION

Meeting Date: August 13, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION

Meeting Date: August 27, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
Feore High Sierra Patrol (expires 9/30)

Meeting Date: September 10, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION

Meeting Date: September 24, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION

Meeting Date: October 8, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
Crocker CC Cleaning – Rec Center – Extension of one year (5 year contract)

Page 207 of 209



LONG RANGE CALENDAR

Last updated Tuesday, January 21, 2025

Meeting Date: October 29, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
Nelson Alta Vista Cleaning (expires 10/31/2025)

Meeting Date: November 12, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION
Raymore CC Media (expires 12/31)
Feore First Non-Profit (expires 12/31)

Meeting Date: November 26, 2025; Meeting Time: 
Usually cancelled

PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION

Meeting Date: December 10, 2025; Meeting Time: 
PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION

Meeting Date: December 31, 2025; Meeting Time: 
Usually cancelled

PRESENTER ITEM DESCRIPTION

Page 208 of 209



LONG RANGE CALENDAR

Last updated Tuesday, January 21, 2025

Items to be scheduled

Director of Golf – update will be in HR’s status report

NLTFPD Agreement – sooner rather than later – discussion item should also include an increase for defensible 
space to accelerate defensible space work.

Discussion regarding boat parking

Update on damaged relationship with Washoe County, etc.

Leverage our amenities with the Hyatt

Accelerate the Strategic Plan draft

Facility Fee discussion – long term plan for capital and its impact to the Facility Fee

Pricing Policy/Practice - bring back what works for Staff

Golf rates for approval – bring forward sooner than last year

Audit Committee At-Large members – revisit the charter/Policy 15.1.0 – advertisement going on 1/24 and 1/31 
– with responses due back 2/5 and before the Board on 2/12

Presentation of 2023/2024 Audit: Board

Presentation of 2023/2024 Audit: Audit Committee

Page 209 of 209


	A. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE*
	B. ROLL CALL OF TRUSTEES*
	C. INITIAL PUBLIC COMMENTS - Limited to a maximum of three minutes in duration.
	D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	E. REPORTS TO THE BOARD - Reports are intended to inform the Board and/or the public.
	1. Verbal Update of the Fiscal Year 2024/2025 Audit (

	F. CONSENT CALENDAR (for possible action)
	1. Approval of the IVGID Board of Trustees Meeting Mi
	01-08-2025-IVGID BOT-IVGID60-MULTI - For Approval


	G. GENERAL BUSINESS (for possible action)	
	1. Review, Discuss and Possibly Approve the Employmen
	Item G.1. - GM Employment greement Memo
	Harrison, Robert - IVGID Employment Agreement - Signed 1.23.25
	Harrison, R - Signed Waiver of Notice - 1.23.25

	2. Review, Discuss and Possibly Approve the Request f
	Memorandum
	Needs Assessment RFQ_Snowflake Lodge Replacement

	3. Open Discussion and Possible Direction on Proceedi
	Item G.3. Memo - In House Counsel
	Attachment A - Current Legal Services Contract
	Attachment B - Legal Services RFP

	4. Open Discussion and Possible Direction on the Incl
	Memorandum

	5. Capital Improvement Project Workshop; for Discussi
	Memorandum
	Attachment A_CIP Status FY 2024-25
	Attachment B_Board Policies


	H. LONG RANGE CALENDAR 
	1. Discussion and Direction on Long Range Calendar (f
	0121


	I. BOARD OF TRUSTEES UPDATE
	J. FINAL PUBLIC COMMENTS - Limited to a maximum of three minutes in duration.
	K. ADJOURNMENT



